
www.eden.gov.uk
Rose Rouse
Chief Executive

Date: 24 June 2019

Town Hall, Penrith, Cumbria CA11 7QF
Tel: 01768 817817
Email: cttee.admin@eden.gov.uk

Dear Sir/Madam

Executive Agenda - 2 July 2019
Notice is hereby given that a meeting of the Executive will be held at 6.00 pm on Tuesday, 
2 July 2019 at the Town Hall, Penrith.

1  Apologies for Absence  

2  Minutes  

RECOMMENDATION that the public minutes E/1/06/19 to E/11/06/19 of the meeting 
of the Executive held on 4 June 2019 be confirmed and approved by the Chairman 
as a correct record of those proceedings (copies previously circulated).

3  Declarations of Interest  

To receive declarations of the existence and nature of any private interests, both 
disclosable pecuniary and any other registrable interests, in any matter to be 
considered or being considered.

4  Questions and Representations from the Public  

To receive questions and representations from the public under Rules 3 and 4 of the 
Executive Procedure Rules of the Constitution

5  Questions from Members  

To receive questions and representations from Members under Rule 5 of the 
Executive Procedure Rules of the Constitution

6  Process and Timetable for the Council Plan 2019-2023 - Leader  (Pages 5 
- 8)

To consider report CE12/19 from the Chief Executive which is attached and which 
sets out the process and timetable for the development and adoption of the Council 
Plan 2019-23.

RECOMMENDATIONS that:

1. approval be given to the process and timetable for the development and 



www.eden.gov.uk 2

adoption of the Council Plan 2019-23 as set out at paragraph 3.4 of this 
report; and

2. the Chief Executive be granted delegated authority to publish a revised 
consultation version of the Council plan 2019-23, in consultation with the 
Leader and Deputy Leader.

7  Penrith Masterplan Engagement - Eden Development Portfolio  (Pages 9 - 
78)

To consider report PP8/19 from the Assistant Director Planning and Economic 
Development which is attached and which seeks to set out the feedback and 
analysis from the Penrith Masterplan engagement exercise.

RECOMMENDATIONS that:
1. no further activity takes place with regards to the Penrith Masterplan concept; 

and.

2. feedback and analysis of the Penrith Masterplan engagement exercise is 
noted along with how the information may be used to help inform a future 
iteration of Eden District Council’s Local Plan.

8  Lazonby Neighbourhood Development Plan - Communities Portfolio  
(Pages 79 - 212)

To consider report PP10/19 from the Assistant Director Planning and Economic 
Development which is attached and which seeks to set out the next steps which are 
recommended to be taken with the Lazonby Neighbourhood Development Plan, 
following the receipt of the report of the Neighbourhood Plan Examiner.

RECOMMENDATIONS that:
1. the changes proposed to the Lazonby Neighbourhood Development Plan as 

set out in the Decision Statement in Appendix C  to this report be agreed and, 
subject to such changes, it be agreed that the Plan meets the ‘basic 
conditions’; and

2. the Plan proceeds to a local referendum based upon the geographic 
boundary of the parish of Lazonby, consistent with the defined 
Neighbourhood Area; and

3. it be noted that if there is a positive referendum outcome, then the Council will 
be under a duty to adopt the Plan and it will then form part of the statutory 
Development Plan. 

9  Dualling of A66 Consultation - Leader  (Pages 213 - 222)

To consider report PP9/19 from the Assistant Director Planning and Economic 
Development which is attached and which seeks to provide the Executive with an 
overview of the proposed response to Highways England non-statutory consultation 
in relation to the A66 Northern Transpennine upgrade.



www.eden.gov.uk 3

RECOMMENDATION that the Executive approve the response to be submitted to 
Highways England on behalf of Eden District Council.

10  Outturn 2018/19 - Resources Portfolio  (Pages 223 - 240)

To consider report F31/19 from the Director of Corporate Services which is attached 
and which seeks to set out the out-turn for 2018/19 on capital and revenue, including 
the prudential indicators.  It also seeks to identify any variances that might have an 
ongoing impact on the Council’s budgets.

RECOMMENDATIONS that:
1. Executive note the revenue and capital out-turn; and

2. recommend to Council the revised capital programme and prudential 
indicators.

11  Heart of Cumbria Limited SMART targets - Leader  (Pages 241 - 252)

To consider report F38/19 from the Director of Corporate Services which is attached 
and which seeks provide the proposed Heart of Cumbria Limited SMART targets 
2019/20 for approval by the Executive.

RECOMMENDATIONS that:
1. The SMART targets set out at 3.2 in the report are approved for 2019/20; and

2. The out-turn against the 2018/19 targets is noted. 

12  Any Other Items which the Chairman decides are urgent  

13  Date of Next Scheduled Meeting  

The date of the next scheduled meeting to be confirmed as 3 September 2019.

Yours faithfully

R Rouse
Chief Executive

Democratic Services Contact: Karen Wyeth

Encs

For Attention
All members of the Council



www.eden.gov.uk 4

Chairman – Councillor V Taylor (Liberal Democrat Group)
Vice Chairman – Councillor M Robinson (Independent Group)

Councillors
J Derbyshire, Liberal Democrat Group
K Greenwood, Independent Group
M Rudhall, Liberal Democrat Group

L Sharp, Labour Group
M Tonkin, Independent Group

Please Note: 
1. Access to the internet in the Council Chamber and Committee room is 

available via the guest wi-fi – no password is required
2. Under the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 this 

meeting has been advertised as a public meeting (unless stated otherwise) 
and as such could be filmed or recorded by the media or members of the 
public



Report No:  CE12/19
Eden District Council

Executive
2 July 2019

Process and Timetable for the Council Plan 2019-23
Portfolio: Leader

Report from: Chief Executive

Wards: All Wards

OPEN PUBLIC ITEM

1 Purpose
1.1 The report sets out the process and timetable for the development and 

adoption of the Council Plan 2019-23.
1.2 In 2018 officers supported the former Executive in developing a draft Council 

Plan 2019-23 which was consulted on in February and March 2019.

2 Recommendation
It is recommended that:
1. approval be given to the process and timetable for the development 

and adoption of the Council Plan 2019-23 as set out at paragraph 3.4 
of this report; and

2. the Chief Executive be granted delegated authority to publish a revised 
consultation version of the Council Plan 2019-23, in consultation with 
the Leader and Deputy Leader.

3 Report Details
3.1 Following the Local Government election in May 2019, the Council’s new 

Executive have been working on their vision, priorities and objectives for the 
district. The Executive have looked closely at the results of the consultation 
and at the feedback received from Town and Parish Councils and are keen to 
pick up some of the themes which have been raised.

3.2 The emerging vision for the Council is fundamentally different with an 
increasing emphasis on sustainability, climate change, well-being and 
inclusive growth. As a result of this, the overall narrative and emphasis of the 
plan will be very different from the draft which was consulted upon by the 
previous Executive.

3.3 The Executive are therefore keen to enter into a fresh consultation process 
which will involve a range of engagement techniques and involve different 
groups across the district including young people. In order to minimise the 
amount of officer time spent on the consultation, where possible, members of 
the Executive themselves will visit communities and groups to discuss key 
issues and priorities. As part of the consultation process a community 
conference will be held.

Page  5

Agenda Item 6



3.4 The revised timetable for the draft Council Plan is as follows:
July 2019 Preparation of the draft plan and consultation/

engagement toolkit
July 2019 Councillor sessions
August/September 2019 Consultation period
September 2019 Community conference
October 2019 Analysis and preparation of the final version of 

the plan
7 November 2019 Adoption of the Council Plan 2019-23

3.5 Council officers are already working on the delivery of a number of projects 
which were included in the existing draft plan. Work will continue on these 
projects pending the adoption of the plan.

4 Policy Framework
4.1 The Council has four corporate priorities which are:

 Decent Homes for All;
 Strong Economy, Rich Environment;
 Thriving Communities; and
 Quality Council

4.2 The revised Council Plan will be the Council’s core policy document and will 
set out the priorities of the Council having regard to feedback from members, 
the public and key stakeholders.

5 Consultation
5.1 A public consultation on the draft Council Plan 2019-2023 was undertaken 

between 6 February 2019 and 19 March 2019. The consultation involved 
members of the public, statutory consultees, stakeholders (agencies, 
town/parish councils, businesses, social enterprises, churches, schools, 
equality and diversity organisations, etc), contractors, staff and Members.

5.2 The consultation was undertaken using media releases, Council website, 
social media, emails to stakeholders, a Survey Monkey online questionnaire 
and leaflet and hard copy questionnaire distributed to Town Hall and Mansion 
House receptions, libraries and Local Links.

5.3 A total of 54 consultation responses were received. The revised draft will pick 
up some of the main themes raised during the consultation process.

6 Implications
6.1 Financial and Resources
6.1.1 The budgets for 2019/20 were approved by full Council on the 14 February 

2019. There are no immediate proposals that alter the approved budgets. The 
2020/21 budget process will reflect the outcomes of the ongoing Council Plan 
consultation, as set out above.

Page  6



6.2 Legal
6.2.1 There are no significant legal implications arising from the proposals set out 

within this report.
6.3 Human Resources
6.3.1 There are no Human resources implications.
6.4 Statutory Considerations

Consideration: Details of any implications and proposed 
measures to address:

Equality and Diversity In drafting a new Council Plan there should be a 
positive impact on the consideration of and 
delivery of positive outcomes in terms of Equality 
and Diversity.

Health, Social 
Environmental and 
Economic Impact

In drafting a new Council plan there should be a 
positive impact on the consideration of and 
delivery of positive outcomes in terms of Health, 
Social, Environmental and Economic Impact.

Crime and Disorder In drafting a new Council plan there should be a 
positive impact on the consideration of and 
delivery of positive outcomes in terms of Crime 
and Disorder.

Children and 
Safeguarding

In drafting a new Council plan there should be a 
positive impact on the consideration of and 
delivery of positive outcomes in terms of Children 
and Safeguarding.

6.5 Risk Management

Risk Consequence Controls Required
Poor performance in 
relation to strategic 
objectives. 

Not delivering best 
outcomes for the 
residents of Eden. 

The creation and 
adoption of a council 
plan which sets out the 
ambitions, plan for 
delivery and 
timescales. 

7 Other Options Considered
7.1 Having a plan is important because the plan clarifies the Council’s objectives 

and goals. Further, having a plan assists with understanding the full scope of 
the work required and helps the council to stay focused in setting goals and 
objectives, to meet deadlines, measure success and debrief effectively. The 
other option is to not have a Council Plan. The option of not having a Council 
Plan is not consistent with the ambitions which the Council has.

Page  7



8 Reasons for the Decision/Recommendation
8.1 To enable the Council to have a Council Plan and delivery arrangements in 

place for the 2019-2023 period.

Tracking Information

Governance Check Date Considered
Chief Finance Officer (or Deputy) 20 June 2019

Monitoring Officer (or Deputy) 18 June 2019

Relevant Director Chief Executive

Background Papers: E/121/02/19 Draft Council Plan 2019-2023
Appendices: None
Contact Officer: Rose Rouse, Chief Executive

Page  8



Report No: PP8/19 

Eden District Council 

Executive 

2 July 2019 

Penrith Masterplan Engagement  

Portfolio: Eden Development  

Report from: Assistant Director Planning and Economic Development 

Wards: All 

OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

1 Purpose 

1.1 To set out the feedback and analysis from the Penrith Masterplan 
engagement exercise. 

2 Recommendation 

2.1 That no further activity takes place with regards to the Penrith Masterplan 
concept. 

2.2 Feedback and analysis of the Penrith Masterplan engagement exercise is 
noted along with how the information may be used to help inform a future 
iteration of Eden District Council’s Local Plan. 

3 Report Details 

3.1 Eden District Council commenced a public engagement exercise in early 
September 2018 until early November 2018 on the Penrith Masterplan which 
set out a long term focus for growth until 2050. 

3.2 The engagement exercise generated a considerable amount of data which 
needed to be considered and analysed in order to provide Elected Members 
of Eden District Council with an overview of responses. 

3.3 Attached as Appendix A is the Eden Vision: Analysis and Insight document 
that has been produced by Lancaster University and the University of 
Cumbria. The document contains an analysis of the feedback received 
through the engagement exercise which has been usefully broken down into 
the following themes: 

 Housing; 

 Economy; 

 Town Centre; 

 Tourism; 

 Education; 

 The Beacon; 

 Health and Wellbeing; and 

 Transport, utilities and infrastructure. 

Page  9

Agenda Item 7



3.4 The information gained is expected to provide a useful form of reference 
material when considering the next iteration of the Eden’s Local Plan. It should 
be noted however that any review of the Local Plan will require its own formal 
statutory consultation which will differ considerably from the general 
engagement exercise which was utilised in considering the Penrith Masterplan 
concept. The analysis undertaken by the Universities was not commissioned 
by Eden District Council. 

3.5 Attached as Appendix B to the report are the face to face survey results which 
were undertaken by an external company called NWA Social and Market 
Research Ltd. which was commissioned by the Council. As part of the public 
engagement, NWA Social and Market Research Ltd. was commissioned to 
carry out a face to face survey with 250 residents in postcode areas where 
responses to online engagement has been traditionally low. 

3.6 Participants within the survey were asked a series of questions against a set 
number of areas which are outlined below: 

 Making Penrith a Better Place to Live, Work and Visit; 

 Challenges Faced by Penrith; 

 Making Penrith a Better Place to Live; 

 Important Considerations When Locating New Housing in Eden; 

 Creating a Vibrant New Community; 

 Location of Proposed New Settlements; and 

 Other Areas to be Reconsidered / Assessed in More Detail. 

3.7 The results of the surveys again will provide useful information which can be 
taken into account in considering a review of the existing Local Plan. 

3.8 The data that has been collected over the engagement period has provided a 
range of information which may prove useful when addressing the early 
options and issues elements at the starting point of reviewing the Local Plan. 
It is expected that a report will be brought before Elected Members in Autumn 
2019 which will provide a series of options and timescales for Members to 
consider options for a review of the Local Plan. 

4 Policy Framework 

4.1 The Council has four corporate priorities which are: 

 Decent Homes for All; 

 Strong Economy, Rich Environment; 

 Thriving Communities; and 

 Quality Council 

4.2 This report is concerned with how the information gained from an engagement 
exercise on the Penrith Masterplan may be used in the future when 
considering how the Local Plan may be reviewed and as such it has strong 
links to all the Council’s current priorities as contained within the Council Plan. 

Page  10



5 Consultation 

5.1 The report has been shared with the lead Portfolio Holder who is content with 
the approach set out within the report. 

6 Implications 

6.1 Financial and Resources 

6.1.1 Any decision to reduce or increase resources or alternatively increase income 
must be made within the context of the Council’s stated priorities, as set out in 
its Council Plan 2015-19 as agreed at Council on 17 September 2015. 

6.1.2 There are no financial commitments arising from the report. The engagement 
exercise costs were set out in a previous Committee report and no further 
budget is expected to be spent on this area of work. A review of the Local 
Plan is expected to have significant costs and these will be broadly outlined to 
Elected Members in a report to be considered in the Autumn. 

6.2 Legal 

6.2.1 There are no legal implications arising from the report. The Penrith Masterplan 
engagement exercise was not intended to have any legal or binding 
implications for the Council. 

6.3 Human Resources 

6.3.1 There are no Human Resources implications arising out of the report. 

6.4 Statutory Considerations 

Consideration: Details of any implications and proposed 
measures to address: 

Equality and Diversity There are no implications arising out of this 
report. 

Health, Social 
Environmental and 
Economic Impact 

There are no implications arising out of this 
report. 

Crime and Disorder There are no implications arising out of this 
report. 

Children and 
Safeguarding 

There are no implications arising out of this 
report 

6.5 Risk Management 

Risk Consequence Controls Required 

Failure to provide the 
analysis of the 
Engagement exercise 
would be a missed 
opportunity for the 
Council to consider 
useful information when 

Failure to take into 
account the useful 
information provided 
would be a missed 
opportunity to listen to 
the public’s concerns 
and aspirations for the 

The presentation of the 
analysis enables the 
Council to utilise the 
information when 
considering any future 
review of the Local 
Plan. 

Page  11



developing its approach 
to a future review of the 
Local Plan. 

future of the area.  

7 Other Options Considered 

7.1 Progressing with the concept of the Penrith Masterplan has been considered 
but it is recommended that the most appropriate way of addressing the 
ambitions for the District would be through a formal review of the Local Plan 
which would follow an agreed statutory process. 

8 Reasons for the Decision/Recommendation 

8.1 To note the information generated by the Penrith Masterplan Engagement 
exercise and to cease any future work on that particular concept. 

Tracking Information 

Governance Check Date Considered 

Chief Finance Officer 20 June 2019 

Monitoring Officer  18 June 2019 

Relevant Director 17 June 2019 

Background Papers: Executive Report, 4 December 2018, Penrith Strategic 
Masterplan, Public Engagement Update 

Appendices: Appendix A – Eden Vision: Analysis and Insight 

 Appendix B - Consultation on Penrith Strategic Masterplan, 

Face to Face Survey Report of Findings Undertaken by 

MWA Social and Market Research 

Contact Officer:  Oliver Shimell, Assistant Director Planning and Economic 
Development, 01768 212143 

 

Page  12



 

Eden Vision:  
Analysis & Insight 

 

  

An independent review of the evidence gathered during the 
Autumn 2018 Eden District Council public engagement exercise 
 
 
Chris Ford  
Steve Wright 
Ian Convery 
Darrell Smith 
Gemma Heron 
 
June 2019 
 
 

 

Page  13



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 2 

 

Contents 
 

 

 Page 

Foreword 
 

3 

1. Introduction  
 

4 

2. Methodology 6 

3. Quantitative survey analysis  
 

9 

4. Housing  
 

20 

5. Economy 
 

22 

6. Town centre 
 

24 

7. Tourism 
 

30 

8. Education 

 

31 

9. The Beacon 

 

32 

10. Health & wellbeing 

 

38 

11. Transport, utilities & infrastructure 

 

39 

12. Conclusions: What is valuable in Eden 

 

40 

 

 

 

Appendix I : Penrith Strategic Masterplan Public Engagement Update 4 December 2018  

Page  14



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 3 

 

Foreword 
 

The creation of a 2050 Penrith Strategic Masterplan (‘PSM’), in conjunction with a 2050 Vision for 

Eden, was a significant attempt by Eden District Council (‘EDC’) to take a stronger role in shaping 

every aspect of the environment, economy and society of the region in future years. 

 

The PSM, produced over the spring and summer of 2018 aims to address a pressing need for Eden 

and Cumbria to tackle the demographic challenge of a rapidly ageing population, by shaping thinking 

and action in ways that extend far beyond the statutory duties of a District Council.  This approach to 

long range policy making places the council as a central place-shaping organisation, bringing 

together diverse voices in order to think through and plan out the development path of the region.  

This is an ambitious goal for EDC to pursue. 

 

Such an approach is fraught with risk, and certainly there will be experiments, some mistakes, 

opportunities won and ideas lost, as the organisation learns new ways of thinking and working.  We 

believe that any attempt to build a sustainable, healthy and prosperous future for the region needs 

to engage with long term, far reaching issues and that external engagement is critical, and needs to 

be supported by business, academia and the wider community of Eden.  That is why Lancaster 

University and the University of Cumbria are supporting EDC with the analysis in this report.    

 

It is important to set out what this report aims to achieve, but also what it will not focus on.  The key 

aim here is to share insights from the large and wide ranging body of evidence collected during the 

Autumn 2018 public engagement exercise.  We fully acknowledge that the process generated a great 

deal of interest, controversy, debate, and many column inches of reporting in the local paper.  We 

are also aware of potential shortcomings in the engagement process, some minor in terms of simple 

steps that might have made it easier to manage, some more serious as private citizens sought to 

question the legitimacy of the whole activity.  But we are not undertaking a review of the process 

itself, nor are we seeking to either challenge or legitimize the option that was presented in the 

Masterplan document as a preferred option for Penrith.     

 

Our primary aim is to provide independent analysis that respects every comment made by every 

citizen, and draws those comments together into a single, coherent report that can shape the 

thinking of EDC as it develops its long term plans.  

 

That is why this detailed, collaborative and independent review is important.  We welcome any 

comments, feedback or debate that follows on from this document, and both universities intend to 

continue to work with EDC as policies are developed and implemented. 

 

  
Dr Chris Ford FCA 
Lancaster University 

Professor Ian Convery 
University of Cumbria 

Page  15



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 4 

 

 1.  Introduction  
 

 

This report offers an in-depth review of the evidence generated during the Eden District Council 

(‘EDC’) public engagement process, which commenced on 10 September 2018 and concluded on 2 

November 2018.  The focal document produced by Eden District Council for this engagement 

activity, entitled “The Penrith Strategic masterplan, A Vision to 2050” (the ‘PSM’), brought together 

a range of issues and proposals that sought to address multiple aspects of the economy, society and 

environment of the region.   

The PSM document had a powerful effect in terms of steering some of the debate, and certainly 

many of the newspaper headlines and letters submissions, since a central aspect of the proposed 

plan was the creation of three new ‘Beacon Villages’ over a period of 30 years, providing an addition 

5,560 homes.  The other contentious issue presented in the document was the change in use of a 

portion of the Beacon forest, to allow the development of low density, high value housing on the 

elevated area of woodland just to the north of the Beacon Monument itself.   

The depth of engagement, with 25 pop-up events or shop opening days and the ability to engage 

through multiple online platforms, was further fuelled by very high levels of press interest and the 

formation of two influential community action groups (for full details see Appendix I).  As a result, a 

significant body of data was collected.  The data we used for our analysis was as follows: 

Data source Number of responses 

EDC online questionnaire 667 

Keep Penrith Special postcards & petition 4,780 (including 532 hand written comments) 

Friends of the Beacon petition 2,693 

Graffiti wall comments from Penrith shop 281 

Postcards from pop up shops 466 (including 382 hand written comments) 

Letters 82 (48 public, 7 political, 27 other organisations) 

 

Additional evidence and insights 

EDC were aware that certain geographical areas and demographic groups tend to be less likely to 

engage in this form of opt-in consultation.  To supplement the data collected above, they also 

commission a specialist research organisation to undertake doorstep, face-to-face surveys with 261 

residents, focussing on the following areas: Castletown, Pategill and New Squares, Scaws, 

Townhead, and Weatheriggs, with a smaller number in Beacon Edge and Carleton. 

We have identified a very strong correlation between the main issues, concerns and wishes of 

residents expressed in that survey as we see in the data being analysed here.  We will not be re-

analysing that evidence, as this report will focus specifically on the data collected through the formal 

engagement process, or delivered in the form of letters and petitions that relate directly to that 

process. 

Page  16



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 5 

 

We are also aware that EDC set out to discuss the issues in their document with business owners 

and groups.  Again, this evidence is not shown or analysed in this report, but it is important to note 

that this also formed part of the body of evidence collected both formally and informally to inform 

the next steps being considered.    

 

In relation to this particular report, our goal is to draw out useful insights from the rich body of 

publicly created evidence listed above. 

However, we must be extremely careful to note that this cannot be treated as a representative 

sample of the wishes of the people of Penrith or wider communities.  There are several reasons for 

this, with three of the most significant being: 1) the public are responding to a specific proposal and 

this directs their attention and concerns; 2) the analysis of the demographic data shows an under 

representation of both the younger and older age groups, in favour of those working aged 

individuals aged 25-65; 3) despite the significant press coverage and public engagement with key 

issues, the 667 questionnaire responses that allow the most detailed picture of what residents think 

about a range of issues still represent a little over 1% of the population of Eden, or 4% of the 

population of Penrith. 

So what can usefully be done with this data, given these concerns about its representativeness?  

As the consultation progressed, the depth of debate encouraged people to think more deeply about 

what they value in Penrith, how they want to see the town develop, and what their real concerns 

are.   This resulted in the creation of possibly the largest body of public engagement data that Eden 

District Council has ever generated.  It allows us to draw out ideas and insights from the people who 

know the town, its communities, economies and histories, better than anyone else.  The purpose of 

this report is to synthesise this evidence into a meaningful, single document.   

The main structure of this report follows the subject framework provided by the original 

consultation document, with its nine topic areas covering the key themes in this engagement.  We 

have combined Transport with Infrastructure and Utilities, due to the number of comments received 

on each of these, to give us eight main subject areas for analysis.  The process followed to ensure a 

comprehensive analysis of all public comments is explained in the next section. 

In addition to this structured look at the comments made by individuals, this report contains a 

significant body of quantitative analysis of the 667 survey results.  This is presented in section 3 of 

the report. 

In section 12 we draw together the insights gained from both the qualitative and quantitative 

analysis, and seek to deliver some better understanding of what is valued in Eden, and why. 

 

 

  

Page  17



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 6 

 

2.  Methodology  
 

 

This engagement exercise generated a great deal of public interest, and in turn, a very significant 

volume of data that arrived with EDC in many forms.  One of the main reasons for Lancaster 

University and the University of Cumbria becoming involved in the analysis exercise was our 

experience at managing the analysis of such broad and varied data sets in ways that can bring 

meaning to the voices of those concerned, without any accidental bias being introduced through the 

methods chosen.   

In this section we set out some of the key risks when tackling a large body of data such as this, and 

explain the process by which we have overcome these risks.  The key considerations for the analysis 

of the data in this project included: 

 Developing innovative approaches to work with large collections of text data 

 Ensuring equality, impartiality and objectivity when selecting and categorising data for 

further analysis 

 Ensuring real-world relevance and clear criteria for categorising data for further analysis  

 Making use of expert local knowledge to ensure that the in-depth analysis included an 

understanding of context, history and the local area. 

 

Dealing impartially with high volumes of data  

The significant volume of data demanded a novel approach to analysis. When confronted with large 

amounts of text data there are two significant risks: 

 One is to dismiss the data as “too much / too overwhelming” and to therefore ignore or 

side-line it in favour of statistical analysis that focuses only on questions that use scales (eg. 

rank from 1-5 or ‘strongly agree’ to ‘strongly disagree’). This sort of statistical analysis is both 

quicker and easily tp use with large bodies of data, whilst reading, analysing and interpreting 

text is time and labour intensive. This not only throws away a lot of valuable and rich data 

but is also disingenuous to those who have taken the time to write and express opinions or 

give information in the belief their voices will be listened to. 

 The other is to find examples in an unsystematic way - “cherry picking” the quotes that 

appear to be frequent or significant or to fit an argument that has been developed for 

another purpose with the data selected to fit its conclusions. This is a frequent accusation 

levelled at research that works with text – that the selection and analysis was biased and 

that the examples were chosen to fit an argument rather than the conclusions being 

representative of the range of opinions that were expressed. 

 

The work of analysing the data was divided across two teams: one led by Darrell Smith from 

University of Cumbria, looking at the quantitative data, the other led by Steve Wright and Chris Ford, 

looking at the freely written text, or qualitative, data.  The remainder of this section focusses on the 

Page  18



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 7 

 

qualitative analysis, which was enabled by sophisticated data mining techniques embedded in the 

latest qualitative analysis software, Nvivo 12 Plus.  This work, and the various stages we went 

through, are explained below. 

 

How text mining works 

Written language in comments does have structure and computer processing can help to identify 

phrases, topics and sentiment.  It does this through exploring how frequently words and phrases are 

used, finding commonality between the words and phrases, and identifying expressions that indicate 

if the text is positive or negative about a topic.  

The most frequent words in a document have the least meaning – words like “a” or “the” or “an”. 

The phrases with lower frequencies typically have greater meaning – for example in this section of 

the report the words “frequency/frequencies/frequent” all share a stem of “frequen” followed by a 

suffix and all relate to one concept of “frequency” but are far less frequent than the words a, an or 

the and therefore help show that that word is significant for the topic of the text.  

By running all of the text from the public engagement exercises through a software package called 

NVivo Plus all the text was considered and processed impartially and objectively by text-mining 

algorithms. These provide rapid sorting and initial categorisation of the data – overcoming the first 

problem of dismissing the data as overwhelming. Their impartiality and objectivity based on the 

content of the text and the words within it rather than an interpretation or selection of them by a 

person with a viewpoint helps to overcome the second issue of bias. 

 

Analysis of qualitative engagement data 

Our analysis began with the use of text mining to ensure that all of the text from the engagement 

exercises and interaction with interest groups was treated impartially and analysed together. The 

first stage of this analysis was to ensure that all free text was included - including comments from 

the online survey, comments from postcards sent to the council by campaign groups and then typed 

up by administrative staff at EDC, emails, and text from the graffiti walls and postcards in the pop-up 

shop in Penrith and other locations.  

The outcome of this first automated stage of analysis was a complete categorisation of the data into 

multiple themes.  This form of auto-coding is accurate but not perfect, so the next stage was to 

refine this categorisation, working collaboratively with members of the Eden District Council 

Planning Group who could bring their expert local knowledge to the categorised data. 

The refined topic groupings from the data were then organised and clustered using the structure of 

the Eden District Council Master Plan document to create meaningful collections of related topics. 

For example, “The Beacon” and “Town Centre” collected together all of the comments relating to 

those aspects of the plan, creating groups of data that were ready for further analysis.  

As well as grouping responses by topics, the text within each collection could also be grouped or 

categorised based on demographic information given by respondents’ answers to closed questions – 

enabling (for example) reading all the comments about markets from respondents who were not yet 

in work, working, or retired; or where they lived. 

Page  19



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 8 

 

By collecting together topics and then grouping using demographic information, these collections of 

text were impartially and comprehensively created. These groups of comments were then analysed 

using the local expertise and knowledge of members of the EDC Planning Department, by reading 

through all of the comments relating to a topic and interpreting them based on emerging themes, 

then writing meaningful summaries of the collected data.  These summaries and themes could then 

be compared across groups to explore the dimensions that influenced particular viewpoints and 

topics. It also provided an objective approach to categorisation to ensure selection of “example 

quotations” was not a product of cherry picking but instead a true reflection of the rich text data.  

This innovative approach was enabled by the willingness of EDC to invest in staff capability building 

in the form of qualitative data analysis training, provided free of charge by the Lancaster University 

academics, which allowed four members of the EDC planning team to become Nvivo coders for this 

research project.  One member of that coding team then continued to work with the four academics 

as a full co-author of this report, ensuring that we remained close to the data (that she had been 

involved in coding) and to its social and organisational context, at all times.  The latest text mining 

capabilities of NVivo Plus, the expertise in the research team of an NVivo consultant and trainer, and 

this collaborative research process have come together to underpin our ability to deliver this 

comprehensive review of the EDC engagement process. 

  

  

Page  20



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 9 

 

3.  Quantitative survey analysis  
 

 

The quantitative analysis in this section allows us to identify some relatively straightforward 

demographic information about those who responded to the engagement exercise, and identify 

some key concerns highlighted through the EDC online engagement survey.  

The data that could be assessed in a quantitative manner includes:  

 The questionnaire completed by 667 individuals, accessed through the official Eden District 

Council online engagement website 

 The Keep Penrith Special postcards and petition signed by 4780 individuals; 

 The Friends of the Beacon petition signed by 2693 individuals.   

 

3.1  Demographic data 

Responses were received that enable a demographic description of participants to be made. These 

responses allow consideration of characteristics such as: where do participants come from, what 

their ages are, and how participants describe their relationship with Penrith. This information allows 

for an assessment of how representative the responses received during the engagement process are 

of the Penrith and Eden demographic. 

 

3.1.1 Where do participants come from? 

Postcode data has been taken from the online questionnaire plus the Keep Penrith Special and 

Friends of the Beacon submissions and petitions. With respect to the Penrith focus of the 

masterplan, an initial split of responses for assessment based on proximity to Penrith and postcode 

information was used to create geographic clusters as follows (and shown in fig 3.1):  

cluster 1 - CA11 7, CA11 8;  

cluster 2 - CA10 1, CA10 2, CA10 3, CA11 0, CA11 9;  

cluster 3 - any response that came from participants outside clusters 1 and 2.  

Whilst we recognise that this approach introduces subjective boundaries and presents problems 

such as with CA11 9, where homes will be located within the Penrith town area. It does, however, 

provide a means to engage with postcode data in a manner that defines a basis from which to 

describe representativeness of responses, specifically in regard to those postcodes that sit outside of 

Penrith and the surrounding area, cluster 3.  

The number of participants, in the form of percentage of all of the 7876 responses that provided 

postcode information, identifies the extent to which respondents were either from cluster 1, cluster 

2 or cluster 3 (Table 1). Responses that did not provide a postcode or that the postcode information 

provided was unusable have been excluded. The Keep Penrith Special campaign attracted more 

responses from outside of Penrith and the surrounding area, cluster 3, and fewer from postcodes 

within cluster 1.  

 

Page  21



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 10 

 

 

 

      

  

 
Figure 3.1 Postcodes used to describe participant responses collected as part of the engagement 

process; Online questionnaire, ‘Keep Penrith Special’ and ‘Friends of the Beacon’. 

Table 1 Percentage of responses per postcode grouping (postcodes that were unusable have 

been excluded): number of responses online questionnaire 523, Keep Penrith Special 

4725, Friends of the Beacon 2628.      

 Online 
Questionnaire  

Keep Penrith Special  Friends of the Beacon  

Cluster 1 47.0 34.2 46.8 

Cluster 2 42.3 46.9 40.9 

Cluster 3 10.7 18.9 12.3 

 

Page  22



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 11 

 

3.1.2 Age profile 

Survey responses allow us to compare the age profile of respondents with the known age profile of 

Eden residents. These responses can be used to characterise the age profile of participants by 

comparison to a known profile of the area1. The age categories used in the survey do not align 

precisely with those used by the Cumbria Observatory, and in the survey instrument there was a one 

year overlap in two cases, allowing people aged 65 and 80 to select one of two groups: 41-65 and 

65-80, 65 -80 and 80+. We have explicitly accepted their self-selection.  

 

                                                 
1 Figures for age profile comparison has been taken from ONS data available at the Cumbria Observatory, see   
https://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/population/report/view/32e912dc0fc8438f932399b24b848bea/E07000030  

 

 
Figure 3.2 Age profile of online questionnaire participants (top) and Eden District 

population age profile (bottom)(Cumbria Intelligence Observatory, 2017).  

 

 

 

Page  23

https://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/population/report/view/32e912dc0fc8438f932399b24b848bea/E07000030


 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 12 

 

 

The comparison suggests that the age profile of the online respondents broadly under represents 

the younger (-9.3%) and older (-8.5%) age groups. 

The age profile of respondents over represents the 25 – 65 year old age group (+17.9%) when 

compared with that of the Eden District population (Fig 3.2). However, the estimated mean age of 

the online questionnaire participants was broadly in line with the population: the mean age of 

survey respondents was 49 years old, as compared with 48 years old across Eden District.  

 

3.1.3 How participants describe their relationship with Penrith 

With regard to the relationships of participants to Penrith, as described through their responses to 

the question ‘Please tell us if you live in Penrith or how often you visit (including for work)?’, the 

majority of online questionnaire participants either describe themselves as living in Penrith (64.5%) 

or are regular visitors throughout the week (31.5%): this visit frequency is characterised as every 

day, 3 to 5 times a week or once or twice a week (Fig 3.3). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Figure 3.3 Online questionnaire responses to the question ‘Please tell us if you live in Penrith 

or how often you visit (including for work)?’ Percentage figures for each category 

are identified at the end of the associated bars. 

Page  24



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 13 

 

 

3.2  Official Eden District Council online engagement website 

The official online survey site collected directed responses from 667 individuals through tick box and 

open comment questions. The tick box response data is presented below in seven themes that 

correspond to key questions asked related to proposals presented within the Penrith Masterplan:  

1. How important are the following issues to you? 

2. What do you think should be done to overcome the challenges in Penrith? 

3. What do you think are important considerations when locating a new settlement in Eden? 

4. What elements do you think are important for creating a vibrant new community? 

5. Which of the following uses do you think would be suitable for Beacon Hill (the forested area 

surrounding the Beacon)? 

6. Do you agree with the location of the proposed new settlements?  

7. If you are concerned about the location of the proposed new settlements, do you believe that 

any of the areas previously assessed should be reconsidered and assessed in more detail?  

The following analyses make use of all responses collected from the online survey. Where difference 

is commented upon, within a question, this difference has been found to be statistically significant.     

 

3.2.1 Issues relating to Penrith lifescape 

Participants were asked to score a range of issues in relation to the current Penrith lifescape2, based 

on a level of importance where 10 is extremely important and 1 is of no importance.  

 

                                                 
2 Lifescape is a term used to characterize the relationship between people and place (see Convery, I. 2006). A lifescape is an 
active lived-in and connected place that links people, communities, economy and the natural environment. 

 
Figure 3.4 Level of importance attributed to eight aspects of the future Penrith lifescape. 

Importance is scored where 10 describes a level of extremely important and 1 being of 

no importance. Mean values are given for each issue at the end of the associated bar.  

 

 

Page  25



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 14 

 

In terms of importance, as denoted by the scores given to each issue by participants, a statistically 

significant difference was described across the eight issues (Fig 3.4). Difference was driven by both 

high and low levels of importance attributed to a range of options. High importance was attributed 

to traffic congestion (mean score of 7.5), and shopping habits and town centre vibrancy (mean score 

of 7.2).  A low level of importance was given to additional housing needs, with a mean score of 4.1.  

 

3.2.2 Overcoming the challenges in Penrith 

With respect to the challenges that Penrith faces, participants were given a list of potential options 

and asked to identify all that they felt applied. Options given covered future housing needs, 

employment opportunities, safe routes to move through the area, enhancement of the town centre 

and the provision of green space. The 667 participants provided 2643 choices across the ten options, 

an average of 4.0 choices per participant (Fig 3.5).  

Participant choices were statistically significant in respect to a higher proportion of selection for the 

enhancement of town centre as the primary challenge to Penrith, with 17.7% of all responses. Of 

less importance but still a significant contribution is the wish for more green space, with 13.8% of all 

responses. In respect of issues identified as having low levels of importance the idea of needing to 

‘build more homes’ was described as having the least level of importance, only contributing to 2.5% 

of the total number of choices made.  

 

 

 

  

 
Figure 3.5 Participant responses to the question ‘What do you think should be done to 

overcome the challenges in Penrith?’ Participants were asked to tick all issues that 

they felt applied, 2643 responses were given across the ten options. Mean values 

are given for each issue at the end of the associated bar. 

 

 

 

Page  26



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 15 

 

3.2.3 New settlement location in Eden   

When asked about the location of any new housing settlement in Eden, participants were prompted 

to consider a suggested range of aspects that may be considered important when locating a new 

settlement, and were prompted to identify all that they felt applied. Options given covered 

proximity to Penrith and existing main roads, forming part of an existing settlement or being 

separated from Penrith, being visible from current settlements, issues of avoiding areas identified as 

being at risk of flood, visually prominent and of significant historic and environmental importance. 

The 667 participants provided 1927 responses across the nine options provided, an average of 2.9 

choices per participant.  

Participants selection of the issues thought to be important when locating any future possible 

settlement were significantly different across the nine options provided (Fig 3.6). Significant 

importance was attributed to the need for avoidance of places with high environmental value, 20.1% 

of all responses, and consideration of the potential impact on historical landmarks, 19.5% of 

responses. Aspects that were selected at a significantly low level related to the visual aspects and 

community connectivity within location: ‘cannot be seen from existing settlements’ 3.7% of total 

responses, and ‘avoids being separated from Penrith by the motorway, railway or river’ 2.8% of total 

responses.  

 

 

  

 
Figure 3.6 Participant responses to the question ‘What do you think are important 

considerations when locating a new settlement in Eden?’ Participants were asked to 

tick all issues that they felt applied, 1927 responses were given across 9 options. 

 

Page  27



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 16 

 

3.2.4 Creating a vibrant new community 

When considering the prospect of creating a vibrant new community, participants were asked to 

select, from a list of 15 options, those aspects that they thought of as being important. Participants 

were instructed to identify all aspects that they felt applied. The 667 participants provided 3957 

responses across the 15 options, an average of 6 selections per participant, demonstrating the broad 

nature of opinion with regard to this question.  

Significant difference was identified in preference for elements that were thought to characterise a 

vibrant new community. The primary high level contributors reflected the public service aspects of 

social networks: ‘health services’ a network of ‘public transport that is accessible for all’ and ‘good 

education facilities’ which described the most important aspects, with 9.3%, 9.1% and 8.9% of total 

responses, respectively. The creation of ‘a unique identity’ and the ‘use of technology’ were the less 

preferred options (3.3% and 3.5% respectively) (Fig 3.7).  

 

 

 

  

 
Figure 3.7 Participant responses to the question ‘What elements do you think are important for 

creating a vibrant new community?’ Participants were asked to tick all issues that 

they felt applied, 3957 responses were given across 15 options. 

 

 

Page  28



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 17 

 

3.2.5 Beacon Hill usage 

The area known as Beacon Hill was also a subject for consultation as part of the Penrith Masterplan 

engagement process. Participants were asked to consider a range of potential options for continuing 

and future use of the Beacon Hill area, described as the forested area surrounding the Beacon.  

Four options were presented that described community use, recreational use, educational use and 

the potential for housing with participants asked to identify all options that they felt applied. Of 667 

participants 378 (56.7%) participants provided 701 responses, an average of 1.9 choices per 

response, 231 (61.1%) of the participants selected more than one of the four options. 

Broadly, when pooling all responses together, in terms of use suitability, a significant difference in 

selection response was observed.  This difference is primarily driven by the high level of support for 

the ‘Upgrading of paths to make them accessible for disabled and pushchair users’ (45.4%). Also 

observed as a contributor to significant difference was the low level of support for making use of 

Beacon Hill to provide a ‘Small amount of housing’, this use for Beacon Hill attracted the least 

number of responses (3.4%) (Fig 3.8).   

 

 

When the multiple optionality is considered more nuance can be added to the responses. Whilst 107 

(28.3% of total participant responses) participants selected ‘Upgrading of paths to make them 

accessible for disabled and pushchair users’ as their only option a greater number of participants, 

211 (55.8% of total participant responses) selected this option along with a variety of the other three 

choices. Of those 211 participants that selected the ‘Upgrading of paths to make them accessible for 

disabled and pushchair users’ plus another option(s), the favoured choice was for a combination 

‘Upgrading of paths to make them accessible for disabled and pushchair users’ and ‘Small outdoor 

education facility e.g. woodland classroom’ (36.5%).  

 
 

Figure 3.8 Participant responses to the question ‘Which of the following uses do you think 

would be suitable for Beacon Hill (the forested area surrounding the Beacon)?’ 

Participants were asked to tick all issues that they felt applied, 701 responses 

were given across the four options.  

 

Page  29



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 18 

 

When we consider multiple choices, those participants who selected more than one option, 

selections that include the ‘Upgrading of paths to make them accessible for disabled and pushchair 

users’ are chosen in 35.5% of cases, multiple choices that include ‘Mountain bike trail’ were selected 

in 26.9% of cases, ‘Small outdoor education facility e.g. woodland classroom’ were selected in 33.5% 

of choices and a ‘Small amount of housing’ was selected in 4.1% of multiple choices.   

 

3.2.6  Proposed location of the new settlements 

Participants were asked whether they agreed with the location of the proposed new settlements. 

Four options were given: agree, partially agree, disagree and unsure. Of the 667 participants a total 

of 565 responded to this question, the dominant view was for a position of disagree (Fig 3.9).   

 

 

 

3.2.7  Alternative settlement locations 

With regard to the location of any new settlement proposal, participants were asked to consider, 

from a provided list of options, locations that they believed warranted reconsideration and to be 

assessed in greater detail. As with other questions in the online survey participants were free to 

select all options that they felt applied.   

Of the 667 participants 358 (53.7%) provided 843 responses, of these 89 participants (24.8%) 

provided single response answers. Two choices attracted the majority of responses: ‘West of the M6 

between Junction 41 and B5708 (Newton Rigg College and Newton Reigny)’ with 21.1% of total 

responses and ‘North-west of Junction 41 of the M6 (Catterlen)’ with 20.2% of total responses (Fig 

3.10). 

 

 
Figure 3.9 Participant responses to the question ‘Do you agree with the location of the 

  proposed new settlements?’  

Page  30



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 19 

 

  

 
 

Figure 3.10 Participant responses to the question ‘If you are concerned about the location 

of the proposed new settlements, do you believe that any of the areas 

previously assessed should be reconsidered and assessed in more detail?’

  

Page  31



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 20 

 

4.  Housing 
 

 

Headline findings  

The petition responses highlight a high level of concern about new village and Beacon 
developments. There is a substantial desire to protect the Beacon and to prevent the creation of 
nearby new villages, with a focus on providing more affordable homes for local people. 

The most prominent theme across the age ranges is affordable housing. There are a range of 
comments within this wider theme concerning its provision, whether or not homes are affordable 
to local people in the context of the low wage economy, and the fact that there is no guarantee 
that affordable homes will be built.  

The most significant idea for the future is converting empty and vacant buildings in the area into 
housing. This has been suggested by responses from all of the age ranges.  

There are a number of concerns in relation to housing; this relates to developers not providing 
the required amount of affordable housing, the impact of the proposal upon the character of 
Penrith and the character of the new housing development, the lack of provision of housing for 
the elderly as well as the amount of second homes and holiday lets in the area.  

 

The PSM centred on the construction of three new villages outside of Penrith, which aimed to tackle 

both the local and national requirements for housing, as well as issues of affordability in relation to 

average household incomes in the region.  The plan proposed 5,560 new homes across the three 

Beacon villages, broken down into 2,470 new homes in the western village, 1,632 in the central 

village and 1,458 in the eastern village.  It states that average house prices in Eden are 7.6 times 

higher than average household income. In line with the Eden Local Plan 2014-2032, the Council 

would continue to seek a minimum of 30% affordable housing on all new developments of over 11 

units in Penrith.   

Although not significant in terms of the overall supply of housing, the proposal to allow a small 

number of high quality homes or holiday lets to be built on the plateau behind the Beacon summit 

generated a great deal of interest and concern. 

Petition responses focussed heavily on these two elements of housing development: the new 

villages and the change in use of the central area of the Beacon forest.  Keep Penrith Special 

attracted 4780 signatories and signed postcards, based on a broad anti-masterplan manifesto that 

led with these two issues.  Friends of the Beacon attracted 2693 signatories, based on a clear 

concern relating to the single issue of protecting the Beacon from development.  Whilst there is 

undoubtedly some overlap between these petitions, they represent a very significant voice in 

relation to the population of Penrith, which is analysed more closely in section 3, above.  

Young people (aged 11 to 24) primarily focused on the need to provide more affordable housing 

with one response stating there is a difference between ‘affordable housing’ and ‘low cost housing’. 

There were also suggestions that the existing redundant buildings could be used to provide more 

housing in the area.  

“What exactly is affordable housing?” 
  

Page  32



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 21 

 

Working aged people (aged 25 to 65) raised a number of issues in relation to the proposal. Their 

responses primarily focused on affordable housing; the need to provide more and concerns that 

those houses which are termed ‘affordable’ are not affordable to local people due to the low wages 

in the area.  In line with the responses from young people, there are suggestions that vacant 

buildings in Penrith could be used for housing, such as New Squares and the old Co-op building. One 

response suggests the possibility of enabling larger villages across Eden to become more viable by 

providing housing there, to support the local schools and facilities. Concerns have been raised about 

housing for elderly people and the growing implications of second home ownership.  

“Insufficient low cost housing is a major problem.” 
 
“More provision for the growing elderly population in terms of suitable housing and adequate 
healthcare.” 

 

Retirement-aged people (aged 65+) share similar concerns to those in the other age ranges in 

relation to affordable housing. Responses outline the need for more genuinely affordable homes in 

the context of Eden’s low wage economy and that this strategy document does not contain any 

guarantee that any affordable homes will be built. Similar to the suggestions above, responses pose 

the idea of utilising empty homes and vacant buildings in the area to assist in the provision of 

housing.  

Numerous responses contain tones of suspicion around developers and if they actually provide the 

level of affordable housing initially approved, as some submit a viability assessment which reduces 

their affordable housing requirement.  

In addition, this age range outline concerns with the character of new housing developments and 

the impacts of the proposals upon the character of Penrith as a market town.  

“I have never come across a development where the promised number of affordable houses have 
come to fruition.” 
 
“Too many housing estates without character” 

 

Numerous responses have been received in which no age range has been identified for respondents. 

Predominantly, these responses reflect those discussed above. The responses state that new 

development should be integrated into existing communities, affordable housing should be at a 

price affordable to local people, and second homes are still a concern. Responses suggest the 

possibility of housing development along the A6 and A66, along with the upgrading of the existing 

housing stock and converting empty buildings. 

“Need to restrict second home owners” 
 

“Empty spaces in the town and on bus routes should be utilised for small numbers of bungalows 
and affordable homes.” 

 
 
 
 

  

Page  33



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 22 

 

5.  Economy 
 

 

Headline findings  

The strongest themes across the age ranges is the need to support local businesses and to 
provide more job opportunities in the area.  A range of ideas have been put forward from across 
the age categories, with the most frequent suggestion being to reduce business rates to support 
local businesses. Other ideas suggested or supported include converting or renovating empty 
buildings, developing the industrial area at Junction 41, and supporting different forms of 
industry-government-academia collaboration to create centres of excellence.  

There are also concerns about how the proposed 7,000 higher skilled jobs will be created, in 
reality. This highlights potential issues of trust in the underpinning rationale for some elements of 
the economic plan: whilst there may be compelling causal links between the construction of new 
homes, the designation of new industrial land, and positive long term employment prospects in 
the region, these links are not accepted by many respondents. 

 

The PSM highlights the combined issues of almost full employment and full industrial estates in 

Penrith, yet with low average wage levels and their link to concerns about the affordability of 

housing.  It proposes to assign 73 hectares of new employment land and ensure that it is landscaped 

to integrate with the surround areas.  The goal is to create an attractive place for businesses to 

relocate to, and to remain as they grow.  The document aims to support the creation of 7,000 jobs in 

Penrith through this approach. 

Young people (aged 11 to 24) are primarily focused upon the need to support the local businesses in 

the area and to provide more higher paid job opportunities. Concerns were raised about the 

housing-led approach to this.  Another idea considered is increasing the opportunities for local 

businesses to utilise the shop space in the New Squares complex.  

“The Council’s job creation policy seems to consist largely of building houses and hoping for the 

best.” 

“Don’t do any of this until new job opportunities are here.” 

 

Working aged people (aged 25 to 65) focus upon similar ideas and concerns as young people (11 to 

24); more support for local businesses and the need to provide more higher paid jobs. As with the 

housing section, above, there is concern about underutilised space within the town, which could be 

converted or renovated as business space. 

Some responses highlighted the need to consider different, more focussed developmental ideas.  At 

the industry level, ideas are presented about fostering links between farming and the food industry 

to create a centre of excellence around Penrith in conjunction with Newton Rigg and University of 

Cumbria.  For individuals, there is a suggestion that focussing on managerial or interpersonal ‘soft 

skills’, and the training opportunities required locally, might facilitate the advancement of our 

workforce.  

Page  34



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 23 

 

There is an underlying tone of concern across a number of responses about how the 7,000 jobs 

proposed in the document will be created, with some responses commenting that you cannot just 

build more houses and expect the job opportunities to follow. 

In addition to this, responses express concern about the empty shops in the town centre and many 

suggest reducing business rates as one way of tackling this issue.  There is overlap here with the 

section on the town centre, below, so key points relating to that aspect of the economy are 

addressed in more detail in that section.  However, the concern for small business support is not 

limited to independent retailers that create a more distinctive town centre offering – comments 

suggest a need to support all smaller businesses in the region.  

“You cannot just build new housing and expect that to reinvigorate the local economy – it makes 

no economic or planning sense.” 

“The number of empty shops in Penrith is a big concern – if the business rates were reduced for 

ALL businesses then it would attract businesses and hopefully being to regenerate the town 

centre.” 

“Where are these 7K jobs going to come from?” 
 
“More support for very small independent businesses.” 
 

Retirement-aged people (aged 65+) share the views and concerns of young and working aged 

people as discussed above. One response suggests exploring the opportunity for links between the 

farming and food industry to create a centre of excellence around Penrith working with both 

Newton Rigg College and the University of Cumbria.  

Concerns are expressed that Penrith will become a retirement town as only wealthier people, 

possibly moving in to the region as they downsize from areas further south with higher house prices, 

will be able to afford the house prices here.  This, in turn, will have a knock on effect on the ability of 

young people and families to remain in Penrith, and so affect the vibrancy and youth of the town 

itself. 

“It needs to retain its small, friendly, local, individual, market town feel, whilst attracting young 
business professionals to live here.” 
 
“It’s a grand vision of zoning residential and business zones with no plan for how to make these 
become a reality.” 

 
 

 

  

Page  35



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 24 

 

6.  Town centre 
 

 

Headline findings  

There is very significant concern that the experiences offered by Penrith Town Centre need to 
be greatly enhanced, for the benefit of residents but also to capture the tourism potential of a 
location at the gateway to the Lake District.  Revitalising the farmers markets, stimulating visitor 
numbers through events, developing a cultural centre that can draw in tourists through holiday 
activities and performances, are all themes highlighted in multiple responses. 

Functional concerns focus on two key issues: the empty shop fronts in town and in New 
Squares in particular, and the management of long stay parking.  This latter point is an issue for 
those who want to see visitors staying longer, workers who wish to find economical parking near 
the centre, and individuals whose residential streets become de facto car parks for workers. 

Lack of green spaces and easy access to nature are also of concern to many respondents, who 
highlight the poor green infrastructure within, and connected to, the town centre.  This, in turn, 
leads to increased car traffic and prevents the town centre from becoming a green tourism hub. 

 

6.1 Introduction 

The engagement evidence suggests that two aspects of the PSM are of great interest to the people 

of Eden: the future of the town centre of Penrith, and the future of the Beacon.  This report seeks to 

unpack that evidence in a more detailed way, as it relates to these two important themes.  The aim 

is to generate a more academically informed understanding of the problems, and to connect this to 

all the concerns, insights and ideas that have come from the people of Eden as they took part in the 

engagement process.   

This Town centre section of the report aims to help us fully understand the elements that make up 

the performance of the town, and in so doing, give us a clearer picture of its pivotal role in the 

economy and society.  This, in turn, should help us to think more clearly about the policies that 

might be required to support the town centre of Penrith. 

 

6.2 Analytical approach 

The core framework that we will use to analyse the engagement data when looking at Penrith town 

centre is a model developed by Stocchi, Hart and Haji (2016)3 .  Through their framework we can 

break down the data covering the town centre into two groups of separate elements, which come 

together to create the town centre customer experience.  This allows us to look carefully at what 

drives high quality, or low quality, experiences for those visiting the town and offers a range of 

immediate and potential longer term interventions to improve that experience. 

 

                                                 
3 This model was first presented by its author, Dr Cathy Hart of Loughborough University, to a workshop 
attended by key individuals from Eden District Council, Penrith Town Council, Penrith Chamber of Trade, and 
both of the BIDs, in January 2019. 

Page  36



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 25 

 

6.3 Town centre customer experience – overview of theory 

The Stocchi, Hart and Haji (2016) model was used to create a set of key concepts that could shape 

our view of the town centre.  These are split into two groupings: 

Functional touchpoints –  

These are the real, physical aspects of a town that customers connect with on their visits, and 

which deliver quite straight forward, functional value.  These are generally considered to be the 

hygiene factors of the town centre, in that they need to be good enough to keep people from 

feeling frustrated or unhappy with their experience of the town, but by themselves they are not 

guaranteed to make people keep revisiting. 

Experiential touchpoints –  

These trigger emotional responses in those visiting a town centre, creating memorable 

experiences that are likely to make them revisit and recommend the location (if, of course, the 

experience is a positive one).  These are essential if we want to offer a town centre with more 

than a basic utilitarian value to visitors. 

When we draw together an analysis of these groups of factors, we can then begin to see what the 

overall Town Centre Customer Experience (‘TCCE’) looks like, and what might be done to improve it.  

The touchpoints model is represented visually below. 

 

Touchpoints and the town centre (Stocchi, Hart and Haji,2016) 

 

 

 

 

  

Page  37



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 26 

 

6.4 Functional touchpoints analysis 

Stores & Products – There was a strong and common theme running through the data in relation to 

the New Squares development and a desire to see those empty units filled, and EDC taking steps to 

incentivise businesses to commit to occupying them.  There are other broader concerns about the 

number of empty units, and many suggestions that these should be converted into residential flats 

our housing. 

The nature of these stores is also a very important concern, with many highlighting a desire to see 

more interesting, smaller or craft-type shops in town.  This is in direct contrast to the many 

comments worrying about an apparent increase in the number of retail units that are perceived as 

being of either lower value, or serving a utilitarian function rather than generating an interesting 

retail space, including charity shops, discount shops, takeaway food shops, nail bars, hair dressers 

and estate agents.  Whilst these stores all fulfil an important function on the high street, and provide 

both revenue generation and employment, the broader concern is with the distinctiveness of the 

Penrith shopping experience, and whether it is good enough.  On this point, opinions varied widely. 

“Address the problem of empty high street shops and those in the New Squares area that have 

never been filled since completion.” 

“We have a surfeit of supermarkets, charity shops and barbers, but nothing of great interest or 

distinctiveness to bring people in.” 

“Penrith is known for its lovely shops.” 

 

Parking – The issue of parking generated a great deal of comment, with quite a clear set of concerns 

that emerges consistently across the entire data set.  Long term parking is a key issue, whether it is 

for workers coming in to Penrith from outlying villages, or for visitors to the town.  In both cases 

there is concern that they are restricted by parking that has limited availability, poor visibility, and 

with most space restricting their stay to under 3 hours (the limit in the large car park by Sainsburys).  

This is perceived to be a major disincentive for tourists in particular.  A number of suggestions have 

been made, as shown in the quotations below. 

The issue of long-stay parking spills over into concerns about residential parking.  The lack of spaces 

for workers or long stay visitors in the town centre car parks is pushing incoming drivers out into the 

unrestricted zones surrounding the town, causing traffic congestion and frustration amongst local 

residents.  A broader concern is also noticed about residential parking, but whether this could be 

resolved by addressing the worker / visitor parking issue is unclear. 

“The absence of low cost or free long stay carparking within a car-bourn rural economy would be 

a disincentive to both locals and visitors alike to visit and work in the town centre.”   

“Cheap long term parking for workers would stop parking in residential areas SLDC are doing £1 

for the day if parking before 8am” 

“Residents parking is woefully inadequate where we live, and cars are parked illegally on a daily 

basis often causing access problems for other residents” 

 

 

Page  38



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 27 

 

Access, layout and signage – The creation of a town centre that is much friendlier to pedestrians is a 

common theme that cuts across many of the comments in this section.  There are many calls for 

pedestrianisation of the centre, but just as prominent are concerns about pedestrian access more 

broadly, on roads around the centre with increasing traffic and too few pedestrian crossings. 

There are some calls for better public transport, and a belief that it is not simply the busses 

themselves but the entire provision – such as bus shelters and the tidying up of the bus station itself 

– that might encourage more public transport use.  Some comments are made about green 

transport, including better provision for cycle access, as well as more general steps to encourage the 

development and use of a much wider cycle network.   

At the same time as these calls for greener transport solutions, there appears to be a level of 

acceptance that access to town is dominated by the private car, and that improved traffic 

management is important.  Issues relating to signage, for both drivers and pedestrians, are raised.  

For those driving in to Penrith we may not be actively and effectively directing them, to ensure that 

they enjoy easy access to the most appropriate parts of town, and car parks.  Once on foot, the town 

has limited maps and information boards to support first time visitors. 

“Of course traffic will find the quickest and least congested route to the town centre and whilst 

the PSM shows improved junctions along Beacon Edge it is difficult to see how anything can be 

‘improved’.” 

“Carlisle has a much better selection [of shops] and once you develop to the north of town, with 

easy access to jn 41, if the parking and retail problems of Penrith are not resolved, all new 

residents will do is head north rather than ‘visit’ Penrith (because they will not actually be living IN 

Penrith).” 

“Support provision of better bus services eg more bus only lanes, improve the Bus Station, more 

bus shelters at bus stops - the aim being to reduce car usage hence reduce congestion.”  

“Designated pedestrian area in town centre with adequate cheap car parking accessible from ALL 

approaches into town.” 

“Pedestrianize town centre to make it a more agreeable place, free from traffic noise and fumes.” 

 

6.5 Experiential touchpoints analysis 

Atmosphere & social interactions – The engagement data contained a great many passionate 

comments about the atmosphere of the town centre, and extended this to beliefs about the very 

nature of the town and its value as part of our regional identity.  There are references to the historic 

nature of shop fronts, the character of the centre, the fact that it is quiet and small and yet at the 

same time contains a number of interesting and unique independent retailers.  However, blended 

with these positive attributes is a real sense of fear about what is being lost, or might already be lost: 

whether it is really a market town, whether it has lost its vibrancy as a social place, and whether it 

ought to be more aspirational about its role as a regional hub, a gateway to the Lakes and Dales. 

 The Beacon also features in the discussions about the atmosphere and identity of the town centre.  

Rather than being seen as something separate, a hill above the town, it is often described as being 

integral to the town centre atmosphere, framing many views, and creating an iconic backdrop that 

shapes the visual identity of Penrith. 

Page  39



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 28 

 

“Penrith is a quiet small market town and that’s what I LOVE about it.” 

“Penrith lives in the past: once a great market town but with the decline of agriculture as an 

industry it has never moved forward.” 

“Maintaining its uniqueness as a market town with independent retailers.” 

“Protect the Beacon and rest of ridge to preserve views and context of town in landscape.” 

 

Markets – There are calls for a regular, significant market to be reinstated in Penrith.  The relatively 

recent loss of the monthly Tuesday market that filled Great Dockray is seen as an indicator that the 

town may not be a market town any more.  The fact that this is, historically, an agricultural town and 

still has bi-weekly auction markets at the Penrith & District Auction Mart is not seen as significant in 

this context: there is a strong expectation that the town will have a market for consumers, in the 

town centre.   

The role of markets in attracting tourists has also received attention in the engagement data, and 

the comparison with Keswick and its very busy market is noted.  The role that markets could play in 

building the overall attractiveness of the town centre, as a place where people visit and linger, is 

raised.  This point chimes with much academic evidence, that suggests the value of markets to the 

broader retail economy, as events that do not compete with local shops but rather act as powerful 

magnets to visitors and local residents alike.    

“Revive a regular market in town and pedestrianise the town centre, to encourage visitors to stay 

and browse.” 

“It thinks it’s a market town, but doesn't really have a market, needs a new identity.” 

“Hold a regular market, not just the Farmers Market.” 

 

Entertainment, attractions & events – The desire to have some kind of cultural or arts centre in 

Penrith comes through very strongly in the evidence.  Comparisons are made to the focal arts 

facilities in nearby towns such as Brewery Arts in Kendal and Theatre by the Lake in Keswick to 

highlight a belief that Penrith has a relatively weak position in the region.  Support for local 

organisations and local engagement is highlighted, with suggestions that this needs to be a place 

where people can meet and be active, as well as being entertained.   

Within these calls for greater arts-based entertainment and engagement is a strong theme of 

community.  People greatly value places and events that draw together communities and make 

them part of the spectacle, not merely observers.  The Winter Droving gets many positive mentions, 

as an iconic event that has rapidly become part of the cultural identity of Penrith.   

The suggestion is that entertainment and attractions within the town must serve multiple functions: 

drawing in tourism and revenue, providing entertainment for local residents, connecting 

communities and enhancing our sense of place and identity, and finally offering performance 

opportunities and support for grass roots community-based arts groups. 

“Improving the range of easy-access cultural provision, both informal/open space and venue-

based, daytime and evening.” 

Page  40



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 29 

 

“More community events to promote social cohesion.” 

“More events/festivals in the town in summer, as other places do it and people flock in and spend 

money.” 

“The place needs more life, the theatre could be built up, and the local arts organisations.” 

 

One particular quote highlights the role of culture, events and the public realm in helping to ensure 

that any extension of the town is consciously made a part of the town, socially as well as through 

built infrastructure (roads, cycle lanes etc.): 

“We need a public space, events and a public space, that allows us to unite the new developments 

with the existing town, through a shared sense of place.” 

 

6.5 Summary 

The people of Penrith and the wider Eden District place a great deal of value on Penrith town centre, 

and this value extends into every aspect of the space and its multiple roles in society:   

 Retail.  On a very practical level there is a desire to see more stores and more activity, ideally 

based on more independent retailers that generate interesting rather than purely functional 

shopping experiences.  There seems to be an understanding that a much wider range of issues 

needs to be addressed first, to create the footfall required to sustain any retail growth. 

 Markets.  There is a very strong desire to see markets back in the centre of Penrith.  These 

could be regular trading events, or the kind of celebration and place shaping events that Eden 

Arts have created with their Winter Droving. 

 Culture. The town falls short of its neighbours in the eyes of many, and needs a central space 

that can deliver arts based activities, become a social space, and a place for performance. 

 Tourism. Penrith lies just 15 minutes away from the shores of Ullswater and has tried to badge 

itself as the Gateway to the Lakes, yet the benefits of tourism are not felt within the town 

centre as much as many would like.   

 Environmental.  The relationship between Penrith and its immediate surroundings has come 

under great scrutiny in this engagement process.  The need for easier access to the Beacon, to 

green spaces in the town, and to natural spaces surrounding town could all enhance the town 

centre as both a place to live and a hub from which to explore the region. 

 

Underpinning the themes above are issues of infrastructure, parking and layout.  Whilst these may 

not distinguish a town, there are clearly concerns that need to be addressed both now, and as the 

town seeks to grow. Critically, though, we must be mindful that as Penrith grows it is the combined 

needs for cultural, social, environmental and infrastructural connectivity that will protect the sense 

of place and the strength of local communities. 

  

Page  41



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 30 

 

7.  Tourism 
 

 

Headline findings  

The importance of the local landscape for attracting tourists and future residents into the local 

area is highlighted, and Penrith’s position in relation to the Lake District National Park. 

The attractiveness of Penrith town centre as a destination, with more pleasant pedestrianised 

streets, cheaper parking, the provision of some cultural space, and support for public events and 

art, represents the main view of how to benefit more from tourism. 

 

The strategy document recognises the importance of tourism to the Eden District, with the links to 

two national parks, the coast to coast cycle route, and a range of tourist destinations such as Center 

Parcs, The Rheged Discovery Centre and other activities in the wider area. The strategy identifies the 

potential for Penrith to make more of the tourist opportunities in Eden including ideas to increase 

hotel stock, new wet weather attractions, improving the signage into and around the town, and 

providing inexpensive long stay car parking.  

In comparison to the number of responses received in other sections of the strategy document, the 

fewer responses relating to tourism were received.   

Young people (11-24) did not raise any comments in relation to tourism in the responses received 

through the online survey.  

Working-age people (aged 25 to 65) present the most responses on this topic. They recognise the 

need to find a balance in the area for tourists and the local people who live here. Responses 

recognised the importance of the landscape of the Eden area and Penrith’s position in relation to the 

Lake District National Park.  Ideas from responses suggest the pedestrianisation of Penrith town 

centre, cheaper parking in Penrith, more support for public events and public art.  

“Create a gateway hub for Lake District tourist using sustainable transport and local tour 

operators (like Iceland)” 

“Penrith has beautiful areas for cycling and walking on its doorstep, there is an opportunity to 

promote green tourism that will be killed off if traffic levels rise on local roads and the Eden 

valley.” 

Retirement-age people (aged 65+) shared similar responses to the above with the idea of providing 

greater cultural space in the form of a theatre, gallery or concert venue in Penrith and the 

importance of the natural landscape which attracts people to the area.  

 “This landscape is what visitors come to see and this type of landscape is one reason people 

chose to live here.” 

  

Page  42



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 31 

 

8.  Education 
 

 

Headline findings  

Overall, people across the age ranges express concerns about existing village schools and 
secondary school places.  There is a feeling that a lack of support for the existing village schools is 
a problem that needs to be addressed, and new developments will exacerbate existing concerns 
about the pressure on secondary schools, and lack of availability of places for local people.  

Developing the tertiary educational offer at Newton Rigg College while also building 
collaborations with industry and academia, or better links to the natural environment and its 
potential educational value, are all seen as issues that should be explored further. 

The concerns over education connect to those relating to infrastructure and environment, with 
comments about cycle networks that are safe for school aged children to use for commuting. 

 

The strategy document envisages three new primary schools and an additional secondary school for 

around 900 pupils. It wishes to broaden the scope of education around Penrith especially focusing 

upon environmental technology and supporting the expansion of Newton Rigg College. 

Young people (aged 11 to 24) made relatively few comments, buts some expressed concern about 

the future of the existing schools, and how the choices people made as development proceeds might 

affect them, given that some will not want to test out entirely new schools in new locations.  

Working aged people (aged 25 to 65) express concern for the lack of support for the existing village 

schools, the pressure on the existing secondary schools, with particular concern about the 

availability of school places to local people.  Ideas for the future include increased support for the 

existing village schools, and an increase in the specialisms offered at Newton Rigg College. 

Many draw links between education, transport and the natural environment, for example suggesting 

the possibility of providing a full bicycle network to access the schools as well as looking to the 

natural environment in the District for future education opportunities. 

“Good education opportunities: build more school places, provide subsidised housing for head 

teachers, increase Newton Rigg specialisms” 

“Full bicycle (protected) network to access all town schools and residential areas.” 

Retirement-aged people (aged 65+) and responses in which no age range has been identified 

broadly cover those issues discussed above, and in particular the lack of support for existing village 

schools.  In addition, mention is made of seeking out opportunities for growth or differentiation 

through the creation of centres of excellence, linking industry and academia in specific, relevant 

fields.    

 “The town schools do not have the capacity to cope.” 

“Support existing schools and education.” 

  

Page  43



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 32 

 

9.  The Beacon 
 

Headline findings  

The Beacon is as an important ‘community green asset’: residents appreciated the presence of a 

tranquil green space for leisure, relaxation and wildlife habitat close to the town. The Beacon is 

predominantly a resource for local people, a community asset, and whilst there was some 

acceptance that sympathetic development, particularly in relation to paths and access, was 

required, the overwhelming response was one of protection and preservation, in part due to its 

important role as a place of wellness – for healthy, tranquil and accessible leisure. 

 

9.1 Beacon Hill: Connections to Place 

The PSM notes the historic and cultural significance of Beacon Tower alongside the ecological and 

recreational value of Beacon Hill (henceforth both referred to as ‘the Beacon’). The PSM also notes 

that due to the ecological, visual and historical sensitivities of the site certain principles will need to 

be adopted to minimise impact should there be future development.  

‘Sense of place’ and place attachment are important considerations when development and 

landscape change is proposed. There is evidence that attachment to place strengthens concern 

about landscape change and development, and helps motivate community action and engagement.  

A key issue in landscape planning is understanding how local attitudes, perceptions and associations 

can be reflected when managing change and development; how do communities define a sense of 

place that is meaningful to them? As the PSM raises a number of options concerning developing the 

Beacon, EDC specifically focused on the Beacon as part of their consultation process.   

Five key themes emerge from our analysis of the engagement data:- ‘greenness’, ‘wildness’, 

‘community ownership’, ‘health/well-being’, and ‘develop?’.  Word clouds have been generated 

based on the most frequently occurring words (figures 9.1 – 9.5), to illustrate the opinions expressed 

through this engagement exercise, and the comments are then analysed under each theme.  

 

9.2. Greenness Theme 

Figure 9.1 Visualisation of most frequently used words relating to greenness 

 

 

Page  44



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 33 

 

 

The term 'green' is commonly used to describe anything that is ‘natural’ and ‘life-enhancing’ in the 

broadest sense. Respondents using phrases such as green space(s), green lungs, green corridor, 

‘essential green space’ ‘green shield’ and ‘green asset’ to describe the naturalness of the Beacon. 

This view was particularly strong amongst the 25-65 group who referred to the Beacon as a ‘valuable 

green space’, a ‘green area’ ‘green corridor’ and a ‘well-loved green space.’  

“The Beacon should be protected as an unspoilt green space” 

“Our iconic Beacon and green spaces should be protected” 

“Maintain Beacon Hill as an accessible green space with no building development…preserve a 

wildlife area and a site promoting health and well-being” 

“It should be kept as a green space and…acquire it all for use of local people” 

 

9.3. Wildness Theme 

Figure 9.2 Visualisation of most frequently used words relating to wildness 

 

 

 

 

Wildness is not only a quality associated with remote landscapes; it can also apply (to varying 

degrees) to green spaces in and around urban areas. The term wild was used to describe the 

naturalness of the Beacon. Respondents clearly value the wildlife and perceived naturalness of the 

Beacon, using terms like ‘wildlife’ ‘natural landscape’, ‘wild place’, ‘wild area’ ‘undeveloped’ and 

Page  45



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 34 

 

‘wild nature’. The 25-65 group mentioned how a ‘varied amount of wildlife flourished’ on the 

Beacon, it was an important ‘habitat for wildlife’, ‘a natural space’, and a ‘wild area’. Amongst the 

65+ group, the Beacon was referred to as a ‘wild place’, somewhere that was ‘natural’ and 

‘undeveloped’, ‘unsullied’ and ‘unspoilt’, and an ‘area for wildlife habitat.’  

“Just leave it alone, it’s a wild area” 

“Many animals have their homes in the forest and will be driven out by building work and 

increased footfall” 

“The Beacon should remain a wild place…for limited quiet use by walkers…but for the wildlife 

more than these visitors” 

 

9.4. Heath & Well-being Theme 

Figure 9.3     Visualisation of most frequently used words relating to health and wellbeing in 

relation to the Beacon 

 

 

 

 

Research on the health and well-being effects of green space has been rapidly expanding over the 

past decades, and that there is good evidence that regular contact with green space can enhance 

well-being and alleviate stress, and may even mitigate income-related health inequalities regarding 

chronic diseases and life expectancy.  

There was an appreciation of the ‘peace’ and ‘tranquillity’ of the Beacon; it was a ‘valuable 

recreational area’ for ‘walking’ and ‘relaxing’, crucial to the ‘health’ and ‘well-being of Penrith’. 

Across the 25-65 group, people commented on the ‘unique tranquil’ character of the Beacon, an 

Page  46



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 35 

 

‘idyllic’ place ‘local people can enjoy’. The 65+ commented most on health and well-being, focusing 

on the importance of ‘public access for walking’ for those ‘prepared to respect it’.  

“It’s a place of peace people can go which is a rare gem so close to a town” 

 “[Risk] losing unique tranquil areas that conserve and support local wildlife” 

“The Beacon forest gives Penrith such an important landmark and place for leisure and 

relaxation” 

 

9.5. Community Ownership Theme 

Figure 9.4 Visualisation of most frequently used words relating to community ownership 
 

 
 

 

Whilst there was recognition that the Beacon was private land, there was a strong sense that this 

was a community asset and was de facto under public/community ownership. This was also a 

‘forward-looking’ perspective; the Beacon should remain ‘wild for generations to come’, ‘unspoilt for 

future generations’. It is a local ‘gem’, an ‘icon’ for the ‘citizens of Penrith.’ There was also perceived 

need to take the Beacon ‘back into public ownership’, ‘it should be a resource for local people, 

unspoilt for future generations.’ Similarly, the 25-65 group spoke of the Beacon as somewhere the 

‘town people have loved for generations’, ‘a public space’ of important ‘community heritage.’  

“[Register it] as a community asset, public open space” 

“Maintaining the Beacon as a haven for wildlife and a special place for future generations” 

“It should be a resource for locals who are prepared to respect it and make an effort, not a tourist 

attraction or community leisure facility” 

 

Page  47



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 36 

 

9.6. Develop? Theme 

Figure 9.4 Visualisation of most frequently used words relating to development 

 

 

 

Whilst some respondents recognised the need to ‘improve public access’ and ‘repair footpaths’, 

there were many concerns that inappropriate development could ‘spoil or ruin’ the Beacon and that 

it was an area worthy of ‘protection’ and ‘preservation’. It should be ‘kept’, ‘protected’, ‘maintained’ 

as a ‘green space’. The ‘community doesn’t want packaged nature or ‘interpretation’.  

The need to protect the Beacon was strongest amongst the 65+ group, who raised concerns about 

inappropriate ‘interpretations and ‘additional infrastructure, the area should not become ‘a tourist 

attraction.’ Whilst there were similar sentiments amongst the 25-65 group, there was also a 

recognition that the area could be ‘enhanced’ and ‘access improved’ by creating and/or improving 

‘paths’.  

“Retain public spaces and wildlife, e.g. the Beacon” 

“I find it very depressing that development on the Beacon would even be considered an option” 

“Creating Country Parks…is unnecessary if Beacon Hill is left as an area for wildlife habitat”  

  

Page  48



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 37 

 

9.7. Summary  

Beacon Hill exerts a strong sense of place in Penrith. A well-recognised town landmark that dates 

back to 1296, it has forewarned of numerous Scottish and Reiver raids over the subsequent 

centuries. To borrow from Escobar (2001), we were interested in how Penrith residents encounter 

the Beacon, perceive the Beacon and endow the Beacon with significance.  

The relationship between people and place is important for individual and community identity; there 

are often deep emotional and psychological ties between people and place, and this relationship is 

part of the complex processes through which individuals and communities define themselves and 

where they live (Convery et al, 2012).  

In effect, place is bound up in people’s sources of meaning and experience; people and their 

environments, places and identities are mutually constructed and constituted (Harvey, 2001). Sense 

of place may be derived from the natural environment, but it is more often made up of a mix of 

natural and cultural features in the landscape. As Casey (1996: 18) indicates, ‘to live is to live locally, 

and to know is first of all to know the places one is in’. Thus, sense of place in landscape can be 

defined by strong human-made and natural features that define a mood in the landscape and can 

provide a sense of place that affects large areas. For example, the Angel of the North sculpture has 

become a symbol of entry to the Gateshead/Newcastle area (Roe, 2012). 

The Beacon is seen by the people of Penrith as a ‘community asset’, a ‘tranquil’ ‘green space’, a 

‘wild area’ that is important to ‘protect’.  

There is evidence of a strong connection to place, and whilst this requires further study, such a 

perspective presents both challenges and opportunities for EDC. When planning new developments 

or landscape change it is important (and often challenging) to consider how to conserve existing 

sense of place, sometimes built up over many years, in highly valued landscapes (Roe, 2012). Similar 

to Sanna & Eja (2017) we note how the character of the Beacon seems to give rise to feelings of 

connectedness and sense of place, people clearly feel passionate about the Beacon, and it is highly 

valued as an asset for the town and community. There is also an apparent ‘intergenerational 

connectedness’ to the Beacon that is worthy of further study. 

Both the 2018 DEFRA 25 Year Plan and the 2015 UN Sustainable Development Goals highlight the 

benefits of community engagement with nature, and in particular the need for ‘place-based decision 

making’ to empower local communities to engage with, and cherish, natural heritage. This presents 

an opportunity for EDC to develop a different approach to community engagement and to build a 

trusting and genuinely collaborative relationship with local communities - spanning individuals, 

landowners, business, community groups and others - to co-develop the Beacon. Linked to this, 

there is also a need for further research to understand how specific groups (age, gender, ethnicity, 

etc.) and communities perceive and value the Beacon.  

 

 

 

 

  

Page  49



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 38 

 

10.  Health & wellbeing 
 

 

Headline findings  

The strongest theme to emerge is that there should be more accessible green space in Penrith.  
People aged 11-24 have expressed a desire for “more parks and public spaces” with this 
continuously re-iterated in the responses from across the age categories. We can also see a call 
to “Improve, link and add to public green spaces” along with a broader goal of creating more 
open spaces, of whatever kind, for people to socialise in. 

There are also concerns over healthcare facilities.  This frequently occurring theme relates to 
both existing and planned services in the area, with numerous calls for “investment in the local 
hospital and facilities”. 

The strategy document proposes a range of ideas to support healthier lifestyles, such as better cycle 
lanes and walkways, as well as a more general increase in the provision of health services that would 
be in line with the increasing population.  The key themes emerging from the engagement data in 
relation to this are summarised below.   

Young people (aged 11 to 24) focussed very much on the provision of public open space, retaining 
and protecting existing spaces, and increasing the amount of public open space in the Eden area.  

Working-age people (aged 25 to 65) show a strong concern for preserving the natural environment 
and the existing public open spaces, again with a desire to increase the amount of accessible green 
space.  This desire for community spaces and more community interaction extends beyond green 
space, however.  Ideas suggested include more events in the town centre, the creation of a 
dedicated arts and cultural centre, and the creation of a woodland play area.    

Support was shown for the idea of greenways connecting in to the town from surrounding villages, 
and the need for more careful infrastructure planning being linked to health and wellbeing concerns.  
However, concerns were raised about the impact of growth on communities already in place. 

With increasing concerns nationally about food provenance, Eden’s agricultural strength was 
highlighted through a suggestion to support local food self-sufficiency in the District.  

Retirement-age people (aged 65+) shared similar concerns to the groups above, with an increased 
focus on the need for the creation of more open spaces where people can socialise.  This chimes 
with other comments about the lack of a central park or green space in the town of Penrith. 

 
“I would like to see walking groups on the Beacon, for parents and toddlers, older people, people with 
mental health problems.” 
 
“Look at Sheffield with its green wedges to see how green routes into a town or city can make it a 
great place to live and consequently prosper.” 

 
  

Page  50



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 39 

 

11.  Transport, utilities & infrastructure 
 

 

Headline findings  

There is not one overarching theme which presents itself as the most prominent amongst 
responses, but rather, a range of ideas and concerns. There are broad concerns about traffic 
management and the limitations of existing, or even future infrastructure to cope with the 
proposed expansion.  Some suggest a focus on development along the A6/M6 and A66 corridor in. 
Responses also seek support for pedestrian and cycle-focused infrastructure around and beyond 
town centre, with suggestion of a cycle network between the schools and residential areas. 

 

The strategy document discusses congestion in the centre of Penrith and on other main roads, and 

the need to address this as part of a broader review that includes the upgrading of the A6/M6 

junction, and the better utilisation of junction 41 of the motorway.    In relation to utilities and 

infrastructure, there is a strong focus on sustainable technologies including solar and underground 

heat sources, linked to more community-centre power generation approaches. 

Young people (aged 11 to 24) provide a low number of responses, but do suggest that money 

should be invested in the existing town and not diverted to that proposed Beacon villages, as they 

are located further away from Penrith and have an inferior road infrastructure.  

Working aged people (aged 25 to 65) are concerned that it will be difficult to resist a supermarket 

development in the villages, which will then detract from Penrith town centre.  There are, again, 

broad themes relating to the cultural and environmental infrastructure of the existing and expanded 

town, with suggestion for an arts centre and better environmental considerations. Some see the 

A6/M6 and A66 corridors as the ideal locations for future developments.  Many respondents 

comment on walking and cycling infrastructure, wanting more pedestrian crossings in busy areas 

outside of the town centre and more public footpaths and cycle ways direct from the town centre. 

“Establish a master plan which retains the Beacon as it is, allocates appropriate residential and 
commercial building land, and invests in appropriate transport infrastructure” 
 
“Far better to build on the current strong sense of community and belonging, and expand in 
adjacent areas along the A6/M6 corridor, giving easier access to existing facilities” 

 

Retirement aged people (aged 65+) and those who did not disclose their age continue the themes 

above. Concerns are raised that there are physical limits to existing infrastructure, which will be 

unable to cope with an increase in the population, and the impacts of the new industrial area. An 

idea for the future includes ensuring money is spent on infrastructure to ensure that there is no 

impact on Penrith from any development plans. Some respondents suggest that a more sustainable 

approach is required, focussing on green infrastructure and sustainable transport. 

“Penrith infrastructure is inadequate for large increase in population” 
 
“Any development on this scale should be taken as an opportunity to do things very differently, 
underpinned by green infrastructure and active, sustainable transport” 
 

Page  51



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 40 

 

 

12.  Conclusions: What is valuable in Eden 
 

 

During this engagement process the residents of Eden have given some clear information to their 

council about what they value.  Our analysis reveals some important issues of concern, issues that 

are reflected in other data and analysis that EDC has either commission or gathered informally.  

However, it is important to note that this process focussed on individuals rather than businesses.  

This means that whatever we conclude from this report, we need to be aware that more needs to be 

done to understand how these ideas connect with the needs and plans of the business community.   

There is already increasing collaboration between EDC, the Town Council, the town BIDs and Penrith 

Chamber of Trade.  We have also been involved in co-hosting business events in collaboration with 

the Chamber and EDC.  As the ideas coming from residents are turned into themed projects or 

priorities, the impact on business always needs to be assessed if we are to protect and build a 

thriving economy.  Yet the tensions between the apparent needs of business, for example the desire 

for a much larger potential workforce, and the concerns of residents about where those people will 

live and in what kinds of houses, need to be openly discussed and carefully addressed as we move 

towards a review of the Local Plan. This document remains one of the key levers that EDC can use to 

address serious demographic issues in the region, and at the same time respond to central 

government priorities and processes in relation to housing and growth.  

The rest of these conclusions proceed in two sections: First, we look at the priority themes emerging 

from the evidence and their implications for regional policy making; Second, we consider the wider 

policy landscape within which these key themes are located. 

 

12.1 Priority Themes 

12.1.1 Environment 

There is a strong sense that the Beacon is fundamental piece of the town’s history and identity, and 

should be preserved for residents in its current form, perhaps with sensitive development that 

improves access for those seeking to enjoy it as a forest park.  This is part of a wider concern for 

access to the environment and to green spaces: there is strong demand for open space, green space, 

and high quality green infrastructure connecting those spaces to the town centre.  This desire for 

better low-carbon connectivity spans a range of issues, including better pavements and pedestrian 

crossings, pedestrianisation of the centre, and cycle lanes that give easier and safer access to the 

natural environments and national parks that surround the town.   

In summary, we can see a collective desire for Penrith to become more of a green hub that works on 

multiple spatial scales: from its centre to the nearby forest of the Beacon, to its rural hinterland.  

Such improvements would be felt by residents but also by visitors, and in turn by those businesses 

that could benefit from greater tourism in the town and nearby villages. 

  

Page  52



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 41 

 

12.1.2 Town Centre 

There is a strong theme through all the data telling us that Penrith Town Centre is of great concern 

and great importance to residents of Eden.  The empty stores, perception that the town is less 

vibrant and less appealing to residents and visitors alike, and the specific issues of parking and access 

are all concerns.  Respondents very much want to see a wide range of independent stores in the 

town, maintaining a sense of uniqueness that to some extent separates Penrith from the carbon-

copy high streets that dominate the UK, Europe and the USA now. 

The ability of Penrith to achieve renewed levels of vibrancy is raised by many respondents, who 

make many suggestions.  Possibly the strongest themes relate to the need for more places and 

activities that act as anchor institutions in the town.  These would not be the giant anchor stores of 

the shopping malls, but instead something that is in keeping with the community and surrounding 

environment: flagship events like the Winter Droving, regular markets that are well supported and 

promoted, a more prominent visitor hub that links us to the nearby national parks, and a cultural 

centre that draws in tourists day and night whilst also providing places for local people to practice 

and perform.    

In summary, the success of the town centre is not only relevant for the retail business that operate 

within it – the success of the centre is the single most important issue that residents want to see EDC 

focus on, alongside the preservation of key natural assets. 

 

12.1.3 Housing and Growth  

There are real and significant concerns about the implications of growth for existing residents.  The 

location of the proposed villages was one contentious issue, but equally significant appears to be the 

likely impact of population growth on health provision, education and traffic flows.  Aside from these 

concerns about infrastructure are issues relating to the impact of new developments on the centre 

of Penrith, and on the communities and social structures that currently operate through that centre.  

There is strong support for the idea of affordable housing, with an affordability measure that is 

related to income levels rather than average house price levels.  Yet, there is little desire to see 

significant building, and most positive comments about the creation of new homes is in relation to 

the conversation of underutilised, existing building stock in the town. 

These concerns present a challenge to both EDC and to business to think about how growth is 

achieved through improved productivity, rather than through population growth attached to 

relatively low wage work.  This suggests a need to focus on supporting innovation (in existing 

industries) and on creating new hubs of enterprise that attract different, higher skilled and higher 

wage employment.  We have seen clear links being drawn between the ability to attract such 

businesses and the wider cultural and environmental offering of Penrith and Eden.  This is a complex 

picture of economic development, one that looks very different from the housing-led growth 

philosophy that underpinned the original PSM proposals. It is an approach that requires a deep 

understanding of the relationships between the economic, cultural and environmental systems that 

exist in our region.  Then with this understanding, EDC will need to draw together a wide range of 

individuals and organisations, and co-ordinate them in new ways to deliver a holistic growth strategy 

for Eden District.  

 

Page  53



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 42 

 

12.2 Policy Landscape 

The findings and conclusions drawn from this report need to be interpreted in light of a rapidly 

changing national and international context, shaped by issues such as Brexit, increased concerns 

over the UK’s productivity, and the impact of society on the climate and other environmental 

concerns. Predicting future policy landscapes is difficult, but we do want to highlight some key policy 

initiatives that are likely to influence the development and implementation of any sustainable, 

strategic plan for the future of Penrith and Eden.  

Given the predominantly rural character of the Eden Valley, the 2019 DEFRA Agriculture Bill and the 

forthcoming Environment Bill (building on the DEFRA 25 Year Plan) are likely to have a significant 

policy impact on the area.  The preamble to the Agriculture Bill notes that ‘providing public goods 

will help manage and mitigate the effects of climate change…[and] will leave the environment in a 

better state than we found it…helping to deliver promises set out in the government’s 25 Year 

Environment Plan.’  In practice, the intention is to ensure that developers (of housing and 

infrastructure) ensure habitats for wildlife are enhanced and left in a measurably better state than 

they were pre-development (a concept called ‘net gain’). They must assess the type of habitat and 

its condition before submitting plans, then demonstrate how they are improving biodiversity – such 

as through the creation of green corridors, planting more trees, or forming local nature spaces. 

Green improvements on site would be encouraged, but where they are not possible, developers 

must pay a levy for habitat creation or improvement elsewhere.  Central government’s intentions 

are clear, and seem to be very much in line with the conclusions we have drawn in this report about 

what Eden residents value:  

“Biodiversity net gain, in combination with future Green Infrastructure Standards, has the potential 

to ensure that an increasing proportion of new homes have access to natural spaces and wildlife 

within walking distance. This brings health and wellbeing benefits…access to public green space is an 

important factor in connecting people with nature and tackling obesity...living in greener 

environments is associated with reduced mortality.” 

There is also a strong focus on place-based decision making in both the 2018 DEFRA 25 Year Plan and 

the 2015 UN Sustainable Development Goals.  They highlight the benefits of community engagement 

and stress the need to empower local communities to get involved in natural ecosystem initiatives. 

Residents’ strong sense of connection to Penrith and Eden has been a key theme of this report, and 

looking ahead, the Government clearly sees biodiversity net gain as an important driver of local 

planning and place making. They will seek to ensure improvements in the design quality of 

residential developments, as well as the provision of environmental amenities (e.g. urban 

woodlands, green spaces and parks).  This presents an opportunity for EDC to take forward the ideas 

and values explored in this report, along with its other bodies of evidence, and work with 

communities to shape policies that work both locally and nationally.  Policies which should be 

capable of positioning Eden as a vibrant, healthy and innovative location to live and work.  

 

  

Page  54



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 43 

 

Appendix I:  

Report No:   
Eden District Council 

Executive  
4 December 2018  

Penrith Strategic Masterplan  
Public Engagement Update 

 

Portfolio: Eden Development  
Report from: Deputy Director Technical Services 
Wards: Penrith North, Penrith East, Penrith Carlton, Penrith West, 

Penrith Pategill, Penrith South, Langwathby, Eamont, and Kirby 
Thore 

OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

1 Purpose 
1.1 To provide an update on the public engagement for the Penrith Strategic 

Masterplan which was concluded on 2 November 2018 and the intended next 
steps required to inform a review of the Eden Local Plan.  

2 Recommendation 
2.1 That progress on the scale and depth of the community engagement process 

for the Penrith Strategic Masterplan, and the next steps in moving towards a 
review (in full or in part) of the Eden Local Plan are noted. 
 

3 Report Details 
3.1 in December 2016, the Leader and Political Group Leaders of the council and, 

the Leader Penrith town Council agreed vision for the council to look beyond 
the current Local Plan to 2050 and produced a discussion paper: Vision and 
Opportunities for Eden to 2050.  

3.2 In October 2017 the Executive approved a supplementary estimate of £45,000 
to commission a Strategic Masterplan for Penrith. The intention was for the 
Masterplan to provide a spatial framework for new development, showing the 
opportunities and benefits of this growth, whilst also enabling the area to 
retain its character and quality of place. 

3.3 in January 2018 following a competitive tendering exercise of work to develop 
the strategic masterplan the Penrith was awarded to Land Use Consultants 
Ltd (LUC). The scope of work by the consultants comprised four stages: 

 Stage 1 – Project inception, familiarisation and engagement strategy 

 Stage 2 – Demonstrating needing growth 

Page  55



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 44 

 

 Stage 3 – Spatial implications 

 Stage 4 – Preferred option 
3.4  At the conclusion of each stage, LUC provided a presentation to a stakeholder 

group comprising the Chief Executive, Council Leader, Leaders of the four 
Main Political Groups, representatives of Penrith Town Council, a landowner’s 
group representative and a representative from Rory Stewart’s office. A final 
draft masterplan was presented to the stakeholder group on 30 May 2018 and 
due to the complexity of this report a further round of consultation was 
undertaken with the stakeholder group. As a consequence further work was 
required to refine this draft which culminated in the production of the Penrith 
Strategic Masterplan: Technical Appraisal at the beginning of August. 

3.5 The Council also received £250,000 from the Government to support multi- 
agency working on reviewing infrastructure and associated issues in relation 
to the future growth of Penrith. This has assisted in undertaking and 
commissioning the work necessary to take the Masterplan forward, such as 
the production of a Strategic Food Risk Assessment (SFRA) and an update of 
the Penrith Transport (Saturn) Model. 

3.6 The SFRA although district wide is focused on Penrith and is considering the 
potential implications for development of the 32 sites around Penrith which 
were part of the ‘optioneering’ process within the LUC ‘Technical Appraisal’. 
This is expected to be completed at the beginning of 2019. The Penrith 
Transport (Saturn) Model will be the model used to analyse transport data and 
forecast growth scenarios within and around Penrith. An update of the ‘Saturn’ 
model was commissioned in February this year and is expected to be 
completed in January 2019. The model will be available to assess the impact 
of new development coming forward through the masterplan and appraise 
their potential transport requirements and this process is expected to be 
completed by March 2019. 

3.7 During the stage of the stakeholder review meetings, it was agreed that the 
Penrith Strategic Masterplan: Vision 2050 would be the subject of an eight-
week community engagement exercise to bring the plan forward into the 
public domain, and to seek the views of residents of Penrith and Eden.   
 
The Community Engagement Exercise 

3.8 The engagement exercise commenced 10 September and concluded on the 2 
November, with preceding press releases appearing in the local press 
commencing from the 7 September, in addition to a half page advert and an 
advert in the public notices section of the Cumberland and Westmorland 
Herald on 8 September. All such information within the press confirmed the 
form and nature of the community engagement process, together with non-
statutory status of the Masterplan. 

3.9 The engagement exercise was resource intensive and comprised of the use 
of a ‘Pop-up Shop’ at 3 Middlegate Penrith, during September and a series of 
‘’Pop-up events’ both within Penrith and around Eden during October. This 
comprised: 

Page  56



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 45 

 

 Penrith ‘Pop-up Shop’ (Series of 7 display boards with a ‘Graffiti wall’ for 
observations, information leaflets and brochures, manned by at least two 
officers to answer questions and promote engagement). 
Monday 10th September 10am – 4am and 6pm – 8pm 
Wednesday 12 September 10am – 4pm and 6pm – 8pm 
Thursday 13 September 10am – 3pm 
Saturday 15th September 10am – 2pm 
Tuesday 18th September 10am – 4pm 
Thursday 20th September 10am – 4pm 
Monday 24th September 10am – 4pm 
Wednesday 26 September 10am 4pm  
Friday 28 September 10am – 4pm 

 ‘Pop up Events (Series of  display boards depending on size of venue with 
postcards for observations, leaflets and brochures manned by one or more 
officers to answer questions and promote engagement). 
Monday 1 October - Kirkby Stephen Local Links 10am – 1pm 
Wednesday 3 October - Penrith Leisure Centre 5pm - 7pm 
Thursday 4 October - Alston Local Links10am – 1pm 
Thursday 4 October - Langwathby 2pm – 6pm 
Friday 5 October - Lazonby Co-Op 10am -4pm 
Monday 8 October - Ullswater community college 10.20am – 11.20am 
Monday 8 October - Ullswater community college 12.45pm – 1.30pm 
Tuesday 9 October – Gt Salkeld 10.30am – 12.30pm 
Tuesday 9 October – Newton Rigg 5pm – 6.30pm 
Tuesday 9 October – Scaws Residents Group 6.45pm – 8pm 
Wednesday 10 October - Ullswater community college 11.25am – 12.35pm 
Thursday 11 October – Appleby Hub 10am – 2pm  
Saturday 13 October - Penrith Leisure Centre 9.45am - 3pm 
Wednesday 17 October – Newbiggin Village Hall 1.15pm – 4.00pm  
Wednesday 17 October – Pategill Simm Court 6.30pm – 8pm 
Tuesday 30 October - Penrith Leisure Centre 5pm - 7pm 
 

3.10 Over the engagement period the Penrith ‘Pop up Shop’ was visited by some 
997 people and was the subject of a protest group demonstration on the first 
day.  In addition, some 242 comments were made on the ‘Graffiti wall’, which 
ranged from short expressions (NO! and other brief statements), and single 
observations through to a series of multiple comments by single individuals. 

Page  57



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 46 

 

3.11 The response to the 15 ‘pop-up events’ varied enormously from those at 
Kirkby Stephen, Appleby and Alston which were visited by between1 and 8 
people, to small groups around Penrith of between 8-10 and Ullswater 
community college where the three events attracted a total of some 260 
young people. The ‘Pop-up event’ at Langwathby was the most successful 
rural event attracting some 42 people.  As no ‘Graffiti wall’ was available at 
these mobile events interested parties were asked to fill in postcards which 
had a ‘tick box’ response for the preferred level of growth and whether there 
was agreement or not to proposals for Housing, Employment and the Beacon, 
together with an open comments box.  Overall, some 230 postcards were 
received of which about 50% included individual responses.   

3.12 In addition, during the engagement period the Council ran a dedicated 
website which included maps, documents and information relating to 
masterplan, updated news releases, frequently asked questions and answers 
(FAQs) and a survey monkey which included both tick box responses and a 
series of open comment boxes. The Council also provided a dedicated email 
address relating to the masterplan to enable residents to contact the policy 
team directly. The survey monkey has attracted 667 responses. 

3.13  In response to the dedicated Local Plan email address has had some 72 
responses from the public, in addition to 14 consultation responses from 
consultees such as Cumbria County Council and United Utilities and the 
Environment Agency etc. The dedicated Local Plan email address has also 
confirmed that 79 respondents specifically wish to be kept informed of 
progress on the strategic masterplan.   

3.14 The Council also ran in a dedicated Facebook page and tweets through the 
corporate Twitter account, enabling contact and discussion through these 
media sources. 

3.15 Two petitions have been received by the council. The first petition submitted 
by ‘Friend of the Beacon’ confirmed that ‘we the ‘’friends of Penrith Beacon’’ 
petition Eden District Council to take the necessary action for all of the 
Beacon Forest to remain as it is now, a wild place with no development and 
accessibility to all residents’, has some 2557 signatories.  In accordance with 
the constitution, as this petition contains more than 500 signatories, it was the 
subject of a debate by Council on 8 of November 2018, but did not have a 
formal resolution.  This petition was received shortly after Lowther Estate’s 
formally withdrew the Beacon Forest Area from the Masterplan proposals. 

3.16 A second submission, comprising of prepaid postcards containing statements 
and comments, an online petition containing a statement of objection and a 
series of signed petition sheets, reflecting the online petition, has been 
received as a formal petition from ‘Keep Penrith Special’ (KPS). The terms of 
the petition is similar to that of the postcards, making both statements and 
demands, under a heading ‘Keep Penrith Special – Reject the Penrith 
Masterplan’.  

3.17 In all 1,336 postcards were received at both the town hall and the Mansion 
house, together with the online petition containing 1739 signatories and 331 
signed petitions sheets. It is understood from KPS that any online or paper 
submissions from outside the area of Eden have been discounted and total 

Page  58



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 47 

 

some 588, although this has not been verified. From an initial sample 
inspection of the postcards it would seem that somewhere in the order of 40% 
have comments attached (possibly some 534 with comments). The petition 
from KPS was received out of time to be considered for debate by Council on 
8 of November 2018. Accordingly, this petition will be debated by Council at 
their next meeting on the 10 January 2019. 

3.18  The scale of response to the recent engagement has been significant with 
some 7,174 responses in total, the vast majority of which being the petitions 
received from ‘Friends of the Beacon’ (2,557) and ‘KPS’ (3,406).  The 
remainder (1,238) being in the form of comments from the ‘Graffiti wall’ and 
postcards received during the ‘Pop up events’ over the  two month 
engagement process, together with emails to our designated masterplan 
email address. 

3.18  In addition to the above the Council has commissioned independent market 
research company to undertake survey of 250 residents within Penrith about 
the general objectives contained within the Strategic Masterplan proposals. 
The results of this are currently awaited.   

 
The next steps 
3.19 The next phase of the process will be to assess the results of the engagement 

process, taking into account the responses from consultees such as Cumbria 
County Council, Highways England, Environment Agency, National Grid etc. 
and the conclusions from the ‘Saturn’ traffic modelling for Penrith and the 
strategic flood risk assessment. This is part of a long process that will develop 
over the forthcoming months to be concluded in the early part 2019. 

3.20 The petition received by ‘KPS’ will be the subject of debate by Council on 10 
January 2019. This will also be an opportunity to bring members up-to-date 
with progress on assessing the results of the engagement process, together 
with other associated information. 

 
4 Policy Framework 
4.1 The Council has four corporate priorities which are: 

 Decent Homes for All; 

 Strong Economy, Rich Environment; 

 Thriving Communities; and 

 Quality Council 

5 Consultation 
5.1 At the different stages of the development of the Strategic Masterplan, 

presentations have been given to the stakeholder group, who have been 
involved in it’s development as it moved towards it’s final draft at the end of 
May 2018 and a further consultation round in June. Following the 
development of the Penrith Strategic Masterplan: Technical Analysis by LUC 
the officer working group has developed the Masterplan Vision to 2050 which 

Page  59



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 48 

 

has been subject of an extensive eight week community engagement exercise 
concluding on second of November 2018.  

  

6 Implications 
6.1 Financial and Resources 
6.1.1 Any decision to reduce or increase resources or alternatively increase income 

must be made within the context of the Council’s stated priorities, as set out in 
its Council Plan 2015-19 as agreed at Council on 17 September 2015. 

6.1.2 There are no proposals in this report that would reduce or increase resources. 
The funding approved in 2017 – 2018 has been rolled forward 2018 – 2019 
(Ref F24/18; Executive 3 April 2018)  

6.2 Legal 
6.2.1 in accordance with the planning and compulsory purchase act 2004 (as 

amended), the Council has a statutory duty to prepare planning policies, 
which has been reinforced through the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF July 2018) and the Localism Act 2011. 

6.2.2  The proposed Penrith Strategic Masterplan currently has no formal status and 
is not intended to be part of the current local plan. The Eden Local Plan has 
just completed a separate lengthy process leading to its adoption on 11 
October 2018. The Penrith Strategic Masterplan has become a vision to be 
used by Council (in its current or amended form) to inform a review of the 
Eden Local Plan (in full or in part ) which is required to be considered in any 
case under the regulations on the five yearly basis, as an extension to the 
local plan beyond 2032 and for future decision-making 

6.3 Human Resources 
6.3.1 There are no human resources implications arising out of this proposal. 
6.4 Statutory Considerations 

Consideration: Details of any implications and proposed 
measures to address: 

Equality and Diversity It is too early in the process to be assess any 
equality and diversity implications arising out of 
the proposals within this report. 

Health, Social 
Environmental and 
Economic Impact 

There are clearly likely to be health, social, 
environmental and economic impacts, but it is too 
early in the process to identify what those 
impacts are likely to be. 

Crime and Disorder Any proposals within the masterplan would need 
to consider the need to reduce crime and 
disorder. 

Children and 
Safeguarding 

There will be requirements to provide adequate 
infrastructure in terms of schools, nurseries, 
healthcare provision and a safe and healthy 

Page  60



 

Eden Vision: Analysis & Insight, May 2019 Page 49 

 

environment as part of the proposals within the 
Masterplan. 

6.5 Risk Management 

Risk Consequence Controls Required 
Eden will continue to 
grow beyond the 
current Eden Local 
Plan period to 2032 
and there is no clear 
long term strategic 
masterplan beyond that 
date 

The district could lose 
out on opportunities to 
grow the economy and 
maintain the 
sustainability of existing 
communities 

To have a long-term 
plan for supporting 
transformational long-
term economic growth 

7 Other Options Considered 
7.1 The sites which have been identified for development within both the Penrith 

Strategic Masterplan: Technical Analysis and the Vision to 2050 have been 
the subject of an optioneering  exercise involving 32 sites in and around 
Penrith which supported the current proposal. 

8 Reasons for the Decision/Recommendation 
8.1 To update the Executive on the scale and depth of the community 

engagement process for the Penrith Strategic Masterplan and to identify the 
next steps in moving towards a review (in full or in part) of the Eden Local 
Plan. 

Tracking Information 

Governance Check Date Considered 
Chief Finance Officer (or Deputy)  
Monitoring Officer (or Deputy)  
Relevant Assistant Director  

Background Papers:  
Appendices:  
Contact Officer:  
NB:  Report author to note that: 

 Reports for Council and Executive are always considered by Management Team; 

 Where appropriate, reports for Committees should also be considered by Management 
Team; 

 Portfolio Holders should be consulted on reports to the Executive that are within their 
Portfolio; and 

 Ward Members should be consulted on proposals that have a significant effect on their 
ward. 

Page  61



1 | P a g e  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Eden District Council 

Consultation on Penrith Strategic Masterplan 

FACE TO FACE SURVEY 

Report of Findings 

Undertaken by  

   

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page  62



                                             

2 | P a g e  

 

CONTENTS 

A Executive Summary of Main Findings ...................................................... 3 

B Background and Introduction .................................................................. 5 

C Survey Findings 

 C1 Making Penrith a Better Place to Live, Work and Visit (open question) ....... 7 

C2 Challenges Faced by Penrith (open question) ............................................... 8 

C3 Making Penrith a Better Place to Live .......................................................... 10 

C4 Important Considerations When Locating New Housing ............................ 11 

C5 Creating a Vibrant New Community ............................................................ 12 

C6 Proposed New Settlements ......................................................................... 14 

C7 Other Areas Considered for Housing Development .................................... 15 

C8 Other Considerations (open question) ........................................................ 16 

 

Appendices 

Marked up Questionnaire with Top-line Findings 

Tables of Results 

Responses to Open Questions 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page  63



3 | P a g e  

 Section A – Executive Summary of Main Findings 

  Making Penrith a Better Place to Live, Work and Visit 

A1 More or better shopping facilities (33%) was the most mentioned aspect that would make 

Penrith a better place to live work and visit with one third of all respondents spontaneously 

mentioning this. Parking, (13%); transport and traffic and leisure facilities (both 9%), were the 

next most mentioned developments. 

Housing was mentioned by only 8% of the overall sample with 5% of respondents spontaneously 

responding in relation to reducing the amount of building of new properties and 3% more 

housing is required.  

Challenges Faced by Penrith 

A2 Shopping facilities were the most mentioned ‘challenge’ – 20% of the overall sample mentioned 

this. 14% of respondents spontaneously mentioned their concerns about housing developments. 

These concerns were partly concerns about there being insufficient infrastructure to support 

such developments and partly related to changes to the nature of the town – from rural to 

urban. One in ten of all respondents (10%) were concerned about the local economy and 

concerns about infrastructure – specifically relating to health and education facilities - were 

mentioned by 8% of respondents. 

Making Penrith a Better Place to Live 

A3 ‘Enhancing Penrith town centre’ was the most popular response with nearly half of all 

respondents, (48%), selecting this when asked what should be done. Over four in ten 

respondents however also chose the option to ‘increase the amount of highly skilled job 

opportunities’, (44%); and ‘ensure there are enough homes to meet the needs of the local 

population’, (41%). Only 3% said that they believed ‘nothing needs to be done’ and a further 3% 

that they ‘did not know or were not sure’.  

Important Considerations When Locating New Housing in Eden 

A4  Most important to respondents was that any new development should be in a low flood risk area 

with 59% of all respondents identifying this as important. Secondly, and mentioned by 45% of 

respondents, was the development should ‘avoid impact on historical landmarks. Similarly, that 

development should ‘avoid places of significant environmental importance’ was mentioned by 

nearly a third of all respondents, (32%).  

 Creating a Vibrant New Community 

A5 Most important were health services, (64%) and good education facilities, (58%). Also mentioned 

by more than half of all respondents were ‘a wide range of job opportunities’, (53%); and a ‘wide 

range of homes suitable and affordable for all stages of life’, (51%). Half of all respondents 

identified ‘public transport that is accessible for all’, (50%); with ‘leisure and community facilities’ 

being identified as important elements by almost half of the sample, (47%).  

Page  64



                                             

4 | P a g e  

 

Location of Proposed New Settlements 

A6 Respondents were shown a leaflet produced by the council showing the locations of the 

proposed new settlements and were given time to review them. Then respondents were asked 

the extent to which they agreed or disagreed with the proposed locations.  Over half of all 

respondents asserted that they disagreed with the location of the proposed new settlements, 

(51%). Just 23% of respondents said that they agreed and 26% were not sure.  

Other Areas to be Reconsidered / Assessed in More Detail 

A7 28% of respondents said that they did not know whether the sites shown on the leaflet given to 

them  should be reconsidered and 24% that none of the sites listed should be reconsidered.  

Three locations were more popular in respect of future reconsideration and assessment. These 

were: 

 North West of Junction 41 of the M6 (Catterlen) (21%) 

 West of M6 between Junction 41 and B5708 (21%) 

 East of Penrith (Carleton)  (18%) 

However these were selected only by circa one in five of all respondents.  

 

 

Page  65



                                             

5 | P a g e  

 

SECTION B – Background and Introduction 

B1 Eden District Council is consulting on a Strategic Masterplan for Penrith and the surrounding area 

based on the original Penrith Vision Document. The Strategic Masterplan proposes the 

development of three new villages to the North East of Penrith with a total of 5,500 new houses, 

associated social and green infrastructure and the potential for a new road.  

B2 An eight week public engagement was carried out by the Council (10th September to 2nd 

November 2018) to gauge the public’s views about proposals on how Penrith could grow over 

the next 32 years until 2050. As part of this public engagement NWA Social and Market Research 

Ltd. was commissioned to carry out a face to face survey with 250 residents in postcode in areas 

where response to online engagement is traditionally low. These areas were identified by LUC 

(Land Use Company) in their project plan for consultation as ‘financially stretched and urban 

adversity postcode locations’ and mapped by LUC in their document ‘Penrith Strategic 

Masterplan Engagement Plan’, (July 2018). These were identified as being in the following 

locations: 

 Castletown 

 Pategill and Penrith New Squares 

 Scaws 

 Townhead 

 Wetheriggs 

In addition the following areas were also included in the survey: 

 Beacon Edge 

 Carleton 

B3 Street lists were provided to identify the locations and quotas were set both on age and gender 

(using ONS statistics) and on the number of properties in each area in order that the survey 

would be broadly representative of the areas of interest. Surveys were carried out between the 

22nd October and 2nd of November using a questionnaire developed in conjunction with the 

client. A copy of the questionnaire marked up with top line findings is attached as Appendix 1.  

B4 Data from the completed questionnaires has been analysed to tables using the following cross 

breaks: area of interview, age and gender. Tables of results are attached as Appendix 2. Details 

of the achieved sample are shown in the table overleaf.  

Page  66



                                             

6 | P a g e  

 

 

Achieved Sample Count Col % 

Area of 
interview 

Beacon Edge 15 6% 

Carleton 21 8% 

Castletown 26 10% 

Pategill and Penrith New Squares 44 17% 

Scaws 57 22% 

Townhead 49 19% 

Wetheriggs 49 19% 

Gender 
Male 126 48% 

Female 135 52% 

Age group 

18 to 34 years 49 19% 

35 to 49 years 54 21% 

50 to 64 years 72 28% 

65 to 79 years 63 24% 

80 years and over 23 9% 

TOTAL All respondents 261 100% 

 

B5 The table below shows the Confidence Intervals at the 95% Confidence Level relating to a 

selection of randomly selected sample sizes, i.e. with a randomly selected sample of 261, if 50% 

of respondents gave a ‘yes’ response, this means there is a 95% probability that between 43.9% 

and 56.1% of the population from which the sample were selected would have the ‘yes’ opinion. 

This table can be used as a guide to give an indication of the Confidence Interval at the 95% 

Confidence Level relating to the overall sample and/or sample sub-groups. 

 Sample Size 

50 100 200 261 

+ % + % + % + % 

 

 

 

Response 

50% 13.9 9.8 6.9 6.1 

40% or 60% 13.6 9.7 6.8 5.9 

30% or 70% 12.7 9.0 6.4 5.6 

20% or 80% 11.1 7.9 5.6 4.9 

10% or 90% 8.3 5.9 4.2 3.6 

  

B6 The questionnaire contained a number of open questions which have been coded and shown in 

the tables of results. The responses have also been anonymised and shown in full at Appendix 3.  

 

Page  67



                                             

7 | P a g e  

 

SECTION C – Survey Findings 

C1 Making Penrith a Better Place to Live, Work and Visit 

C1.1 Following the introduction to the survey participants were asked what, if anything, they thought 

would make Penrith a better place to live, work and visit.  As an open question this was coded 

using broad themes that emerged from the comments made. 

 

2 2 3

13

9

56

0

7

2
0

3

33

46

33
30

13

33

8

19

13 13

9

13

16

13

8

5

0

98

2

15

11

0

9

2

6

0

3

0
2

0

7
6 5 4 5

2
0

6 5

13

4

0

4
6 6

0

4

29

19

14

24

52

23

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

18 to 34 years 35 to 49 years 50 to 64 years 65 to 79 years 80 years and over TOTAL

Q2: What would improve Penrith?
% all respondents 

Not building housing More housing required Shopping facilities Parking

Leisure facilities Transport/traffic Health/education facilities Local economy/jobs

No change necessary Other None given
 

 Multiple response question – answers may add to more than 100% 

 

C1.2 More or better shopping facilities was the most mentioned aspect that would make Penrith a 

better place to live work and visit with one third of all respondents spontaneously mentioning 

this, (33%). This was the most mentioned issue in all age groups except amongst respondents 80 

years and older where over half (52% compared with 23% of all respondents), did not identify 

any change or development they would like to see.  

C1.3 Parking was an issue raised by 13% of respondents and leisure facilities and traffic and transport 

were equally important both being mentioned by 9% of respondents. Leisure facilities demand 

was higher in the younger age groups, (18 to 34 years – 16%, 35 to 49 years – 13%, reducing to 

8% in the 50 to 64 age group, 5% in the 65 to 79 years and no participant in the 80years and over 

mentioning leisure).  

Page  68



                                             

8 | P a g e  

 

C1.4 Housing was mentioned by 8% of the overall sample with 5% of respondents spontaneously 

responding in relation to reducing the amount of building of new properties and 3% more 

housing is required. Whilst the numbers in the sub groups are small and can only be considered 

as an indication of views, (i.e. are not statistically significant),  it is interesting to note the trend 

that in the age group 18 to 34 years more people spontaneously commented on the need for 

more housing (6%) than that no more housing was required, (2%). Conversely participants in the 

older age groups were less concerned about more housing being required , (just 2% of 

respondents 65 to 74 years and no respondents over 80 years of age); but were concerned about 

more housing being built, (13% in the age group 65 to 74 years and 9% in the age group 80 years 

and over).  

 

2

2

3

13

9

5

6

0

7

2

0

3

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14

18 to 34 years (49)

35 to 49 years (54)

50 to 64 years (72)

65 to 79 years (63)

80 years and over (23)

TOTAL (261)

Spontaneous responses on housing
Age groups - % - number of respondents shown in brackets

More housing required Not building housing

 

 

C2 Challenges Faced by Penrith 

C2.1 Similarly, participants were asked an open questions as to whether they felt Penrith faces any 

challenges.  

C2.2 Again shopping facilities were the most mentioned ‘challenge’ – 20% of the overall sample 

mentioned this. 13% of respondents spontaneously mentioned their concerns about housing 

developments. These concerns were partly concerns about there being insufficient infrastructure 

to support such developments and partly related to changes to the nature of the town – from 

rural to urban.  

 

Page  69



                                             

9 | P a g e  

 

12

7

24

8

13 13

8

0

7

2
0

4

14

19

21

27

13

20

4
6 6

3

0

44 4
3 3

0

3
4

6

13

6
4

7
6

9

6

13

0

8

10
11 11 11

0

10

2 2 1
0 0

1
2

9

4

6

13

6

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

18 to 34 years 35 to 49 years 50 to 64 years 65 to 79 years 80 years and over All respondents

Challenges Faced by Penrith
% respondents

Concerns about housing developments Concerns about insufficient housing

Shopping facilities Parking

Leisure facilities Transport/traffic

Health/education facilities Local economy/jobs

Policing Other

  Multiple response question – answers may add to more than 100% 

 

C2.3  One in ten of all respondents (10%) were concerned about the local economy, specifically the 

need for more employment and for skilled jobs. This concern was relatively consistent across all 

age groups with only the age group 80 years and over not mentioning this as a challenge.  

C2.4 Concerns about infrastructure – specifically relating to health and education facilities were 

mentioned by 8% of respondents with this rising to 13% of respondents in the age groups 65 to 

79 years.  

C2.5 Full details on responses to Questions 2 and 3 are shown in appendix 3 as far as possible 

verbatim.  

Page  70



                                             

10 | P a g e  

 

C3 Making Penrith a Better Place to Live 

C3.1 Respondents were asked ‘what, if anything, do you think should be done to make Penrith a 

better place to live?’ For this question a show-card was used identifying five potential 

improvements; offering the opportunity to include their own suggestions and to give a ‘don’t 

know’ or ‘not sure’ response; or simply to say ‘nothing needs to be done’.  

 

41

44

23

48

26

22

3

3

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50

Ensure enough homes to meet needs of population

Increase amount of highly skilled job opportunities

Increase safe cycleways and footpaths

Enhance Penrith Town Centre

Provide more green space

Something else

Don't know/not sure

Nothing needs to be done

What would make Penrith a better place to live?
% all respondents

 
 Multiple response question – answers may add to more than 100% 

C3.2  As may have been expected from the responses relating to shopping and shops in previous 

questions ‘enhancing Penrith town centre’ was the most popular response with nearly half of all 

respondents, (48%), selecting this. Over four in ten respondents however also chose the option 

to ‘increase the amount of highly skilled job opportunities’, (44%); and ‘ensure there are enough 

homes to meet the needs of the local population’, (41%). Only 3% said that they believed 

‘nothing needs to be done’ and a further 3% that they ‘did not know or were not sure’.  

C3.3 Just over two of ten respondents, (22%) gave other responses to this question. Responses here 

included ensuring homes were affordable, (3%); providing sufficient and appropriate 

infrastructure; (4%); further comments on shopping, (4%); activities for children and young 

people, (3%); comments on preserving green space, (2%) and the environment, jobs and the 

economy, (2%); improvements to the environment, (2%) and other comments (2%). Full details 

are shown in the appendices.  

 

 

 

Page  71



                                             

11 | P a g e  

 

C4  Important Considerations When Locating New Housing in Eden 

C4.1 Following on from the questions on making Penrith a better place to live respondents were told 

that the ‘Council considers that there is a need to plan for future housing that meets the needs 

of local people, the local workforce and an aging population’. They were asked to identify from a 

list on a show-card what they felt were important considerations when locating housing in Eden. 

This question also asked if they had any other issues they thought should be considered and also 

given the option to say if they would not wish to see any new housing developments in the 

District.   

4 6 8
13 14 15 16

22
27

32

45

59

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Important Considerations - Locating New Housing in Eden?
% all respondents

 
Multiple response question – answers may add to more than 100% 

 % 
Cannot be seen from existing settlements 4 

Don’t know/not sure 6 

I would not wish to see more new housing developments in Eden 
District 

8 

Avoids being separated from Penrith by motorway, railway or river 13 

Avoids visually prominent land 14 

Forms part of an existing settlement 15 

Something else 16 

Close to existing main roads 22 

Close to Penrith 27 

Avoids places of significant environmental importance 32 

Avoids impact on historical landmarks 45 

In a low flood risk area 59 

Page  72



                                             

12 | P a g e  

 

C4.2  Most important to respondents was that any new development should be in a low flood risk area 

with 59% of all respondents identifying this as important. Secondly, and mentioned by 45% of 

respondents, was the development should ‘avoid impact on historical landmarks. Similarly, the 

development should ‘avoid places of significant environmental importance’ was mentioned by 

nearly a third of all respondents, (32%).  

C4.3 Over a quarter of all respondents, (27%), were of the view that new developments should ‘close 

to Penrith’, (27%), and 22% that new development should be ‘close to existing main roads’.  

C4.4 Overall 8% of all respondents stated that they ‘would not wish to see any new housing 

developments in Eden District’ and this rises to 19% of respondents from the ‘Scaws’ area of 

interviewing – the area closest to Beacon Edge.  

 

C5 Creating a Vibrant New Community 

C5.1 Participants were asked which of the elements listed in the questionnaire they felt were 

important for creating a vibrant new community. Most important were health services, (64%) 

and good education facilities, (58%); echoing comments made earlier in the questionnaire 

relating to the importance of infrastructure. Also mentioned by more than half of all respondents 

were ‘a wide range of job opportunities’, (53%); and a ‘wide range of homes suitable and 

affordable for all stages of life’, (51%). Also mentioned by half of all respondents were ‘public 

transport that is accessible for all’, (50%); with ‘leisure and community facilities’ being identified 

as important elements by almost half of the sample, (47%).  

C5.2 Somewhat less important elements but still identified as important by between one fifth and one 

third of respondents are shown in the figure overleaf. These included ‘an attractive functioning 

centre’, (34%); ‘environmentally friendly homes that are cheap to run’, (32%); and ‘easy access to 

green spaces’, (27%). Less than a quarter of all respondents considered that ‘support from the 

local community’ (24%), was important and just 20% considered ‘opportunities to cycle and walk 

on a daily basis’.  As being important’ 

C5.3 Least important amongst the list presetned to respondents included ‘clear management 

arrangements for public services and community facilities’, (17%); ‘a clear plan for the size, 

layout and design from the start’ (12%); and a ‘unique identify’, (12%). Least important was the 

‘use of new technology’ with just 10% of respondents identifying this as important.  

 

 

Page  73



                                             

13 | P a g e  

 

47 50 51 53
58

64

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Leisure and
community

facilities

Public
transport that
is accessible

for all

A wide range
of homes

suitable and
affordable for
all stages of

life

A wide range
of job

opportunities

Good
education
facilities

Health
services

Most Important Elements
% all respondents

 

20
24 27

32 34

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Opportunities to
cycle and walk on

a daily basis

Support from the
local community

Easy access to
green spaces

Environmentally
friendly homes

that are cheap to
run

An attractive
functioning

centre

Less Important Elements
% all respondents 

 

10 12 13
17

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Use of new
technology

A unique identity Clear plan for the
size, layout and

design from the start

Clear management
arrangements for

public
services/community

facilities

Least Important Elements
% all respondents

 

 

Page  74



                                             

14 | P a g e  

 

C6 Proposed New Settlements 

C6.1 Respondents were informed that the council has a draft masterplan setting out the position of 

three potential new Beacon Villages. (They were told that the proposals for low density 

development on the Penrith Beacon Plantation have been withdrawn).  

C6.2 Respondents were shown a leaflet produced by the council showing the locations of the 

proposed new settlements and were given time to review them. Then respondents were asked 

the extent to which they agreed or disagreed with the proposed locations.  

27
10

19
36

14
27 22 23

40
62

31

45

61
53

51 51

33 29

50

18 25 20 27 26

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Beacon
Edge

Carleton CastletownPategill and
Penrith

New
Squares

Scaws Townhead Wetheriggs TOTAL

Extent of Agreement with Location of New Settlements
% all respondents

Agree Disagree Not sure

 

C6.3 Over half of all respondents asserted that they disagreed with the location of the proposed new 

settlements, (51%). Just 23% of respondents said that they agreed and 26% were not sure.  

C6.4 As can be seen from the figure above disagreement was highest in the Scaws area of interview, 

(61%); and lowest in Castletown, (31%). However half of all respondents in Castletown (50%), 

gave a ‘not sure’ response to this question rather than there being a higher level of agreement 

than in other areas. Agreements was highest in the Pategill and Penrith New Squares area of 

interviewing, (36%). It should be noted that the sample sizes are too small for these differences 

to be considered significant statistically.  

Page  75



                                             

15 | P a g e  

 

C7 Other Areas Considered for Housing Development 

C7.1 Finally respondents were told that the Council had considered other areas for housing 

development and were shown details of these on a show card. They were asked if they believed 

any of the areas previously assessed should be reconsidered and assessed in more detail.  

C7.2 28% of respondents said that they did not know whether they should be reconsidered and 24% 

that none of the sites listed should be reconsidered.  

 

21

21

11

11

12

7

18

0 5 10 15 20 25

NW of Junction 41 of the M6…

W of M6 - J41 & B5708

W of J40 and E of Newbiggen

S of Redhills

Between Yanwath & Eamont Bridge

SE of Brougham

E of Penrith (Carleton)

Sites that should be reconsidered
% all respondents

 

C7.3 As can be seen from the above three locations were more popular in respect of future 

reconsideration and assessment. These were: 

 North West of Junction 41 of the M6 (Catterlen) (21%) 

 West of M6 between Junction 41 and B5708 (21%) 

 East of Penrith (Carleton)  (18%) 

However these were selected only by circa one in five of all respondents.  

C7.4 Other comments in relaton to consideration for housing development included ‘Alston’ and  ‘East 

of the proposed middle village on map main road to Great Salkeld’. Other comments here 

included having a completely new re-assessment and public consultation; the need for all new 

housing to be social housing and if there is a lack of space to build then building should not go 

ahead.  

 

Page  76



                                             

16 | P a g e  

 

C8 Other Comments  

C8.1 At the end of the questionnaire respondents were asked if there were any further comments 

they wished to make about the Penrith Strategic Masterplan or issues relating to it.  

In support of 
Masterplan, 4

Negative comments on 
Masterplan, 15 Comments on 

consultation, 2

Concerns about 
sufficiency of 

infrastructure, 7

Affordable housing, 3

Roads and transport, 3

Concern about loss of 
green 

space/environment, 3

Comments on retaining 
the Beacon, 3

Questions on the 
need for housing, 5

Other priorities, 4

Other, 5

None given, 46

 

C8.2  Almost half of all respondents did not wish to make further comments, (46%); and 15% of 

respondents took the opportunity to reiterate their concerns about the Masterplan. Other issues 

also emerged here relating to respondents questioning the need for further housing; their 

concerns about sufficiency of infrastructure to support such development and the need for 

affordable housing or housing for local people. Full details of the comments made are shown in 

the appendices.  

Page  77



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Report No:  PP10/19   
Eden District Council 

Executive 
2 July 2019 

Lazonby Neighbourhood Development Plan 
Portfolio: Communities Portfolio Holder 
Report from: Assistant Director Planning and Economic Development 
Wards: Lazonby 

OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

1 Purpose 
1.1 This report sets out the next steps which are recommended to be taken with 

the Lazonby Neighbourhood Development Plan, following the receipt of the 
report of the Neighbourhood Plan Examiner. 

2 Recommendation 
2.1  It is recommended that: 

(a) the changes proposed to the Lazonby Neighbourhood Development Plan 
as set out in the Decision Statement in Appendix C  to this report be 
agreed and, subject to such changes, it be agreed that the Plan meets the 
‘basic conditions’; and 

(b) the Plan proceeds to a local referendum based upon the geographic 
boundary of the parish of Lazonby, consistent with the defined 
Neighbourhood Area; and 

(c) it be noted that if there is a positive referendum outcome, then the Council 
will be under a duty to adopt the Plan and it will then form part of the 
statutory Development Plan. 

3 Report Details 
3.1 The Localism Act 2011 introduced a mechanism for local communities to 

produce a Neighbourhood Plan enabling them to have a greater say in the 
future of their areas. Eden District Council (EDC) actively supports 
neighbourhood planning and several Parish Councils within the District are in 
the process of preparing a Neighbourhood Plan. Once adopted by EDC the 
Neighbourhood Plan will form part of the Development Plan for the area they 
cover and will be used in the determination of relevant planning applications. 

3.2 The production of a Neighbourhood Plan must follow a regulatory process and 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and the 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 set out this process and 
the key stages in the preparation of such plans. 

 

Page  79

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 

3.3 The Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan has now completed the examination stage, 
which is where the plan is examined by an Independent Examiner to assess 
whether the plan meets the basic conditions set out in paragraph 8(2) of 
Schedule 4B of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). The 
basic conditions are that the Plan. 
(i) has regard to national polices and advice issued by the Secretary of 

State 
(ii) contributes to the achievement of sustainable development 
(iii) is in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in the 

development plan for the area 
(iv) does not breach and is in general conformity with EU obligations; and 
(v) complies with prescribed conditions and matters in relation to the Order 

3.4  The Independent Examiner has issued a report which is shown at Appendix A 
which recommends for the plan to proceed to the referendum stage should 
the Council agree with the recommendations made. 

3.5  Following extensive work and community involvement by the Parish Council’s 
Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group, Lazonby Parish Council formally 
submitted the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan, Design Guide and supporting 
documents to EDC. EDC subsequently published the submitted Lazonby 
Neighbourhood Plan, Design Guide and supporting documents for six weeks 
formal public consultation between 28 May 2018 and 10 July 2018. 

3.6 Eleven representations were received which were forwarded to an 
Independent Examiner who was appointed by EDC, in agreement with 
Lazonby Parish Council, to examine the plan. 

3.7  On 12 December 2018, the Examiner Mr John Slater provided his report to 
EDC, which concluded that, subject to modifications, the Lazonby 
Neighbourhood Plan met the basic conditions and other statutory 
requirements. The Examiner also recommended that, subject to the 
modifications proposed, the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan should proceed to 
referendum. 

3.8  The modifications primarily relate to removal or re-wording of policy text. The 
deletion of two housing sites is also included in the modifications, together 
with reference to proposed and historic footpaths. Minor changes to policy 
wording and supporting text have also been made for clarity. 

3.9  A schedule of the modifications is set out in Appendix C, which details the 
justification for each modification. Modifications were made to the following 
policies: 

 
Policy D1: General Development Principles. This policy has been 
deleted as decision makers may rely on Policy DEV1 of the Eden Local 
Plan 2014-2032. 
 
Policy D2: Greenfield Sites. The policy has been re-worded so as to be 
capable of being used to determine planning applications. 
 

Page  80



 

 
 

Policy D3: Design of New Development. A small section of the policy 
has been deleted. 
 
Policy D5: Trees. Sections of the policy have been re-worded. 
 
Policy D6: Protection and Provision of Open Space, Land of Amenity 
Value and Local Green Space. The policy has been re-worded to clarify 
Local Green Space designations. Part of the policy has been moved to 
Policy D7. 
 
Policy D7: New Recreation and Play Areas. The policy has been re-
worded to include a section from Policy D6. 
 
Policy D8: Footpaths. Part of the policy has been deleted as it covers 
matters that cannot be covered by a neighbourhood plan. 
 
Policy D9: Cycleways. Part of the policy has been deleted as it covers 
matters that cannot be covered by a neighbourhood plan. 
 
Policy H1: Housing Development. Sections of the policy have been re-
worded. Two housing allocations, site HS1 (Hesket Park) and site HS2 
(The Meadows), have been removed. 
 
Policy H2: Affordable Housing. The wording regarding planning 
conditions has been deleted to ensure consistency with the Eden Local 
Plan 2014-2032. 
 
Policy H3: Housing for the Elderly and Sheltered Housing. A minor 
change to the wording has been made. 
 
Policy B2: Farm Diversification and Buildings Outside Current 
Settlement Areas. A small section of the policy has been deleted. 
 
Policy B4: New Tourism Development. A minor change to the wording 
has been made. 
 
Policy B5: Conversion of Redundant Buildings. Part of the policy has 
been deleted as it did not meet the basic conditions. 
 
Policy M1: Small-scale Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 
Schemes. Sections of the policy have been re-worded to ensure the 
requirements are reasonable. 
 
Policy I1: Infrastructure Capacity. This policy has been deleted due to a 
lack of evidence and decision makers may rely on Policy DEV4 of the 
Eden Local Plan 2014-2032. 

 
 

Page  81



 

 
 

3.10  As part of his role, the Examiner also considered whether the Referendum 
Area should be extended beyond the Lazonby Neighbourhood Area (which 
corresponds with the Parish boundary). If the Hesket Park allocation had been 
retained the Examiner would have recommended the inclusion of High Hesket 
and Old Town in the Referendum Area. However, based on the deletion of the 
Hesket Park allocation, the Examiner considered the Neighbourhood Area to 
be appropriate and recommended that the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 
should proceed to referendum based on the Lazonby Neighbourhood Area as 
previously approved by Eden District Council on 18 September 2014. 

3.11  Each of the recommendations made in the Examiner’s report have been 
considered, the reasons for them and what implications the modifications will 
have on the Neighbourhood Plan. The Decision Statement set out in Appendix 
C sets out the Council’s view on each of the modifications proposed and 
concludes that the modifications meet the basic conditions set out in 
paragraph 3.7 above and that no further modifications are required to be 
made to the plan to ensure it: 

 Meets the basic conditions; 
 Complies with the Human Rights Act (1998); and 
 Complies with the definition of a Plan or Order and the provisions that 

can be made by a Plan or Order. 
3.12  Lazonby Parish Council and Planning Policy Officers have reviewed the 

Examiner’s report and discussed the outcomes. An updated version of the 
Plan, incorporating the modifications, is included at Appendix B. 

3.13  The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) state 
that a local planning authority must publish what action will be taken in 
response to the recommendations of the Examiner. This is known as a 
‘Decision Statement’. This statement outlines how a Neighbourhood Plan will 
be modified in response to the Examiner’s report and the reasoning for such 
changes. The Decision Statement for the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 
(attached as Appendix C to this report) confirms that the modifications 
proposed by the Examiner’s report have been accepted. The statement also 
confirms that the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan, as revised, meets the basic 
conditions and that the Plan can now proceed to referendum. 

3.14  Following this decision, EDC will publish the following information on its 
website, and by other means as appropriate: 
 The decision made on the Plan or Order and the reasons for that 

decision (The Decision Statement); 
 Details of where and when the Decision Statement can be inspected; 

and 
 The Independent Examiner's report. 

3.15 A written notice of the decision will also be sent to the Parish Council and any 
person who asked to be notified of the decision. 

 

Page  82



 

 
 

3.16 The Council screened the need of the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan to be 
accompanied by Strategic Environmental Assessment and Habitats 
Regulations Assessment in July 2017. Eden District Council confirmed that 
the plan would not require a Strategic Environmental Assessment. 

3.17 At the same time the Council provided a screening opinion under the Habitat 
Regulations, which concluded that the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan did not 
result in a likely significant effect and would not require an Appropriate 
Assessment. 

3.18 The Examiner has confirmed in his report that he is satisfied that the Lazonby 
Neighbourhood Plan meets the requirements of the European legislation and 
the modifications have been subject to a further assessment under the Habitat 
Regulations (Appendix D). It is considered that the recommended 
modifications to the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan would not change the 
previous conclusion that the Plan would not result in a likely significant effect. 

 
3.19 Subject to the modifications being made, as outlined in the Regulation 18 

Decision Statement, it is recommended for the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 
should proceed to referendum. The referendum enables the local community 
to vote on whether they support the Plan or not. If there is a positive vote (at 
least 50% plus 1 of the votes cast) and is compatible with EU law, the Plan 
will then be adopted (‘made’). At this time the plan will become part of the 
statutory development plan in the Neighbourhood Area. 

3.20 Not less than 28 working days before the date of the referendum the Council 
must publish an information statement and specified documents, including the 
revised Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan. These documents will be made 
available on the Council’s website and for inspection at the Council’s offices in 
Penrith prior to and during the Referendum as required. The documents will 
also be available to view at Lazonby Library Link and Penrith Library. 

3.21 The Examiner has recommended that the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 
proceeds to referendum, subject to a series of proposed modifications which 
are required to ensure the Plan meets the basic conditions. Eden District 
Council as local planning authority is responsible for deciding what action to 
take in response to the Examiner’s recommendations and could make a 
decision which differs from that recommended by the Examiner. If the Council 
were to take a different view to the Examiner it would be necessary to set out 
the reasons, notify prescribed persons and invite representations. 

3.22 If the modifications are not implemented, it is considered that the Lazonby 
Neighbourhood Plan would be at greater risk of legal challenge on the basis it 
does not meet the legal requirements for Neighbourhood Plans. In light of the 
Examiner’s report it is considered that not taking the plan forward to 
referendum would be contrary to the Council’s statutory duty to support 
Neighbourhood Plans. 

3.23 The modifications proposed in the Examiner’s report have also been accepted 
by Lazonby Parish Council and it is considered that the Lazonby 
Neighbourhood Plan, as revised, meets the basic conditions. It is therefore 
recommended for the Plan to now proceed to referendum. 

Page  83



 

 
 

3.24 Subject to a positive vote at referendum (more than 50% of the votes cast are 
in favour of the Plan), the Plan will be ‘made’ (adopted) by the Council. 

4 Policy Framework 
4.1 The Council has four corporate priorities which are: 

 Decent Homes for All; 
 Strong Economy, Rich Environment; 
 Thriving Communities; and 
 Quality Council 

4.2 This report meets Decent Homes for All; Strong Economy, Rich Environment; 
and Thriving Communities corporate priorities. 

4.3 This report addresses DH1a, DH2a, DH4b, EE1b, EE1d, EE3a, TC2b, TC6a 
strategic actions in the Council Plan. 

4.4 This report helps to meet objective 17 of the Eden Local Plan 2014-2032. 

5 Consultation 
5.1 The Communities Portfolio Holder has been consulted upon this report along 

with the local Ward member. 

6 Implications 
6.1 Financial and Resources 
6.1.1 Any decision to reduce or increase resources or alternatively increase income 

must be made within the context of the Council’s stated priorities, as set out in 
its Council Plan 2015-19 as agreed at Council on 17 September 2015. 

6.1.2  Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to support the production of 
Neighbourhood Plans within their administrative area. This support is 
resourced within the Planning Policy Team and Electoral Services team (in 
connection with the referendum stage of the process). Once a date is set for 
the referendum on the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan the Council is eligible to 
apply for funding from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government. This money is to help Local Planning Authorities meet their 
legislative duties in relation to Neighbourhood Planning. Specifically, it covers 
the Neighbourhood Planning duties introduced by the Localism Act 2011 
which are to provide advice or assistance; to hold an examination; and to 
make arrangements for a referendum. 

6.2 Legal 
6.2.1 Subject to a positive vote at referendum, the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

will form part of the statutory development plan for the District and therefore 
the implementation of the policies contained within it will impact on planning 
decisions made in the District, specifically in relation to the Lazonby Parish 
Neighbourhood Area. This report identifies the processes which have to be 
complied with to adopt the plan.  

 
 

Page  84



 

 
 

6.2.2 The Examiner’s report confirms that the Examiner is satisfied that the Lazonby 
Neighbourhood Plan has regard to the European Convention on Human 
Rights and complies with the Human Rights Act 1998 and that there is no 
substantive evidence to the contrary. 

6.3 Human Resources 
6.3.1 Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to support the production of 

Neighbourhood Plans within their administrative area. This support is 
resourced within the Planning Policy Team and Electoral Services Team (in 
connection with the referendum stage of the process). 

6.4 Statutory Considerations 

Consideration: Details of any implications and proposed 
measures to address: 

Equality and Diversity There are no implications arising from this report. 
Health, Social 
Environmental and 
Economic Impact 

The vision and objectives of the Lazonby 
Neighbourhood Plan intend to have a positive 
impact on the health, environment and economy 
of Lazonby Parish. 

Crime and Disorder There are no implications arising from this report. 
Children and 
Safeguarding 

There are no implications that apply to children. 

6.5 Risk Management 

Risk Consequence Controls Required 
The modifications 
recommended by the 
Examiner are not 
implemented. 
 

The Lazonby 
Neighbourhood Plan 
would be at greater risk 
of legal challenge on the 
basis it does not meet 
the legal requirements 
for Neighbourhood 
Plans. 

The recommendations 
of the Examiner, on the 
Lazonby 
Neighbourhood 
Development Plan, 
together with the 
reasons for those 
recommendations are 
accepted and approved.  

The plan is not taken 
forward to referendum. 

In light of the Examiner’s 
report it is considered 
that not taking the plan 
forward to referendum 
would be contrary to the 
Council’s statutory duty 
to support 
Neighbourhood Plans.  

Upon the acceptance of 
the Examiner’s Report a 
referendum is 
organised for the date 
proposed in this report. 

7. Other Options Considered 
7.1 The Council as local planning authority is responsible for deciding what action 

to take in response to the Examiner’s recommendations and could make a 

Page  85



 

 
 

decision which differs from that recommended by the Examiner. If the Council 
were to take a different view to the Examiner it would be necessary to set out 
the reasons, notify prescribed persons and invite representations.  

  
7.2 If the modifications are not implemented, it is considered that the Lazonby 

Neighbourhood Plan would be at greater risk of legal challenge on the basis it 
does not meet the legal requirements for Neighbourhood Plans. In light of the 
Examiner’s report it is considered that not taking the plan forward to 
referendum would be contrary to the Council’s statutory duty to support 
Neighbourhood Plans.  

 
7.3 For this reason no other options have been considered or set out. 

8 Reasons for the Decision/Recommendation 
8.1 Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to support the production of 

Neighbourhood Plans within their administrative area. 

Tracking Information 

Governance Check Date Considered 
Chief Finance Officer (or Deputy) 20 June 2019 
Monitoring Officer (or Deputy) 18 June 2019 
Relevant Director 17 June 2019 

Background Papers: None 
Appendices:   Appendix A – Examiner’s Report 

Appendix B – (1) Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan, (2) Design 
Guide 
Appendix C – Decision Statement and Schedule of 
Modifications 
Appendix D – Habitat Regulations Assessment of 
Modifications 

Contact Officers: Rachael Armstrong, Senior Planning Policy Officer 
 Emily Baldasera, Planning Policy Officer 

Page  86



John Slater Planning Ltd  
 

Report	of	the	Examiner	into	the	Lazonby	Neighbourhood	Plan		 Page	1	
 

Lazonby	 Neighbourhood	 Plan	 2014-	
2029	
	

Submission	Version			
 

	
 

 

 

 

A Report to Eden District Council on the Examination of the Lazonby 
Neighbourhood Plan  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

John Slater BA (Hons), DMS, MRTPI 

John Slater Planning Ltd 

johnslaterplanning@gmail.com 

12th December 2018 

  

Appendix A

Page  87



John Slater Planning Ltd  
 

Report	of	the	Examiner	into	the	Lazonby	Neighbourhood	Plan		 Page	2	
 

  

Contents		
           Page  

Executive Summary         3 

Introduction           4 

The Examiner’s Role         4 

The Examination Process        5 

The Consultation Process        6 

Regulation 16 Consultation       7 

The Basic Conditions        7 

Compliance with the Development Plan      8 

Compliance with European Obligations and Human Rights Legislation 8 

The Neighbourhood Plan: An Overview      9 

The Neighbourhood Plan Policies       13 

The Referendum Area         23 

Summary           24 
    

  

Page  88



John Slater Planning Ltd  
 

Report	of	the	Examiner	into	the	Lazonby	Neighbourhood	Plan		 Page	3	
 

Executive	Summary		
 

My examination has concluded that the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan should 
proceed to referendum, subject to the Plan being amended in line with my 
recommended modifications, which are required to ensure the plan meets the basic 
conditions. The more noteworthy include – 

• The deletion of Policy D1 – General Development Principles because it is not 
a practical basis for decision-making. 

• Rewording of Policy D2 to make it clear that there is a general presumption in 
favour of the development of brownfield sites, and a presumption against 
greenfield site development, unless supported by other policies of the 
development plan. 

• Removing reference to mature trees in Policy D5 and instead referring to 
trees that contribute to the amenity of the area. 

• Supporting the proposal to designate 11 areas as Local Green Space, but 
refining the wording of policy. 

• Amalgamating two elements of policies which deal with new recreational 
facilities in the village. 

• Removing reference to proposed and historic footpaths. 
• Requiring development close to any future cycle network to contribute to the 

improvement of that network. 
• Deleting the proposed housing allocation site at Hesket Park and The 

Meadows, but retaining all other housing allocations. 
• Amending the threshold for windfall development on greenfield sites inside the 

village boundary, to 5 houses or sites under 0.2 ha. 
• Removing the restriction on the occupation of converted rural buildings to only 

farmworkers and also removing the requirement that only buildings in a 
“sustainable location” are allowed to be converted to residential use. 

• Removing the Infrastructure policy as it is too onerous and is not by backed 
up by evidence which justifies the policy. 

The referendum area does not need to be extended beyond the plan area. 

 	

Page  89



John Slater Planning Ltd  
 

Report	of	the	Examiner	into	the	Lazonby	Neighbourhood	Plan		 Page	4	
 

Introduction	
 

1. Neighbourhood planning is a process, introduced by the Localism Act 2011, which 
allows local communities to create the policies which will shape the places where 
they live and work. The Neighbourhood Plan provides the community with the 
opportunity to allocate land for particular purposes and to prepare the policies which 
will be used in the determination of planning applications in their area. Once a 
neighbourhood plan is made, it will form part of the statutory development plan 
alongside the Eden Local Plan. Decision makers are required to determine planning 
applications in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 

2. The neighbourhood plan making process has been led by Lazonby Parish Council. A 
Steering Group was appointed to undertake the plan preparation made up of local 
volunteers. Lazonby Parish Council is a “qualifying body” under the Neighbourhood 
Planning legislation. 

3. This report is the outcome of my examination of the Submission Version of the 
Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan. My report will make recommendations based on my 
findings on whether the Plan should go forward to a referendum. If the plan then 
receives the support of over 50% of those voting at the referendum, the Plan will be 
“made” by Eden District Council, the Local Planning Authority for the neighbourhood 
plan area.  

	

The	Examiner’s	Role	
 

4. I was formally appointed by Eden District Council in July 2018, with the agreement of 
Lazonby Parish Council, to conduct this examination. My role is known as an 
Independent Examiner. My selection has been facilitated by the Neighbourhood 
Planning Independent Examiner Referral Service which is administered by the Royal 
Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) 

5. In order for me to be appointed to this role, I am required to be appropriately 
experienced and qualified. I have over 40 years’ experience as a planning 
practitioner, primarily working in local government, which included 8 years as a Head 
of Planning at a large unitary authority on the south coast, but latterly as an 
independent planning consultant. I am a Chartered Town Planner and a member of 
the Royal Town Planning Institute. I am independent of both Eden District Council 
and Lazonby Parish Council and I can confirm that I have no interest in any land that 
is affected by the Neighbourhood Plan. 

6. Under the terms of the neighbourhood planning legislation I am required to make 
one of three possible recommendations: 

Page  90



John Slater Planning Ltd  
 

Report	of	the	Examiner	into	the	Lazonby	Neighbourhood	Plan		 Page	5	
 

• That the plan should proceed to referendum on the basis that it meets all 
the legal requirements. 

• That the plan should proceed to referendum if modified 
• That the plan should not proceed to referendum on the basis that it does 

not meet all the legal requirements. 
7. Furthermore, if I am to conclude that the Plan should proceed to referendum, I need 

to consider whether the area covered by the referendum should extend beyond the 
boundaries of the area covered by the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan area. 

8. In examining the Plan, the Independent Examiner is expected to address the 
following questions  

a. Do the policies relate to the development and use of land for a 
Designated Neighbourhood Plan area in accordance with Section 38A 
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004? 

b. Does the Neighbourhood Plan meet the requirements of Section 38B of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 namely that it 
specifies the period to which it is to have effect? It must not relate to 
matters which are referred to as “excluded development” and also that 
it must not cover more than one Neighbourhood Plan area. 

c. Has the Neighbourhood Plan been prepared for an area designated 
under Section 61G of the Localism Act and has been developed and 
submitted by a qualifying body. 

9. I am able to confirm that the Plan does relate only to the development and use of 
land, covering the area designated by Eden District Council, for the Lazonby 
Neighbourhood Plan, on 18th September 2014, if modified in accordance with my 
recommendations.  

10. I can also confirm that it does specify the period over which the plan has effect 
namely the period from 2014 up to 2029. 

11. I can confirm that the plan does not cover any “excluded development’’.  
12. There are no other neighbourhood plans covering the area covered by the Plan 

designation. 
13. Lazonby Parish Council as a parish council is a qualifying body under the terms of 

the legislation. 

The	Examination	Process	
 

14. The presumption is that the neighbourhood plan will proceed by way of an 
examination of written evidence only. However, the Examiner can ask for a public 
hearing in order to hear oral evidence on matters which he or she wishes to explore 
further or if a person has a fair chance to put a case.  

15. I am required to give reasons for each of my recommendations and also provide a 
summary of my main conclusions. 

Page  91



John Slater Planning Ltd  
 

Report	of	the	Examiner	into	the	Lazonby	Neighbourhood	Plan		 Page	6	
 

16. I am satisfied that I am in a position to properly examine the plan without the need 
for a hearing.  

17. I carried out an unaccompanied visit to Lazonby and the surrounding countryside 
on 20th August 2018. This enabled me to familiarise myself with the village and the 
surrounding countryside. I also visited High Hesket and Kirkoswald. 

18. Following my site visit I had a number of matters  on which I wished to receive 
further information, not just from the Parish Council and the District Council, but 
also from Cumbria Country Council regarding school capacity and access 
arrangements to Hesket Park and also from Hesket Parish Council regarding their 
objections to the Hesket Park proposals. That request was set out in a document 
entitled Initial Comments of the Independent Examiner dated 22nd August 2018. I 
received a comprehensive response in a document, sent to me by Eden District 
Council, on 18th October 2018. 

The	Consultation	Process	
 

19. The original idea of preparing a neighbourhood plan, arose in October 2013, 
following residents’ concerns within the village, regarding a planning application in 
Scaur Lane for 48 homes. 

20. An initial public meeting was held on 4th December 2013, with a follow-up meeting 
held on 11 March 2014. Once the parish was designated by the District Council, as a 
neighbourhood area, on 18th September 2014, a Steering Group was recruited at a 
public meeting held in November 2014. The first meeting of the Steering Group took 
place on 29th January 2015. They initiated the preparation of the questionnaire which 
was distributed to every household in the parish at the end of February 2015. 81 
completed questionnaires were returned, a 20% response rate. The results were 
presented to a public meeting and a full analysis is set out in the Consultation 
Statement. 

21. The Steering Group then prepared a summary of a draft plan, which was distributed, 
in the form of a leaflet, delivered to every household. This invited residents to a drop-
in event to be held on 16th January 2016, which invited comments on the draft 
proposals. There was a separate consultation with statutory consultees. 

22. In November 2016, a leaflet summarising the next version of the draft plan was 
distributed around the parish. All the documents to accompany the plan were also 
put into the public domain in January 2017 and a follow up meeting was held on 11th 
February 2017 attended by 47 residents, who were able to make comments. 

23. All this activity led to the preparation of a Pre - Submission version of the plan which 
was the subject of a formal public consultation – known as the Regulation 14 
consultation, which ran from 17th July 2017 to 27th August 2017. However, it 
subsequently transpired that not all the statutory consultees were consulted, as 
required by the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012, so there was a 

Page  92



John Slater Planning Ltd  
 

Report	of	the	Examiner	into	the	Lazonby	Neighbourhood	Plan		 Page	7	
 

separate six-week consultation for the statutory bodies not previously consulted and 
this ran from 19th February to 22nd April 2018. 

24. I understand that Hesket Parish Council was consulted at the Regulation 14 stage, 
when the proposal for Hesket Park was for 35 dwellings, but they do not appear to 
have responded at that stage. 

Regulation	16	Consultation	
 

25. I have had regard, in carrying out this examination, to all the comments made during 
the period of final consultation, which took place over a 6-week period, between 28th 
May 2018 and 10th July 2018. This consultation was organised by Eden District 
Council, prior to the plan being passed to me for its examination. That stage is 
known as the Regulation 16 Consultation.  

26. In total, 11 individual responses were received. These came from Natural England, 
United Utilities, Gladman Developments Ltd, Highways England, Historic England, 
Hesket Parish Council, Penrith Town Council, The Coal Authority, Network Rail, 
National Grid and Savills on behalf of Lazonby Estate Settlement 2000.  

27. I have carefully read all the correspondence and I will refer to the representations 
where it is relevant to my considerations and conclusions in respect of specific 
policies or the plan as a whole. 

The	Basic	Conditions	
 

28. The Neighbourhood Planning Examination process is different to a Local Plan 
Examination, in that the test is not one of “soundness”. The Neighbourhood Plan is 
tested against what is known as the Basic Conditions which are set down in 
legislation. It will be against these criteria that my examination must focus. 

29. The six questions which constitute the basic conditions test, seek to establish that 
the Neighbourhood Plan: - 
 

• Has had regard to the national policies and advice contained in the guidance 
issued by the Secretary of State and it is appropriate to make the Plan? 

• Will the making of the Plan contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development?  

• Will the making of the Plan be in general conformity with the strategic policies 
set out in the Development Plan for the area? 

• The making of the Plan does not breach or is otherwise incompatible with EU 
obligations or human rights legislation? 

Page  93



John Slater Planning Ltd  
 

Report	of	the	Examiner	into	the	Lazonby	Neighbourhood	Plan		 Page	8	
 

• Whether prescribed conditions are met and prescribed matters have been 
complied with? 

• Whether the making of the Plan will have a significant effect upon a European 
site or a European offshore marine site, either alone or in combination with other 
plans and projects? 

30. During the course of this examination the Government issued a revised National 
Planning Policy Framework. However, in accordance with the stipulation of 
Paragraph 214 of the 2018 NPPF, this examination has been carried out applying 
the policies in the 2012 version of the Framework. 

Compliance	with	the	Development	Plan	
 

31. To meet the basic conditions test, the Neighbourhood Plan is required to be in 
general conformity with the strategic policies of the Development Plan, which in this 
case is the Eden Local Plan, which was recently adopted on 11th October2018. 
The Development Plan also includes the Cumbria Minerals and Waste Local Plan 
2015-2030 adopted on 6th September 2017, but that document is not relevant to the 
examination of this neighbourhood plan. 

32. The Eden Local Plan categorises Lazonby village as “a Key Hub” in the Settlement 
Hierarchy, as set out in Policy LS1. The relevant policy is Policy RUR1 which sets 
out an overall target of 871 dwellings to be provided across 13 key hubs of which 
the target for Lazonby is set at 106 new units. Policy RUR 3 deals with the reuse of 
existing buildings in rural areas and Policy RUR4 addresses the issue of 
agricultural diversification. Policy DEV 1 sets out the general approach to new 
development. 

33.  I discuss conformity with relevant policies in the neighbourhood plan in the main 
body of this report and in particularly in the Plan Overview section. 

Compliance	with	European	and	Human	Rights	Legislation	
 

34. Eden District Council prepared a Screening Report, dated July 2017 which 
concluded, having consulted with the three statutory consultees, that there were 
unlikely to be any significant effects arising from the Plan and a full Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA) as required by EU Directive 2001/42/EC which is 
enshrined into UK law by the “Environmental Assessment of Plans and 
Programmes Regulations 2004”, would not be required.  

35. The District Council, as competent authority, also at the same time, issued a 
screening opinion under the Habitat Regulations. The assessment concluded that 

Page  94



John Slater Planning Ltd  
 

Report	of	the	Examiner	into	the	Lazonby	Neighbourhood	Plan		 Page	9	
 

the Plan would not likely have a significant effect on the River Eden & Tributaries 
SAC, North Pennines Moor SAC and SPA, Moor House Upper Teesdale SAC, 
Cumbrian Marsh Fritillary Site SAC, Tarn Moss SAC and the Lake District High 
Fells SAC, which are the nearest European protected sites, either alone or in 
combination with other plans.  

36. I did question the LPA as to whether it felt that there was a need to rescreen the 
Plan in the light of the “Sweetman Ruling”  and they concluded that the mitigation 
measures proposed in their original screening, to prevent any adverse impact on 
the River Eden SAC, i.e. appropriate construction working practices and surface 
water drainage systems,  were integral to the developments and are not  
“measures intended to avoid or reduce the harmful effects of the plan or projects  
on that site” and accordingly reaffirmed that,  in its opinion as the Competent 
Authority, an Appropriate Assessment was not required. 

37. I am satisfied that the basic conditions regarding compliance with European 
legislation are met. I am also content that the plan has no conflict with the Human 
Rights Act. 

The	Neighbourhood	Plan:	An	Overview	
 

38. My examination of this neighbourhood plan has concentrated on two principal 
issues, namely the proposed housing allocation at Hesket Park which is well away 
from the settlement of Lazonby and is close to the adjoining parish of Hesket.  My 
concern was partially prompted following the receipt of an objection from Hesket 
Parish Council at the Regulation 16 stage and also from my site visit.  The second 
issue was the proposed restriction on the size of developments that could come 
forward on greenfield sites within the village boundary of Lazonby. 
 
Hesket	Park 
 

39. My consideration of this proposed allocation begins with the Eden Local Plan. 
Whilst the neighbourhood plan area covers the whole of the parish of Lazonby, the 
Local Plan’s overarching Locational Strategy Policy LS1, seeks to direct new 
development in rural areas, to what it describes as “Key Hub Settlements” which it 
says “will be the focus for development to sustain local services appropriate to the 
scale of the village and its hinterland, including new houses”. The policy then goes 
on to say that new housing developments within Key Hubs, on single sites will be 
supported so long as the size of that development does not increase the size of the 
village by more than 10%. 

40. It is important to recognise that this strategic policy is directed at individual 
settlements, the actual village, rather than a parish, which appears to be the 
interpretation advocated by the plan’s steering group in their response to my Initial 

Page  95



John Slater Planning Ltd  
 

Report	of	the	Examiner	into	the	Lazonby	Neighbourhood	Plan		 Page	10	
 

Comments. I believe that the response misinterprets the objective of the local 
plan’s spatial strategy which only countenances developments outside of 
settlements that are 100% affordable housing. 

41. The Local Plan states that 871 new homes should be provided across the district in 
Key Hubs and, in the accompanying table, it sets out a target of 106 new homes for 
the village of Lazonby, of which 58 homes are either already completed or are 
committed. That figure of 106 also assumes 32 new units are to be delivered 
through windfall developments and 16 units by  way of allocations. It is worth noting 
that the Neighbourhood Plan is proposing a much higher level of development than 
as sought by the Local Plan. 

42. In my view the allocation of 25 houses to the Hesket Park site would not be 
providing for the needs for Lazonby, as acknowledged by the parish, because the 
site would be closer to the Key Hub of Hesket. As such I consider that this 
allocation would actually be more likely to be making more of a contribution to 
meeting the housing allocations required of Hesket (both High and Low Hesket) 
who jointly have a target of 70 units. Having said that the site is over a kilometre 
from the local primary school with the hamlet of Old Town in the intervening gap. 

43. I do not consider that the Hesket Park development would, in any way, help to 
sustain the viability of services in Lazonby, as aspired to in Policy LS1 of the Local 
Plan as residents would be unlikely to use the Lazonby School or using the local 
shop in Lazonby or recreational facilities. It is acknowledged by all parties that any 
residents of a housing development at Hesket Park would send their young children 
to the local primary school in High Hesket, which the County Council advise me is 
already at capacity, before the demands are placed on it by Hesket’s targets. 

44. To follow the logic of the neighbourhood plan, this would be effectively transferring 
the impact of the housing requirements from Lazonby Village to Hesket Parish 
particularly with regard to the primary school. 

45. I have noted the case being made, that Hesket Park is previously developed land. 
However, the Glossary to the 2012 NPPF defines previously developed land as 
“land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure”. My reading of the 
situation, is that the only permanent structure on the allocation site is the large 
green storage building on the road frontage. I do not consider that mobile homes 
are permanent structures. Their installation does not constitute operational 
development, it is a use of the land. This is a view that is shared by Eden District 
Council. Furthermore, I do not consider that the whole of the mobile home site can 
be, in any way, considered to be part of the curtilage of the storage building. 

46. My conclusion on this matter would have been different had there been actual 
buildings on the site, rather than mobile homes and pitches, which are covered by 
the Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960. If this had been the case, 
I would have agreed with the interpretation offered by the local planning authority in 
their response to my Initial Comments. 

Page  96



John Slater Planning Ltd  
 

Report	of	the	Examiner	into	the	Lazonby	Neighbourhood	Plan		 Page	11	
 

47. I do not consider that the fact that there has historically been a bungalow and a 
restaurant on the land, is of relevance to my conclusions on this point, as I saw no 
evidence of those historical structures when I drove around the site. The site’s 
authorised use is as a park for the stationing of mobile homes for holiday use (with 
2 units being covered by personal and temporary consents for unencumbered 
residential use). 

48. I appreciate the argument advanced by the Eden planners in their response, that 
the proposed allocation would have a closer relationship with Old Town, but is 
outside that settlement. In that case, I consider that the approach in Policy LS1 is 
that it is covered as “Other Rural Areas (Outside the Key Hubs and Small Villages 
and Hamlets)”, where the policy is to restrict development to the reuse of traditional 
buildings or the provision of affordable housing. The comments of the Council’s 
Affordable Housing Officer are that the scale of the site is not suitable site for purely 
affordable housing. The proposal is for a housing use with the usual 30% affordable 
content. 

49. My overall conclusion on the proposed allocation of HS1 is that this is not a 
sustainable location for what is a significant residential development, and my view 
is that this allocation does not meet the basic condition of general conformity with 
the strategic policies in the Eden Local Plan. This would be a sizable development 
which is not related to the settlement hierarchy in the district and, in view of its 
location away from either of the Key Hubs, I will not be recommending that the site 
be retained as a residential allocation. It may well be that a planning application 
based on the redevelopment of the storage building and its immediate curtilage 
could be supported on the basis of that being the redevelopment of a brownfield 
site and therefore in line with the provisions of Policy D2 and paragraph 55 of the 
NPPF (2012). Such a proposal can be dealt with in a straight forward manner 
through the development management process rather than through the 
neighbourhood plan. 

50. The deletion of this site will not affect the ability of the plan to deliver (along with 
commitments and completions already made) to the target for Lazonby village as 
set out in Policy RUR1 of the recently adopted Local Plan. 
 
Scale	of	development	within	the	village	boundary 
 

51. Turning now to the second substantive matter, the scale of development that the 
plan allows within the village boundary. The text in Section 7.1 of the 
neighbourhood plan points to there being a general consensus within the 
community, accepting small scale development within the village. The plan’s 
glossary defines small development as development of up to 5 residential units or 
development on the site having any area of less than 0 .2 ha. Therefore, a scheme 
of seven units would still be considered a small development, so long as the site 
area is under the 0.2 ha threshold. However, that “general consensus” is not 

Page  97



John Slater Planning Ltd  
 

Report	of	the	Examiner	into	the	Lazonby	Neighbourhood	Plan		 Page	12	
 

translated into the wording of Policy H1, which refers to “the development of single 
dwellings will also be supported on sites not allocated in this plan that are either 
within the settlement boundary…”. It then goes to establish two provisos, either 
proposals that are within the settlement boundary or meet the conditions in Policy 
B2 – conversions of rural buildings. 

52. However, the approach to housing within the neighbourhood plan appears further 
confused, as Policy D2 allows windfall developments within the village boundary for 
up to 3 dwellings. The final paragraph of Policy D2 as submitted, which deals with 
the development of greenfield sites anywhere in the plan area, also permits any 
“development which meets the policy requirements outlined within… the 
development plan, including the Eden Local Plan.” Therefore, there is a scenario 
whereby a single site could come forward on greenfield land within the village 
boundary under Local Plan Policy LS1, which increases the size of the village by up 
to 10% and that would be supported irrespective of the 5-year housing supply. In 
the case of Lazonby Village that could allow the development of around 30 units 
(bearing in mind the number of households in the parish amounted to 432 in 2011.) 

53. It is the neighbourhood plan that has drawn the settlement boundary around the 
village and I do wonder as to why it has chosen to draw the boundary so as to 
include within the village boundary, a number of fields which are larger than the 0.2 
ha and which now would offer opportunities for “rounding off” despite the text 
referring to a “buffer area” although there may be reasons why the land may not be 
suitable for development due to other constraints. I do not accept the argument that 
these areas offer a supply of developable land beyond the plan period, as a future 
review could have reassessed the alignment of the boundary, based on the 
housing needs at that time.  

54. I am very aware of the desire expressed within the village for the issues of the 
“eyesore sites” and the redevelopment of brownfield sites” should take precedence 
over the development of greenfield sites. However, the plan is looking for windfall 
development to contribute 32 dwellings over the plan period. 

55.  I do not consider that the plan is being consistent. It recognises the role that small 
developments of up to 5 dwellings or developments on sites under 0.2 ha can play 
but then seeks to limit that development to 3 units by Policy H1 (as the Parish  
proposed I amend the wording to, in their response to my Initial Comments). It 
would be inconsistent with national policy, if development took place that did not 
make the most efficient use of developable land, in built-up areas. I share the 
concerns of the District Council about proposals coming forward for smaller number 
of larger units on sites which are capable of delivering more housing, including 
schemes which could contribute to affordable housing, so long as the site area 
does not exceed the threshold of 0 .2 ha. I will change the figure in Policy H1 to up 
to and including 5 houses, in order that it makes efficient use of land and the 
capacity will also be contingent on the specifics of the site in any event. 

Page  98



John Slater Planning Ltd  
 

Report	of	the	Examiner	into	the	Lazonby	Neighbourhood	Plan		 Page	13	
 

Other	Matters	
56. My examination has concentrated on the wording of the policies themselves, rather 

than the supporting text, as these will be used to determine planning applications. It 
is beyond my role as examiner to be making editorial changes to the Plan’s 
supporting text, as these are not required to ensure the plan meets the basic 
conditions. There may be changes necessary to the supporting text and policy 
justifications, which are needed in the light of my recommendations, so that the 
plan reads as a coherent planning document. That is a matter for the Parish 
Council to discuss with Eden planners when preparing the Referendum Version of 
the Plan. 

57. However, there are some subject areas, where the mapping appears to be 
misleading or covers matters or makes designations that should not be included in 
a neighbourhood plan. In this respect, Figures 7 and 8 both show “LNP 
designations in the parish” and includes historic and proposed footpaths. These are 
not neighbourhood plan designations and should be removed from the document 
as it implies the plan is granting a status to rights of ways that it cannot give. That is 
a matter covered by separate legislation. Similarly, the plan is not designating Open 
Access Land. These should be removed from the Map. I appreciate that these are 
matters that are of importance to the village and can and should be a subject that 
the Parish Council, in association with the County Council’s Rights of Way Officer 
can pursue. It is important that the neighbourhood plan is a document that will be 
used to determine planning applications. 

58.  Equally Tables 3 and 4 deal with existing and historic rights of way as well as a 
proposed right of way. These are issues that fall outside the remit of a 
neighbourhood plan and including disputed matters in what will be part of the 
development plan, is likely to be misleading and implies a status that cannot be 
given. In that respect, I support the representations made by Savills, on behalf of 
the major land owners, whose land is affected. In the interest of clarity, I propose 
that Tables 3 and 4 be removed from the plan.  

The	Neighbourhood	Development	Plan	Policies	

	Policy	D1:	General	Development	Principles	
59. Effectively, this policy requires development to comply with other policies in the 

plan. That is unnecessary as under planning law, under Section 38(1) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, all planning applications must be 
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material 
circumstances indicate otherwise. As written, the policy ignores the role the Local 
Plan plays and implies that applications in the neighbourhood plan area only 
need to comply with the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan. 

60. Equally I do not consider that the second part of the policy provides the 
necessary clarity as to what an applicant is expected to demonstrate, when it 

Page  99



John Slater Planning Ltd  
 

Report	of	the	Examiner	into	the	Lazonby	Neighbourhood	Plan		 Page	14	
 

refers to “a sustainable approach to economic, social and environmental 
development of the parish in the long term.” This is not practical basis for 
decision making and fails to comply with the Secretary of State’s advice as to 
how a neighbourhood plan policy should be drafted. The Planning Practice 
Guidance states that a policy should be “….clear and unambiguous. It should be 
drafted with sufficient clarity that the decision maker can apply it consistently and 
with confidence when determining planning applications.” 

61. The Local Plan already contains an overarching policy, dealing with General 
Development Principles. Policy DEV1 refers to the securing of development that 
“improves economic social and environmental conditions in the area”. It also 
indicates that proposals that are in line with both the neighbourhood plan and the 
local plan “will be approved”. This policy applies to development within the plan 
area already and provides a tangible expression of the overarching development 
principles that can be used in the determination of all planning applications. 

62. As I consider that the policy does not meet basic conditions relating to Secretary 
of State advice, I propose that the policy be deleted, allowing decision-makers to 
rely upon Policy DEV1 of the Eden Local Plan. 

Recommendation	
That the policy be deleted. 
 
Policy	D2:	Greenfield	Sites  

63. There are elements of the policy that are not worded so as to be capable of being 
used to determine planning applications. For example, “The plan supports Eden 
District Council’s sequential approach to land use development”. That is a 
statement which sets out the background to the policy and should be part of the 
supporting justification. To state that “applicants coming forward… will be 
encouraged”. The policy should be worded in a positive manner stating that 
“planning applications will be approved…” 

64. In terms of the policy, the policy is seeking to include a presumption in favour of 
the redevelopment of previously developed land i.e. brownfield sites whether they 
are within or outside of the village boundary. The policy then presumes against 
the development of greenfield sites apart from those which are allocated in the 
plan. The plan then allows development “in exceptional circumstances” and 
where there is an “absence of any suitable alternative sites”. That will always be 
part of the planning balance requiring an assessment as to whether material 
circumstances dictate other than determination in accordance with the 
development plan. 

65.  I do not consider that it is appropriate or accurate to consider all other land apart 
from Hesket Park and The Princes (Eden Valley Mineral) Water Company sites 
as greenfield sites. There may be other sites within the plan area that meet the 
definition of brownfield land.  I will recommend the rationalising of the policy so as 
to presume against the development of greenfield sites which are not covered by 

Page  100



John Slater Planning Ltd  
 

Report	of	the	Examiner	into	the	Lazonby	Neighbourhood	Plan		 Page	15	
 

other policies in the plan e.g. allocation sites, or for development which is 
supported by policies in the Local Plan such as agricultural buildings. 

Recommendation	
      Replace the policy with: - 

“Proposals involving the redevelopment of previously developed land on 
all sites within the plan area, will be approved, subject to compliance with 
other policies in the development plan. 

Proposals for the development of greenfield sites, other than as permitted 
by policies in this plan or the Eden Local Plan, will not be approved.” 

Retitle the policy – “Greenfield and Brownfield sites” 

	

Policy	D3:	Design	of	New	Development 

66. I commend the Steering Group for producing an excellent design guide which is 
capable of being the basis for consideration of design in the parish. I do not 
necessarily consider that the threshold for departing from the requirements of the 
design guide, should be “justification of exceptional circumstances”. I believe that 
if the applicant does not choose to follow that guidance, then it is a matter from 
the decision maker to assess as to whether that departure is justified. 

Recommendation	
The second sentence of the policy should be deleted. 
 
Policy	D4:	Landscaping	and	New	Development  

67. I have no comments on this policy. 
 
Policy	D5:	Trees 

68. A neighbourhood plan policy cannot require a planning application to be 
accompanied by any particular document. That is the role of the Local Validation 
Requirements document that is prepared on the districtwide basis by the local 
planning authority and which needs to be regularly reviewed. The requirements 
for tree surveys etc. are already in place. 

69. However, the aspirations of the policy can be achieved by rewording of the policy 
to require proposal to demonstrate the existing trees and hedges can be 
protected. 

70. Furthermore, I have noted that the definition of mature trees in the glossary refers 
to “any tree that has reached one third of its expected height”. I do not know how 
a layman would know if a particular tree has reached that point.  I consider that it 
is more important that the policy should only relate to those trees that positively 

Page  101



John Slater Planning Ltd  
 

Report	of	the	Examiner	into	the	Lazonby	Neighbourhood	Plan		 Page	16	
 

impact on the amenity of the plan area, rather the policy providing blanket 
protection to every tree in the parish. 

	Recommendation	
Delete “mature” and “(see Glossary)” and replace “of amenity value” with 
“that contribute to the amenity of the area” in the first sentence.  

Replace the second and third sentence by “Any planning application for 
development that could affect any such trees or hedges will be expected to 
demonstrate how the trees, hedges and their roots will be protected during 
the construction and how the developer will integrate these trees and/ or 
hedges into the scheme, including incorporating appropriate new 
planting.”  

 
Policy	 D6:	 Protection	 and	 Provision	 of	 Open	 Space,	 Land	 of	 Amenity	
Value	and	Local	Green	Space 

71. I had some concerns regarding this policy as submitted. I was concerned that it 
was not prescriptive enough as to which areas were to be designated as local 
green space, as it refers to green spaces “such as Will Pool”. It is the purpose of 
the neighbourhood plan policy to actually designate areas of local green space. I 
have now received clarification as to which sites are identified and the Parish 
Council has put forward the suggested rewording the policy. However, I will not 
just be referring to the sites, as shown on a particular map, but propose that they 
be designated in the wording of the policy.  

72. To ensure that the policy is in line with Secretary of State advice, the protection 
against development on these sites should be qualified, to “other than in very 
special circumstances”. 

73. I also sought clarification as to how each area is considered to be important to 
local community, having regard to the criteria set out in paragraph 77 of the 
NPPF (2012). Whilst there is only limited additional evidence provided I am 
satisfied that the areas qualify as Local Greens Space and are “demonstrably 
special to the community”. 

74. Figure 8 refers to Site 7 as being “a proposed green space”. I am satisfied that 
this area of riverbank does already meet the requirements and does not need to 
be differentiated from other existing local green spaces. The table provided to me 
in response to my Initial Comments needs to be incorporated into the 
neighbourhood plan. 

75.  Finally, I felt that it would be clearer to differentiate the protection of existing 
open spaces from the policy covering open space etc. in new development. The 
Parish Council concurred with that view and this is now to be removed from 
Policy D6 which can now be retitled Local Green Space. 

Page  102



John Slater Planning Ltd  
 

Report	of	the	Examiner	into	the	Lazonby	Neighbourhood	Plan		 Page	17	
 

							Recommendations	
      Replace the policy with  

“The following areas are designated as Local Green Space as shown on 
Map 8: - 

• Will Pool 
• Old Post Office/ Old School / Croglin Designs Land 
• Land adjacent to the Parish Church 
• Brooklyn Green Area 
• Sports Field 
• Bateman’s Lane 
• Riverside, Car Park and Picnic site 
• Coronation Gardens 
• Community Park 
• Swimming Pool 
• Scaur Close Green 

Development on these sites will not be permitted other than in very special 
circumstances” 
Amend Figure 8 by removing Proposed Local Green Space and colour it as 
Local Green Space 
Remove Local Green Space and Proposed Green Space from Figure 7 
Replace Table 1 with the amended Table 1 from the LPC response to my 
Initial Comments but with the columns entitled “Acts of Maintenance” and 
“Structures on land and / or leased” removed. 
Retitle policy Local Green Space 
 
Policy	D7:	New	Recreation	and	Play	Areas 

76. This policy is an amalgamation of the second part of Policy D6 and the proposed 
Policy D7. I have no other comments to make in this regard other than to accept 
the proposal from the Parish Council in their response to my initial comments. 

							Recommendation	
      Replace the policy with: - 

“New recreation, amenity and play areas for the whole community will be 
encouraged in any new development proposals (see Policy D6 for existing 
green spaces).  Developments of 10, or more, dwellings, or of sites of 0.5 
ha, or greater, will be expected to provide an area of public open space in 
line with the indicative quantity standards (hectares per 1000 population) 
set out in relation to Policy COM3 of the Eden Local Plan, with details to be 
agreed to the satisfaction of the Parish Council, as a part of any proposals 
that are submitted. The space need not be within the proposal site 
boundary, but should be in proximity to it. 

Page  103



John Slater Planning Ltd  
 

Report	of	the	Examiner	into	the	Lazonby	Neighbourhood	Plan		 Page	18	
 

As a part of this policy the following proposals have been incorporated 
within the plan.  
1) Improvements to the current Sports Field (Fig 8, 5) area to include a 
hard surface area for netball, basketball and tennis as well as all-weather 
pitches to allow football and cricket to take place. 
2) A new recreation area at the top of the village to be part of a potential 
further housing development on Scaur Lane (see Fig 8).” 

							Policy	D8:	Footpaths		
77. As I have previously pointed out, this policy strays into areas that do not relate to 

the matters that can be covered by a neighbourhood plan but are covered by 
their own separate legislation, which is not administered by the Local Planning 
Authority, but rather by the County Councils as Highway Authority. 

78. I can understand the aspirations of the local community to want to use the 
neighbourhood plan to propose new additional rights of way and their desire can 
be incorporated within a community aspirations section of the plan, rather than 
being a planning policy, that will be used for the determination of planning 
applications. I have also paid due regards to the representations submitted on 
behalf of the landowners affected by the “historic footpaths” as noted on Figure 7. 
I recommend that these routes be removed as they have no status in the 
development plan and their inclusion causes uncertainty to landowners and their 
tenants and potentially to future users of the neighbourhood plan, who may 
assume the route has a status, that is not established in law. 

79.  I do, however, consider that it is appropriate for the planning policy to require 
new development to have regard to existing rights of ways which are either within 
or adjacent to development sites and impose an expectation that the schemes 
will, where relevant, protect and or enhance the amenities and enjoyment by 
users of that right-of-way. I propose that Tables 3 and 4 should also be removed 
from the document. 
Recommendations	

      Delete the first paragraph from the policy. 

Delete Tables 3 and 4 from the plan. 

Remove from Figure 7, the two Historic Footpaths shown as 10 and 6. 

Policy	D9:	Cycleways 

80. I have sought clarification from the Parish Council of its intentions regarding this 
policy, as I was concerned that the wording regarding “the legibility” of the 
network was somewhat unclear. In its response, it pointed out that there is no 
cycleway network in the parish, but that there is a desire to create one. Figure 7 
describes the proposed Lazonby Cycleway which is a route that appears to be 

Page  104



John Slater Planning Ltd  
 

Report	of	the	Examiner	into	the	Lazonby	Neighbourhood	Plan		 Page	19	
 

entirely on roads. As such  the designation is not likely to fall within the remit of a 
planning application. This aspiration can be included within the development plan 
document but not as policy for “the use and development of land”. It is perhaps a 
question of signage and publicity and that should be a matter for the Highway 
Authority. 

81. I concur with the aspiration that if there are any developments that can connect 
with a cycle network then the opportunity should be taken, in line with national 
advice. I will be recommending suitable wording, although any planning obligation 
would have to meet the three tests set out in Regulation 122 of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010, which are repeated in Paragraph 204 of 
the NPPF (2012).   

						Recommendation	
     Reword the policy as follows: - 

Any proposed residential development, which will be in close proximity to 
any future cycle network will be expected to connect to that network and 
where appropriate, will be expected to contribute to improvements to the 
cycle network and safe cycle parking provision. 

 
Policy	H1:	Housing	Development 

82. If a proposal meets the requirements set out in the development plan, then it is 
not necessary for the development proposals to be “supplemented as necessary 
through up-to-date housing need surveys”. However, I can see that should 
housing needs in the parish change over the lifetime of the plan, if evidenced by 
an up-to-date survey, then there are grounds which can allow development to be 
approved, say on an exception site basis. I will therefore propose that the 
wording be amended so the two requirements are alternatives, rather than as an 
additional requirement. 

83. I will also amend the limits of the single unit to follow the definition of small 
development which is five units for development or sites of up to 0.2 ha. 

84. I believe that the threshold for considering the adverse impact on existing 
neighbours is set too low. This would allow any small adverse impact to be the 
basis for preventing the building of new homes. I will be recommending the 
insertion of “significant”, in terms of the assessing the threshold of an adverse 
impact. 

85. In terms of the allocated sites, for the reasons I have previously rehearsed in the 
Plan Overview section, I am recommending that Site HS 1, Hesket Park be 
removed as an allocation. I also note that the proposed allocation Site HS 2 – 
The Meadows has not only received planning permission but that the site has 
been completed and occupied for two years. The numbers will count against the 
target of 106 for the village set out in the Local Plan and I have been advised that 

Page  105



John Slater Planning Ltd  
 

Report	of	the	Examiner	into	the	Lazonby	Neighbourhood	Plan		 Page	20	
 

the figure for completions in the table attached to Policy RUR 1 already 
recognises the 48 houses that have been completed as part of this development. 
To include it again would be double counting. 

86. I have no other comments to make in respect of the other allocations other than 
to incorporate the recommendations of Natural England in terms of measures to 
prevent harm to the River Eden from any development. 

Recommendations	
 In a) delete “statutory” and replace “and” with “or”. 

In b) replace “Supplemented as necessary: with “As demonstrated”, insert 
“an” before “up to date” and replace “surveys” with “survey” 

In the second paragraph, replace “single” with “up to 5” and add at the end 
“or are on greenfield sites of no more than 0.2 ha within the village 
boundary”. 

In 2) insert” significant” before “adverse” 

In the Site Allocation Table remove Sites HS1 and HS2 and amend 
subsequent plans. 

 Insert in the Comments and Constraints column against each remaining 
allocations a reference to the need for the developer to submit a 
Construction Method Statement and Surface Water Drainage Plan to 
mitigate any adverse impacts on the River Eden and Tributaries SSSI. 

 
Policy	H2:	Affordable	Housing 

87. National advice is that applicants should not be required to enter into a planning 
obligation, if the matter can be covered by planning condition. In most cases, 
however, affordable housing contributions and related requirements to be 
delivered by a housing development, are included within a planning obligation. 
Policy HS1 of the Eden Local Plan states that “planning permission will be linked 
to an agreement that any affordable housing delivered will remain affordable in 
perpetuity and occupancy will be restricted to those in the locality as defined in 
Appendix 5 – Local Connection Criteria for Affordable Housing”. 

88. Planning Practice Guidance refers to affordable housing being provided by 
planning obligations, in terms of contributions or thresholds for delivery. I 
therefore propose, to avoid confusion, to remove reference to control being 
exercised by planning conditions.  These are primarily matters that are dealt with 
through planning negotiations to secure planning agreements, which by their 
nature require the consent of all parties with an interest in the land. It will also 
mean that the neighbourhood plan policy will be consistent with Policy HS1 of the 
Eden Local Plan. 

Page  106



John Slater Planning Ltd  
 

Report	of	the	Examiner	into	the	Lazonby	Neighbourhood	Plan		 Page	21	
 

						Recommendation	
      In the first sentence remove “conditions attached to the planning 

permission, or a separate”. 

 Delete the final sentence. 
 
Policy	H3:	Housing	for	the	Elderly	and	Sheltered	Housing	 

89. This policy is in two parts. Firstly, it allows for either the redevelopment of Eden 
Court or its extension onto the adjacent land, which is a greenfield site within the 
village boundary. The proposal also supports “new accommodation that complies 
with other policies in the plan”. I consider that it is important for elderly residents 
that they should be able to access local services and so the presumption is that 
they should be within or adjacent to the village boundary rather than new 
developments in more remote areas of the plan area. It is important that all 
proposals also have regard to policies in the local plan where it is relevant and 
that cover other matters not addressed in the neighbourhood plan. Throughout 
the plan, I will be recommending that reference is made to the policies in the 
development plan. 

Recommendation	
      In the final sentence replace “this” by “the development”  

Policy	B1:	New	Business	Premises	Development 
90. I have no comments to make on this policy which meets the basic conditions, 

apart from referring to conformity with other policies that are in the development 
plan. 
 
Recommendation	
At the end of the first sentence, replace “this” by “the development”.	
 
Policy	 B2:	 Farm	 Diversification	 and	 Buildings	 Outside	 Current	
Settlement	Areas 

91. I do not think that the objectives of the third proviso -  “if the buildings are for 
tourism purposes, clear evidence for the use can be provided” is sufficiently clear 
as to what the policy is requiring. I do not understand what evidence is being 
sought, is it demand information or market intelligence? I do not consider that 
evidence is necessary as the plan acknowledges that there is limited tourism 
activity in the plan area.  I will recommend that this element of the policy be 
deleted. 

92. Beyond that I consider that plan meets the basic conditions. 

Recommendation	
     Delete proviso 3) 

Page  107



John Slater Planning Ltd  
 

Report	of	the	Examiner	into	the	Lazonby	Neighbourhood	Plan		 Page	22	
 

Policy	B3:	Café	and	A3	premises 

93. I have no comments to make on this policy, which clearly seeks to address what 
the community feels it is a deficiency in the village. 
 
Policy	B4:	New	Tourism	Development 

94. This is a policy that encourages new tourism development. I have no comments 
to make other than to refer to other policies “in the development plan.” 

							Recommendation		
     Insert “development” before “plan”. 

 
Policy	B5:	Conversion	of	Redundant	Buildings 

95. This policy seeks to restrict the occupation of redundant buildings in residential 
units converted to occupation only by local farm workers. The relevant Secretary 
of State policy is found in paragraph 55 of the NPPF (2012). This seeks to avoid 
isolated homes in the countryside, unless special circumstances exist and it gives 
four examples, including “meeting the essential needs for a rural worker (Note: 
not just farmworkers) to live at or near the place of work in the countryside. 

96. Whilst I can see that a case can be made to allow accommodation for 
farmworkers’ housing, such workers have the ability to be granted planning 
permission for new homes in the countryside, where unrestricted homes would 
not ordinarily be allowed. The Secretary of State’s policy is clearly that the 
conversion of redundant buildings to residential use is not required to be 
restricted to a particular occupation. Equally national policy is not to restrict the 
conversion of buildings to sustainable locations, as the policy recognises that 
these can be isolated houses in locations where such buildings already stand. 
This policy as proposed, does not meet the basic conditions as it conflicts with 
the Secretary of State’s policy. As submitted, it could allow redundant buildings to 
stand empty, which is not a sustainable policy. It should also be noted that farms 
enjoy permitted development rights for the conversion of buildings for up to 5 
small houses. This policy is also more restrictive than allowed by Policy RUR 3 of 
the Eden Local Plan. 

Recommendation	
Delete all of the first paragraph after “supported” in the second sentence   
and insert “where it will lead to an enhancement to the immediate setting.”     

Policy	M1:	Small-scale	Renewable	and	Low	Carbon	Energy	Schemes	
97. I have seen no evidence that justifies the requirement that “energy generating 

infrastructure and its installation complies with microgeneration certification 
scheme.” Whilst I am sure compliance is to be encouraged, being a nationally 

Page  108



John Slater Planning Ltd  
 

Report	of	the	Examiner	into	the	Lazonby	Neighbourhood	Plan		 Page	23	
 

recognised quality assurance scheme I have seen no justification to make that 
requirement obligatory – it would not be grounds for refusing a planning 
application. I propose to recommend that this requirement should be removed 
from the policy, but reference can be made to using the scheme is to be 
encouraged, in the supporting text. 

98. I will also be recommending changes to the proviso 6, so as to require the 
imposition of a planning condition which requires the removal of the equipment 
rather than seeking an unreasonable expectation that “a scheme is agreed with 
EDC to remove the equipment, once no longer used, as soon as practical”. 

Recommendations	
Delete proviso 5). 

Delete all of proviso 6) up to “remove” and insert “The imposition of a 
planning condition requiring the removal of”. 

Policy	I1:	Infrastructure	Capacity 
99. I believe that it is over onerous to require all applicants to “demonstrate that there 

is sufficient capacity with existing infrastructure network to meet the demands of 
the development” irrespective of the size or type of proposed development. I 
consider that this can only be a matter that needs to be addressed in respect of 
the major developments. This policy has not been supported by specific evidence 
of inadequate infrastructure capacity in Lazonby. I consider that the recently 
adopted Local Plan Policy DEV4 – Infrastructure and Implementation, makes it 
clear that where development is dependent upon sufficient capacity being 
available in the existing infrastructure network to meet the needs of the new 
development, then this should be provided by the developer. I therefore propose 
to delete this particular policy, as it is overly onerous and has not been supported 
by any evidence. Concerns are already covered by the Local Plan. 

Recommendation	
     That the policy be deleted. 

Policy	I2:	Parking	and	Traffic 

100. I have no comments to make on this policy. 

The	Referendum	Area	
 

101. If I am to recommend that the Plan progresses to its referendum stage, I am 
required to confirm whether the referendum should cover a larger area than the 
area covered by the Neighbourhood Plan. In this instance, I can confirm that the 
area of the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan as designated by Eden District Council 

Page  109



John Slater Planning Ltd  
 

Report	of	the	Examiner	into	the	Lazonby	Neighbourhood	Plan		 Page	24	
 

on 18th September 2014, is the appropriate area for the referendum to be held 
and the area for the referendum does not need to be extended. 

102. If I had recommended that Hesket Park allocation had been allowed to be 
retained, I would have recommended that the referendum area should have been 
extended to include High Hesket and Old Town, as these communities would 
have been impacted on the development and may not have had an opportunity to 
be consulted on the proposed allocations. It would have been unreasonable that 
residents of a village some kilometres away be allowed to vote on a substantial 
housing allocation, well away from their village, but the residents more closely 
affected by that development would not have that opportunity. 

Summary	
 

103. I must congratulate the Steering Group and Lazonby Parish Council for preparing 
what is a locally distinct neighbourhood plan, which seeks to deliver on the 
expressed priorities of the residents of Lazonby. The plan has been examined 
against the backdrop of a recently adopted Eden Local Plan. The two plans will 
complement each other and will provide a sound basis for dealing with planning 
applications in the parish in the next few years. 

104. I suspect the Parish Council may be disappointed that I have I had to remove 
reference to the rights of way issues, which clearly was a reflection of views put 
forward by local residents. However, these are matters which are covered by 
separate legal procedures and it must always be remembered that the purpose of 
a neighbourhood plan is to write policies which are used for the determination of 
planning applications. 

105. I appreciate any neighbourhood plan is a reflection of the wishes of the 
community and I have tried to retain as much of those aspirations as possible, 
but I have in a number of areas had to make recommendations for modifications 
which will ensure that the plan does meet the legal requirements – especially the 
basic conditions.  Two of these have been in the forefront of my mind, namely the 
need to be in general conformity with the strategic policies in the Local Plan and 
also having regard to the Secretary of State policy and advice. Nevertheless, I 
believe that the plan that will emerge from this examination will be recognisable 
to the plan that was submitted. 

106. To conclude, I can confirm that my overall conclusions are that the Plan, if 
amended in line with my recommendations, meets all the statutory requirements 
including the basic conditions test and that it is appropriate, if successful at 
referendum, that the Plan, as amended, be made. 

 

Page  110



John Slater Planning Ltd  
 

Report	of	the	Examiner	into	the	Lazonby	Neighbourhood	Plan		 Page	25	
 

107. I am therefore delighted to recommend to Eden District Council that the 
Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan, as modified by my recommendations, 
should now proceed to referendum.     

JOHN SLATER BA(Hons), DMS, MRTPI 

John Slater Planning Ltd         

12th December 2018                   

 

Page  111



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

1 
 

1 

LAZONBY NEIGHBOURHOOD 
PLAN 

2014-2032 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

02/07/19 

 

Appendix B

Page  112



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

2 
 

2 

This plan has been prepared by the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group, on behalf of 
Lazonby Parish Council and residents of the parish. It is dedicated to the Memory of Elizabeth 
Howe, who made an outstanding contribution to its production. 

 

  

Page  113



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

3 
 

3 

Contents 
1 Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ 5 

1.1 Lazonby and its setting ................................................................................................................. 5 

2 The Plan Development ........................................................................................................................ 14 

2.1 Initial Community Engagement ................................................................................................... 14 

2.2 Pre-Submission Stage ................................................................................................................ 14 

2.3 Sustainability Issues .................................................................................................................... 15 

2.4 The Submission Plan for Independent Examination ................................................................... 15 

2.5 Monitoring and Review ................................................................................................................ 16 

3 a Vision for The Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan .................................................................................. 17 

3.1 Introduction .................................................................................................................................. 17 

4 Objectives for the Plan ........................................................................................................................ 19 

4.1 Introduction .................................................................................................................................. 19 

5 Management of development and growth in Lazonby ........................................................................ 21 

5.1 General Development Principles................................................................................................. 21 

5.2 Greenfield Sites ........................................................................................................................... 25 

6 Design and Conservation .................................................................................................................... 27 

6.1 Design of New Development....................................................................................................... 27 

6.2 Landscaping and New Development .......................................................................................... 29 

6.3 Protection and Provision of local green space ............................................................................ 31 

6.4 Recreation and Play Areas ......................................................................................................... 34 

6.5 Footpaths and Cycleways ........................................................................................................... 36 

7 Housing Development ......................................................................................................................... 37 

7.1 Housing Scale and Location ....................................................................................................... 37 

7.2 Affordable Housing ...................................................................................................................... 47 

7.3 Sheltered Housing ....................................................................................................................... 48 

7.4 Discounted sites .......................................................................................................................... 48 

8 Rural Business Development .............................................................................................................. 52 

8.1 New Businesses .......................................................................................................................... 52 

8.2 Objectives of planning for employment and business development ........................................... 53 

8.3 Economic activity of residents ..................................................................................................... 53 

8.4 Self-employment in Lazonby Parish ........................................................................................... 55 

8.5 Carers .......................................................................................................................................... 55 

8.6 Farming ....................................................................................................................................... 55 

8.7 Tourism ....................................................................................................................................... 57 

8.8 Home Working............................................................................................................................. 60 

Page  114



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

4 
 

4 

8.9 Conversion of Redundant Buildings ............................................................................................ 60 

9 Micro-Energy Schemes ....................................................................................................................... 61 

9.1 Micro-Energy Schemes ............................................................................................................... 61 

10 Infrastructure Capacity .................................................................................................................... 63 

11 Planning Gain: Lazonby Parish proposed spending ....................................................................... 65 

12 Acknowledgements ......................................................................................................................... 66 

13 Glossary .......................................................................................................................................... 67 

14 Bibliography..................................................................................................................................... 72 

 

 

  

Page  115



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

5 
 

5 

1 INTRODUCTION 
1.1 LAZONBY AND ITS SETTING 

This Neighbourhood Plan (LNP) relates to the Parish of Lazonby, which is in the Eden 

District of the county of Cumbria. In order to appreciate the Plan for the future, it is 

necessary to know of the past and understand the present. Various points referred to in 

this introduction will be expanded upon later in the Plan. 

This is a rural area consisting mostly of undulating farmland, woodland and heath, 

bordered to the east by the River Eden. Within the parish, there are open views to the 

Pennines, the Solway and the Lake District. It is located between the major centres of 

Carlisle and Penrith but surrounded by other rural parishes of a similar nature. The parish 

includes sites of special scientific interest and other areas of recognised scenic 

importance.  

Although a scenic area, tourism is not a major contributor to the local economy. Facilities 

for tourists in the parish are limited. The parish is not on the C2C cycle route and footpaths 

are limited in their extent with few ‘circular’ routes, in particular.  

The layout of the land has followed the same pattern for several hundred years. Probably 

the last real change was as a result of the effect of enclosures of much of the land that 

took place in or around 1819. Most of the fields are bounded by traditional drystone walls 

or ancient hedgerows. Although badly hit by the outbreak of foot and mouth disease in 

2001, the farms have recovered well and without significant loss of farmland. 

There are various small groupings of dwellings in the parish, mostly associated with farms, 

and one significant settlement, the village of Lazonby. 

 

Page  116



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

6 
 

6 

 
         Figure 1 The Parish of Lazonby depicting the area designated for the plan 

Page  117



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

7 
 

7 

A significant product of the parish is Lazonby sandstone. This has a distinctive red colour 

that gives the older properties and the many dry stone walls their distinctive colour, which 

contrasts with the limestone in most of the surrounding areas. The Building Research 

Establishment assessed the material in the 1990s and produced a technical worksheet 

identifying Plumpton Red Lazonby Sandstone as being suitable for ‘most aspects of 

construction including flooring, paving, load bearing masonry and cladding including areas 

where a long service life is needed or where high salt concentrations are expected’ (BRE 

Technical Data Sheet, July 1997 updated March 2000). It has a high abrasion resistance, 

making it suitable for heavily trafficked areas. 

The relationship between the village and the surrounding farmland can still be clearly 

seen. Although the number of farms in the village has reduced significantly from a high of 

about seventeen, there is still one that is fully operational and several that surround the 

developed parts of the village. Most farms rear sheep and/or cattle with some arable land 

often used to provide animal feed and bedding.  

 

Figure 2 The village of Lazonby, looking towards the station with the Eden valley in the 
background 

Page  118



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

8 
 

8 

The connection can be seen most clearly at the auction mart that enjoys a national 

reputation for its specialist sheep sales. It is also one of the largest brownfield sites in the 

parish. 

It can also be seen by the keeping by villagers of horses, ponies and donkeys, the keeping 

of hens for the production of eggs and the sharing of surplus fruit grown in the village. 

Changes in farming practices and the pressure to reduce costs have led to less directly 

employed farmworkers and an increase in contractors and self-employed agricultural 

workers.  

Within the parish, there are two national employers, Princes Water Company and Low 

Plains Quarry, and a further employer, Bells, which is based in the parish but supplies its 

products nationally. Each of these operations is within defined areas. 

However, there is a general lack of employment opportunities in the parish so that 

commuting to work is necessary. However, there is a large number of self-employed 

persons covering a wide variety of trades and/or using new technology. They have filled 

many gaps in the market caused by the absence of many national contracting companies. 

There has been a settlement in or around the present village of Lazonby for many 

hundreds of years. The name itself appears to be derived from the Norse for freedman’s 

home, which would put the origins well before the Norman Conquest. Finds in the area 

suggest that there may have been occupation during the Stone Age. The site of a Roman 

fort has also been identified in the parish and the route of the present day A6 to the west 

of the parish is the line of a Roman road. 

Within the settlement is a house dating back to 1617 and another from about the end of 

the same century. A map in 1774 identified the names of several of the farms that are still 

in existence round the village. There are various other properties with features that are 

traditional to the area and some houses have dressed walls that are pained with stone 

window surrounds painted in a contrasting colour. The properties built since the start of the 

twentieth century are either two storeys high or bungalows. 

There is a mix between owner occupied and tenanted properties. There are two main 

areas of social housing in the village at Barton Dale and Harrow Beck Edge. In addition, 

there is sheltered accommodation provided by a Housing Association at Eden Court.  

Page  119



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

9 
 

9 

Because of the nature of the older buildings, savings on energy can be difficult. Coal and 

wood are still used as a domestic fuel with the main reliance placed on electricity and oil. 

Solar energy is starting to be used more. 

The basic layout of the village has existed for many hundreds of years which explains why 

the roads are as they are. The older properties tend to follow the road layout and most 

development has been by way of infill. This results in several pinch points which can 

restrict traffic flow, the problems being exacerbated by parking. Across the parish many 

roads would be classed as country lanes and even the main road network reflects this 

rural character. The railway bridge in the settlement has a height restriction. Just outside 

the village is a single-track canal style bridge across the River Eden, which must have 

been a considerable improvement on the previous ford and ferry crossings. 

One of the most significant changes was the arrival of the railway in 1876, but even here, 

the local requirements were recognised with a section in tunnel to avoid annoyance.  

The railway line is part of the scenic Settle to Carlisle line, which is used extensively by 

tourists and walkers. The area around the line is the subject of a conservation area.  

The community in the parish has been and continues to be self-supporting. On the site of 

an earlier church dating from 1272, the parish church was rebuilt in 1864-6 thanks to a 

local benefactor. Money from the public also provided funds for the school, schoolhouse, 

village hall and library. The village hall is still run by its own charity, as is the swimming 

pool. The local fire station is crewed by retained firefighters and there are community first 

responders who supplement the ambulance service. A community taxi service is also 

available operated by local volunteers. The parish did support two churches, one has 

recently closed, and various community groups, including a bowling club. The school has 

the benefit of a playing field, there is a large play area adjoining the swimming pool and a 

village field owned by the Parish Council. The very limited bus service is provided by a 

local organisation staffed by volunteers. 

Many families have been associated with the parish through several generations. The 

older inhabitants frequently wish to stay within the area, downsizing where possible, whilst 

the younger ones are also looking for suitable local accommodation near their families. 

Within the parish there is an absence of medical services and support for both the very 

young and the elderly (the nearest General Practitioner is based in Kirkoswald). 

Page  120



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

10 
 

10 

 
                   Figure 3 The extent of the village, see Policy D1 

Page  121



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

11 
 

11 

During the twentieth century, much of the commercial activity in the village ceased so that 

the village now only has one convenience store, a small toyshop and a filling station. Most 

shopping is undertaken in either Penrith or Carlisle, using private vehicles or taxis, or on 

the internet with a related increase in delivery vehicles in the parish. There are two public 

houses in the parish and the Village Hall provides occasional public entertainment as well 

as hosting activities of local groups. 

The parish has an ageing population. The revised population data of 2015 demonstrates 

that Lazonby Parish has 21.8% of the population aged 65 and over compared to 20.5% in 

Eden as a whole.  Both the mean and median ages are also higher than in Eden as a 

whole. Almost a quarter of the population is in the 45 to 59 years of age group, indicating 

that this population ageing trend is going to increase in the future. The ageing population 

is also reflected in the household data which shows that 28% of Lazonby households were 

composed of those 65 years and over, as compared to only 25.8% in Eden as a whole. At 

the last census in 2011, the population of the Parish fell from 980 in 2001 to 976 in 2011. 

However, there was a slight rise in the number of households, to 432, reflecting the 

construction of housing at Lamb Lea and Seat Hill during the period. The type of housing 

is principally detached houses and bungalows (47.2%), a significantly greater proportion 

than both the Eden District and national figures for ‘predominantly rural’ areas.  

Although most of the parish has retained much of its historical nature, the village of 

Lazonby has slowly evolved whilst retaining much of its historical nature and character.  
 

 

Page  122



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

12 
 

12 

 

     Figure 4 Existing designations in the Parish 

Page  123



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

13 
 

13 

 

     Figure 5 Existing designations in the village  

Page  124



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

14 
 

14 

2 THE PLAN DEVELOPMENT 
2.1 INITIAL COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT 

Lazonby Parish Council began the process of consulting on the formulation of the LNP in 

May 2013 and held intermittent meetings and consultation events over the next 15 months 

to gauge support for the idea within the parish. A formal application to develop a plan was 

made in July 2014 and a Steering Group was formed to lead the process. The 

development of the plan and the consultation undertaken during its development is 

discussed more fully in the Consultation Statement which has been prepared to support 

the LNP (Lazonby Parish Council, 2018). 

2.2 PRE-SUBMISSION STAGE 

The pre-submission stage has taken a little over two years since the formal decision to 

proceed with a plan. This has comprised an initial period of consultation to capture views 

and ideas regarding the key issues and policies to be contained in the plan, followed by a 

longer period of evidence gathering and drafting of policies to encapsulate the results of 

the consultation.  

By the end of 2015, a draft existed which the Steering Group wanted to distribute more 

widely for further consultation to ensure that the policies, as developed, reflected the views 

of the community (see Consultation Statement for details). The consultation was a 

success and discussions with Eden District Council Planning Department indicated a 

general consensus of views and approach to take the plan forward. During spring 2016, 

outside factors delayed progress. During the summer, the examination of the Eden Local 

Plan by a Planning Inspector, including a number of issues likely to have a direct bearing 

on the LNP, resulted in a deliberate pause and then revisions to elements of the plan to 

reflect decisions arising from the examination. 

The revised plan was completed during the autumn of 2016, with further consultation on 

the draft, before submission for the formal consultation stage.  

 

 

 

Page  125



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

15 
 

15 

2.3 SUSTAINABILITY ISSUES 

An important consideration has been maintaining the sustainability of the village as the 

thriving centre of the community. The school, the shop, the railway station and the pubs 

are all considered as key assets for the future of the of the village. Other important 

community facilities include the Village Hall, the swimming pool and a community park. 

In addition to these assets there are a number of employers based in the parish, such as 

Bell’s, Princes Mineral Water Company and the Auction Mart. These draw some 

employees from the parish, but the majority of their workers commute into work from 

Penrith. The opposite is true for many workers living in the parish, who commute to jobs in 

Penrith and Carlisle. Farming and related activities remain an important employer in the 

parish and balancing the needs of the rural economy for housing, farming and 

employment while retaining the character of the community are key aims of the plan. 

2.4 THE SUBMISSION PLAN FOR INDEPENDENT EXAMINATION 

Following Regulation 16 Consultation a number of comments were received leading to 

amendments to  the Plan. The LNP was formally submitted for Examination in Autumn 

2018 and returned, in December 2018, with the recommendation that the Plan should 

proceed to refernedum if modified in line with the Examiner’s suggested 

recommendations. 

The Examiner’s recommended amendments involved deleting one proposed housing 

allocation site (Hesket Park), which was not considered as being situated in a sustainable 

location. A second housing  allocation was  removed from the Plan, since the site had 

been completely developed. 

A number of other alterations were also made to clarify policy wording and to avoid 

duplication, and ensure general conformity with, the strategic policies  in the Eden Local 

Plan, which was adopted in October 2018.  

 

 

 

 

Page  126



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

16 
 

16 

2.5 MONITORING AND REVIEW 

Government Planning Practice Guidance [PPG at ID: 41-084-20160519] provides for the 

plan to be updated to maintain its relevance to planning decisions. It may be updated by 

the qualifying body, or by the Local Planning Authority, to correct an identified error. The 

Neighbourhood Planning Act (2017) sets outs a method for making certain modifications 

to an adopted plan, without the need for a new referendum. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page  127



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

17 
 

17 

3 A VISION FOR THE LAZONBY NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 
3.1 INTRODUCTION 

The vision for the LNP should capture what is special about the Parish, what is capable of 

improvement and perhaps, most important, what needs to be done to sustain the future of 

the parish. The vision for Lazonby has evolved from the consultation process. It seeks to 

capture the key issues and concerns expressed by parishioners and provide a thread 

around which policies have been woven.  The LNP is designed to provide a tool for the 

local community to determine the scale and nature of development affecting our area. The 

objective is to provide a suite of planning policies which support the vision for the parish 

and which encourage appropriate development.  

The parish is a thriving community where people of all ages have a decent place to live, 

live meaningful lives and enjoy a range of services and facilities compatible with their 

interests and aptitudes. The LNP promotes a sustainable future for Lazonby with 

access to local services such as churches, the village hall, the local school, the shop, 

clubs, filling- station, pubs, swimming pool, open spaces, footpaths, bridleways and 

recreation areas. 

The present make-up of the community is a result of gradual growth and varied 

development over a number of years, and reflects the semi-rural nature of the parish, set 

in attractive countryside. The impression is of a working (not a dormitory or commuter) 

village, not dominated by any one type of housing or development. We want the mix of old 

and new, of buildings and spaces, and different age groups, to facilitate and support the 

‘community feel’. The aim is that all those who want to live in Lazonby may be able to do 

so, and feel that it is a welcoming and friendly place. The LNP includes a Design Guide to 

maintain the character of new buildings in the parish. 

In the future the need is for a gradual increase in the housing stock, with enough genuinely 

affordable houses to enable local people to live here. The Design Guide for new homes is 

to ensure that developers take note of the existing housing stock and build houses which 

are both appropriate to the village and meet the needs of those who want to live in 

Lazonby, both young and old. The LNP recognises the status of Lazonby as a key-hub in 

the emerging Eden Local Plan and has allocated sites to meet both the parish and the 

identified district needs. 

Page  128



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

18 
 

18 

Existing eyesores (see Glossary for definition) need to be developed suitably, and 

provision made for employment opportunities with light industry or commercial activity. The 

LNP includes policies intended to support sustainable employment, the 
diversification of rural enterprises and the return to use of redundant buildings. 

The LNP includes a number of allocated sites to reflect the constraints of the village and 

includes a range of policies and a Design Guide to support the implementation of this 

vision. A number of initiatives on parking and the provision of public transport are 

included in the LNP. 

 
  

Page  129



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

19 
 

19 

4 OBJECTIVES FOR THE PLAN 
4.1 INTRODUCTION 

The objectives of the plan are enshrined in a number of policies which will be implemented 

through the planning process. Those coming forward with proposals for developments are 

encouraged to engage with the Parish Council and Eden District Council at the earliest 

stage of the design process.   

The principal objective of the plan is to enhance the overall quality of life of those living 

and working in Lazonby over the plan period. 

The principal objective will be achieved through a number of more detailed policy 

approaches, summarised below. 
 

1. To provide a framework of sustainable policies to give prospective developers guidance 

of what is needed in the parish, and the types and design of buildings which are likely to 

meet with the approval of Lazonby Parish Council and Eden District Council. 

2. To implement the provisions of a Design Guide with regard to new buildings and to 

maintain and enhance the character of existing buildings and their settings. 

3. To protect the natural environment, such as woodlands, veteran trees, hedgerows and 

important habitats, through restricting development on greenfield sites. 

4. To protect existing open and amenity spaces and to promote their enhancement. 

5. To extend the existing footpath and cycle network within the parish.  

6. To influence the scale of future developments within the parish and to support improved 

infrastructure and service provision. 

7. To extend the range of employment opportunities in the Parish. 

8. To reduce commuting. 

9. To allow for and allocate land for the growth of existing small and medium sized 

businesses. 

10. To support new, home based businesses where this does not exacerbate existing traffic 

and parking problems. 

11. To support farm diversification initiatives. 

12. To encourage businesses and services that attract visitors and promote tourism in the 

parish. 

13. To support businesses which provide services for the local community. 

Page  130



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

20 
 

20 

14. To support micro- and renewable energy generation at a scale appropriate to local 

needs. 

15. To ensure that the capacity of existing infrastructure is not exceeded and that new 

developments provide sustainable drainage systems to mitigate the effects of future 

extreme weather events. 

 

  

Page  131



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

21 
 

21 

5 MANAGEMENT OF DEVELOPMENT AND GROWTH IN 
LAZONBY 

5.1 GENERAL DEVELOPMENT PRINCIPLES 

The settlement of Lazonby is defined by the area’s topography, mainly by the valley which 

contains the Harrow Beck and descends to the River Eden, (which flows through the 

Parish). The main road B6413 follows the valley down the hill and eventually crosses the 

River Eden at Eden Bridge. The Settle-Carlisle railway line follows approximately the line 

of the river, crossing the B6413 near the bottom of the village. The road system layout has 

scarcely changed since the railway was built in the 1870s. 

The buildings have grown up over time in a piecemeal fashion around the road and 

railway system. There are old red sandstone buildings, mixed in with more recent 

developments. The slightly haphazard arrangement of the older buildings is one of the 

admired aspects of the village. Mostly, the newer developments, where they are small 

scale, observed the character of the village. With the presence of some light industry, and 

the Auction Mart, the impression is of a working (not a dormitory or commuter) village.  

 

             Figure 6 The Eden Bridge looking towards Kirkoswald 

Page  132



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

22 
 

22 

The presence of the school, churches and Village Hall contribute to that, as do the various 

play areas and open spaces.  

The results of the consultation have shown that the residents want to maintain the mix of 

old and new, of buildings and spaces, and different age groups, to facilitate and support 

the community feel, so that all those who want to live in Lazonby may be able to do so and 

feel that it is a welcoming and friendly place. 

The Design Guide (see below) for all new developments is intended to positively influence 

the siting, appearance and character of new developments within the Parish of Lazonby. 

Traffic issues have a big effect on the general environment. These cannot be ignored. 

Because of the given road and rail system, and the general topography, there are 

realistically only a few minor changes which can be made to address these problems.   

Many of the above issues were raised in the Lazonby Parish Plan 2005 especially Section 

13. Various designations relating to policies set-out in the LNP are shown on Figs 7 and 8. 

Applicants are encouraged to discuss their proposals with Eden District Council and 

Lazonby Parish Council at the earliest opportunity to ensure proposals achieve planning 

permission once submitted. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page  133



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

23 
 

23 

 

      Figure 7 LNP designations in the parish 

Page  134



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

24 
 

24 

 

    Figure 8 LNP designations in the village 

Page  135



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

25 
 

25 

5.2 GREENFIELD SITES 

The parish is richly endowed in terms of the natural environment, a fact recognised 

through the various SAC, SSSI designations and priority species and habitat flags on the 

Natural England database. For the benefit of both residents and visitors to the parish it is 

important to maintain the existing environmental diversity and seek to enhance it where 

possible. The River Eden and the SSSI designations on the fells already have national and 

international designations affording them protection. However, farmland birds, although 

considered as being important in the parish have no specific protection beyond general 

national policy. The LNP will seek to provide some additional protection by having a strong 

presumption against the development of greenfield sites unless wholly exceptional 

circumstances out-weigh this consideration.  

The site allocation process has helped to refine the position to be utilised for the village 

boundary (Policy D1), which largely follows the edge of the area considered to be ‘open 

countryside’, and in a number of instances reflects further environmental, or topographic 

constraints, such as SSSI Impact Zone boundaries, flood risk areas and the SAC area. 

The LNP  supports a sequential approach to land use development.  The village boundary 

defines the outer perimeter for sites considered to be ‘developable’ within the period of the 

plan. All the sites within the village boundary, and adjacent to the village boundary have 

been considered as part of the site allocation process.  Rural exception sites, outside the 

village boundary, meeting the criteria set out in Policies B2 and B5 will be considered for 

development, but in other circumstances development will be restricted to the area within 

the village boundary (see section 8). The plan also recognises that some additional 

development in support of employment at the Princes (Eden Valley mineral) Water 

Company site may also be beneficial. 

The village boundary follows historic and modern field boundaries, and includes within its 

compass sufficient developable sites to fulfil the anticipated housing supply requirement 

for Lazonby proposed in the Eden Local Plan (see section 7 for further discussion). 

Page  136



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

26 
 

26 

The process of allocating sites has left a clear division between sites which are considered 

to be developable, whether available or not, and those which will not meet these criteria 

during the plan period. This is the zone, together with a buffer zone, which has been 

delineated by the village boundary. The boundary is thus, a combination of historic and 

topographic factors within a policy context. It takes into account existing applications and 

decisions (at September 2017). 

Policy D1: Greenfield and Brownfield Sites 
Proposals involving the redevelopment of previously developed land on all sites within the 
plan area, will be approved, subject to compliance with other policies in the development 
plan.  

Proposals for the development of greenfield sites, other than as permitted by policies in this 
plan or the Eden Local Plan, will not be approved.  

Respondents to consultation for this plan have expressed a strong preference for ‘eye-

sores,’ vacant and derelict sites in the village, to be developed and brought back into use 

in advance of any new sites being released for development (see Glossary). Site 

allocations within this plan include both brown- and greenfield sites selected after 

consideration of their overall sustainability. 
 

Page  137



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

27 
 

27 

6 DESIGN AND CONSERVATION 
6.1 DESIGN OF NEW DEVELOPMENT 

Lazonby Civil parish contains a number of assets designated for heritage, environmental 

or archaeological value. In addition, the parish is bounded to the east by the River Eden 

which has been accorded Special Area of Conservation status (UK0012643), a European-

wide designation recognising the importance of the River and its catchment area. 

Particular attention is called to the 184 recorded plant species within the designated area, 

especially stands of Alder (Alnus glutinosa), willow (Salix spp.). With regard to fauna the 

primary reasons for selection are the presence of white-clawed crayfish (Autropotamobius 

pallipes), sea lamprey (Petromyzon marinus), brook lamprey (Lampetra planeri), river 

Lamprey (Lampetra fluviatilis), Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar), Bullhead (Cottus gobio) and 

otter (Lutra lutra). While sea lamprey probably do not range as far as Lazonby, other 

species may be present within the parish and the continuing management of the SAC and 

its future improvement should be considered as priorities for any plan affecting land use 

along the Eden Valley. 

The parish does not lie within the Lake District National Park, but the park is visible from 

parts of the parish, as is the Yorkshire Dales National Park. It is unlikely that development 

proposals within the parish will have any impact on either park unless very large in scale, 

such as wind turbine schemes.   

Much closer to the parish and overlooking the western part of the parish and the village of 

Lazonby is the North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). The AONB 

extends from near to Consett, in the east, as far as Croglin and Melmerby, close to 

Lazonby. Small development schemes in Lazonby are again unlikely to affect the AONB, 

but larger schemes, or any with a greater visual impact may be considered as being within 

the setting of the AONB and may thus be rejected or subject to mitigation measures. 

There are three Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) within the parish comprising 

Lazonby Fell, Wan Fell and the River Eden and its tributaries. In addition, virtually the 

whole parish, with the exception of a small area beyond Low Plains, falls within one or 

more SSSI Impact Risk Zones. Natural England is a Statutory Consultee on planning 

applications that could have an impact on these internationally protected areas. 

Page  138



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

28 
 

28 

The Lazonby Fell SSSI extends across the Open Access land on the fell and north-

eastwards as far as the Carlisle road from the village to the A6. The Wan Fell SSSI 

includes land close to the B6413 and extends beyond the parish boundary, to the south. 

The River Eden SSSI covers the same ground as the SAC designation but also 

encompasses a wider area on both banks of the river opposite Staffield. Associated with 

the SSSIs are a number of priority habitats and species such as floodplain grazing marsh 

and semi-improved grassland, to the south-east of the village; lowland heathland on both 

Lazonby and Wan Fell, lowland fen, to the west of Baronwood Park; upland flushes, on 

Wan Fell; several patches of deciduous woodland and a large area of woodland forming 

part of the National Inventory of Woodland and Trees; and some areas of mixed habitat. 

With regard to important species the parish farmland birds such as snipe, redshank, 

lapwing, grey partridge, curlew, black grouse and sparrows are all noted residents or 

visitors to the parish. 

Consultation with the residents has clearly demonstrated the desirability of maintaining the 

character of the village with particular emphasis of the use of traditional materials, 

especially Lazonby Sandstone for walls and dressings and either slate or Lazonby 

Sandstone for roofing. 

A Design Guide has been produced to accompany the Neighbourhood Plan. It contains 

examples of building design and architectural detail which will be used to assess the 

acceptability of future developments in design terms. The Design Guide will be an 

important consideration in determining planning applications for new development within 

Lazonby village. Within the Neighbourhood Plan Area, the Design Guide will form the 

basis of consideration of proposals in design terms, including the extension of existing 

properties. The Design Guide should be followed and/or materials utilised which match the 

existing development, whilst retaining the character of the property and its setting.  

Policy D2: Design of New Development 
New development will be expected to follow the provisions set-out in the Design Guide.  
High quality and innovative design will be encouraged. 
For existing properties where extensions or alterations are planned, the materials and 
design will be expected to follow the Design Guide and/or match the existing building. 
 

Page  139



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

29 
 

29 

6.2 LANDSCAPING AND NEW DEVELOPMENT 

Maintaining the character of the village and the wider parish are important for those who 

live and work in Lazonby. This plan seeks to promote high quality design and landscaping 

intended to improve, rather than merely maintain the character of the village. The 

protection of the Settle-Carlisle Line Conservation Area and its setting is a key aim of the 

plan and makes an important contribution to the character of the village 

Policy D3: Landscaping of New Development 
High quality landscaping and sensitivity to the surrounding topography and architecture 
are important considerations for any new development. 
i) Where development proposals about the Settle-Carlisle railway line or a site lies 

within its setting, views into and out of the conservation area will be protected to 
retain the character of both the built and natural environments.  This may be 
through sensitive design, or other mitigation measures. 

ii) In the Neighbourhood Plan area as a whole, proposals are required to provide 
appropriate high-quality landscaping to conserve or enhance their landscape 
setting. 

There are important groups of trees and individual trees within the village which contribute 

a great deal to its character (see objective 3.). Trees provide shade and colour and 

movement, they provide privacy and are a vital wildlife habitat. In Lazonby, important 

groups of trees are those around Will Pool, trees along the Harrow Beck, trees below 

Scarrows Lane, by The Old Vicarage and the length of the river bank (Fig 8). Individual 

trees in the village include the Coronation copper beech situated next to Croglin Toys and 

Designs (Fig 9). The LNP will expect those coming forward with proposals to act in 

accordance with the most up-to-date best practice (British Standard 5837:2012, at the time 

of writing),  

Policy D4: Trees 
Existing trees and hedges  that contribute to the amenity of the area should be retained on 
any development site. Any planning application for development that could affect any 
such trees or hedges will be expected to demonstrate how the tress, hedges and their 
roots will be protected during the construction and how the developer will integrate these 
trees and/or hedges into the scheme, including incorporating appropriate new planting.  
 

Page  140



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

30 
 

30 

 

             Figure 9 Coronation copper beech, an important tree  situated next to CroglinToys and Designs 

Policies D1 to D4 are considered to be the ‘core principles’ guiding the consideration of all 

applications made within the parish of Lazonby. Where conflicting interpretations regarding 

the applicability of policies arise, then policies D1 to D5 should be used to determine the 

suitability of any proposals in advance of any other applicable policies. 

 

Page  141



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

31 
 

31 

 

             Figure 10 View across the village towards the Pennines 

6.3 PROTECTION AND PROVISION OF LOCAL GREEN SPACE 

The new and existing Local Green Space as described in Table 1  shall be protected as 

being areas of particular importance to the local community by virtue of their recreational 

and amenity value and proximity to people served by the land. The National Planning 

Policy Framework (NPPF) recognises the importance of open and green spaces in 

contributing to sustainable communities (DCLG, 2012, NPPF paras 73-78).  
 

Table 1 Local Green Space in Lazonby, see Fig 8 

 

Name and Grid 
Reference 

Fig 8 Use of Land NPPF para 77 criteria 

Will Pool NY543 392 1 Recreation and picnic area for villagers. 
Pond dipping. 
Registered as a Community Asset by 
LPC. 

Close to community.  
Special for wildlife, historic 
significance and recreational 
value  

Old Post Office/Old 
School/ 
Croglin Toys and 
Designs Land   
NY546 395 

2 
 

Building leased to Mr Butler as ‘Croglin 
Toys and Designs’.  

In community. Special for 
historic significance, important 
tree 

Land Adjacent to 
Parish Church 
NY549 397 

3 General amenity land/open space In community. Special for 
historic significance and 
tranquility  

Brooklyn Green 
Area  
NY550 397 

4 Picnic area for villagers. General amenity 
land/open space 

In community. Special for 
tranquility and recreational value 

Page  142



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

32 
 

32 

Sports Field NY551 
396 

5 Recreation area for villagers; Used by 
Village Scout/Cub group; Sheep grazing. 
Registered as a Community Asset by 
LPC. 

Close to community. Special for 
recreational value 

Bateman’s Lane  
NY552 398 

6 Nature trail and access track. Close to community. Special for 
wildlife and recreational 
value/tranquility 

Riverside Car 
Park/Picnic Site 
NY549 402 

7 Recreation area for villagers. River is 
fished – LPC has fishing rights which are 
licensed to the public. 

Close to community. Special for 
recreational value 

Coronation 
Gardens 
NY549 392 
 

8 
 

Recreation area with swings. 
Registered as a Community Asset by 
LPC. 

In community. Special for 
recreational value 

Community Park 
NY552 398 

9 Recreation area with various pieces of 
equipment and Willow tunnel. 
Registered as a Community Asset by 
LPC. 

Close to community. Special for 
wildlife and recreational value 

Swimming Pool 
NY552 399 

10 Outdoor swimming and fitness activities + 
café. 
Registered as a Community Asset by 
LPC. 
 

In community. Special for 
recreational value 

Scaur Close Green 
NY547 394 

11 Small triangle of land at end of Scaur 
Close. 
Registered as a Village Green 

In community. Special for 
recreational value 

Opportunities will be sought to enhance their value to the local community as areas of 

recreation and, as appropriate, for their biodiversity, visual amenity, contribution to the 

character of the village and parish, contribution to local cultural heritage and to the general 

health and wellbeing of the community. Within these areas no built development will be 

allowed except for small scale ancillary development that would help enhance the value of 

the area to the community and to encourage tourism.  The Parish Council has  designated 

Scaur Close Green as a Village Green under the Commons Act 2006, as amended by the 

Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013. See further discussion in Section 6.4 and Table 2. 

See Glossary for definition of amenity value.  

Policy D5: Local Green Space 
The following areas are designated as Local Green Space as shown on Map 8:- 

 Will Pool 

 Old Post Office/Old School/Croglin Toys and Designs Land 

Page  143



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

33 
 

33 

 Land adjacent to the Parish Church 

 Brooklyn Green Area 

 Sports Field 

 Bateman’s Lane 

 Riverside, Car Park and Picnic site 

 Coronation Gardens 

 Community Park 

 Swimming Pool 

 Scaur Close Green 
Development on these sites will not be permitted other than in very special circumstances. 

Page  144



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

34 
 

34 

6.4 RECREATION AND PLAY AREAS  

Current recreation areas comprise the Community Play Park and Coronation Gardens, 

both situated in the village. Coronation Gardens is not an ideal site for recreation due to its 

location, at the junction of two busy roads. There is also an area of recreation land, known 

as the Sports Field, which is currently used by the Cubs/Scouts one evening a week and is 

otherwise let out as grazing land. The Parish Council has registered this land as a 

Community Asset, all are Local Green Spaces, and would therefore be protected under 

Policy D5.  

The Community Play Park was included in the 2015 Open Space Audit undertaken by 

Eden District Council (EDC 2015, 30-31, see Table 2). The Park achieved a fairly high 

score, but is located near the extreme eastern edge of the village, whereas the majority of 

newer housing is located in the centre, or towards the west of the village.  The overall 

tabulated data for Lazonby, from the Audit, is reproduced above. 

Although Lazonby compares reasonably well with other settlements in the district, where 

National Standards exist, there is a clear shortfall with regard to play areas, sports facilities 

and allotments. The Audit did not include data relating to the Meadows Site, which was 

under development at the time, and further proposals for additional housing in the village 

(see Section 7) will further exacerbate this shortfall.  

To improve the facilities towards the upper/western part of the village, Policies D6 and D7 

make provision for the protection of existing informal and formal open space, and the 

addition of new space.   

A new public amenity space has been suggested on part of the field adjacent to the 

Meadows development site. This site, known as Scaur Lane, has been designated for 

future development (housing site HS4), but one third to one half of the site, preferably 

towards the road frontage, should be set aside and utilised as a recreation/amenity space 

for the village. There is also a proposal for improving the green space between the former 

Methodist Chapel and Pine Grove.  

 

 

 

Page  145



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

35 
 

35 

              Table 2 Tabulated data for Lazonby from Open Space Study, Eden District Council, 2015 

 
 

Policy D6: New Recreation and Play Areas 
New recreation, amenity and play areas for the whole community will be encouraged in 
any new development proposals (see Policy D5 for existing green spaces). Developments 
of 10, or more, dwellings, or of sites of 0.5ha, or greater, will be expected to provide an 
area of public open space in line with the indicative quantity standards (hectares per 1,000 
population) set out in relation to Policy COM3 of the Eden Local Plan, with details to be 
agreed to the satisfaction of the Parish Council, as of any proposals that are submitted. 
The space need not be within the proposed site boundary, but should be in proximity to it. 
As a part of this policy the following proposals have been incorporated within the plan.  

1) Improvements to the current Sports Field (Fig 8, 5) area to include a hard surface area for 
netball, basketball and tennis as well as all-weather pitches to allow football and cricket to 
take place. 

2) A new recreation area at the top of the village to be part of a potential further housing 
development on Scaur Lane. 
 

Page  146



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

36 
 

36 

6.5 FOOTPATHS AND CYCLEWAYS 

The consultations for the Village Design Statement in 2005, and for this Neighbourhood 

Plan, in 2015, both highlighted the paucity of footpaths in the parish, especially in the 

vicinity of the village, along the river, and to Kirkoswald. This topic is discussed further with 

regard to open spaces but it has an important conservation element since walking in the 

parish is an ideal way to appreciate the environmental, architectural and historic merits in 

the landscape.  

The extension of the existing network of footpaths is considered to be an important 

objective during the period the plan covers. However, the nature and scale of development 

in the Parish is unlikely to contribute towards this aim. Instead, discussions between the 

Parish Council and the relevant landowners regarding access and the resolution of other 

practical issues will be more fruitful. Cumbria Count Council employ a Public Rights of 

Way Officer and have a procedure in place for regularising any agreements which may be 

reached in the future. 

There are a significant number of historic rights of way in the Parish and proposals for 

footpaths and/or cycleways which Lazonby Parish Council, or its agents, are encouraged 

to consider as possible avenues for discussion with the relevant landowners. These items 

arise from a more detailed investigation of the existing and historic paths in the Parish, 

considered in tandem with the results of the various consultation exercises carried out 

during the formulation of this plan, and for the Village Design Statement in 2005.     

Policy D7: Footpaths 
Where Public Rights of Way are present, the application should demonstrate that the 
proposed development will preserve, or enhance, the existing Public Right of Way. 
 
 
Policy D8: Cycleways 
Any proposed residential development, which will be in close proximity to any future cycle 
network will be expected to connect to that network and where appropriate, will be 
expected to contribute to the improvements to the cycle network and safe cycle parking 
provision. 

Page  147



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

37 
 

37 

7 HOUSING DEVELOPMENT 
7.1 HOUSING SCALE AND LOCATION 

This issue is the most important and most contentious of the LNP. It is the issue where the 

desires of current residents of Lazonby village come up against national and district 

planning policy. Neighbourhood plans are not a vehicle for preventing growth but for 

directing and managing it for the benefit of the community.   

The amount of housing to be provided in the Parish has been set through the Eden District 

Council Development Plan. This comprises the Eden District Council Local Plan, which 

identifies Lazonby as a Key-Hub. The expectation is that these Key Hubs will absorb the 

entire rural housing allocation other than for exceptional sites.  

The village has been identified as having the community facilities to support more 

extensive growth such as a large shop, school, railway, and social facilities such as the 

village hall, a church, pubs and Pool. 

The EDC Local Plan does not address the traffic issues perceived by residents to be of 

great importance and experience has shown that roads within the village are considered 

by planners at local and county level to be adequate for growth of the village to the extent 

required by the new Local Plan. 

The LNP must therefore seek to accommodate growth by identifying sites which cause 

least harm to the village environment and can be built on and, alongside that identifying 

sites where development will be resisted. 

Throughout consultation on the LNP concerns from the community have been principally 

about the scale and numbers of residential units on individual developments, with a 

general consensus accepting Small Developments of up to five units and that a modest 

expansion of the village would give time for adjustment (see Glossary). The consultation 

showed people wanted to protect the character and appearance of the village and a 

Design Guide and complimentary policy has been produced to support this. People 

wanted a greater variety of housing types to accommodate an ageing population and 

housing that is affordable for young people and those on lower incomes. This would 

include social housing, private rented homes and smaller, cheaper houses. 

Page  148



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

38 
 

38 

The Local Plan does not allocate development sites in Lazonby, but as one of the larger 

‘key hubs’ identified in the Local Plan, Lazonby is expected to contribute a minimum of 106 

new dwellings to the Local Plan requirement through to 2032. The proposals contained 

within the LNP allocate sufficient sites to meet this target with a considerable buffer. 

 The policy will support new Small Development housing schemes in locations that do not 

compromise the character and appearance of the area (Small Developments are defined 

as being: of up to five residential units, or having a site area of less than 0.2ha. Any 

development of more than two-storeys, or more than 8m to the eaves in height, cannot be 

considered to be a Small Development for the purposes of this plan (see Glossary).  

Policy H1 allows market-led housing to meet local need and protect local services. 

Specific provision for affordable housing or ‘Starter Homes’ has not been specifically 

mandated (indicative for each allocated site are shown in Table 5) as national policy 

guidance has been evolving while this plan has been in preparation. This plan will follow 

the affordable housing and Starter Homes provision currently applicable as part of the 

Eden District Development Plan.  

A large number of sites, principally in and around Lazonby village, have been considered 

during the formulation of this plan. A separate Objective Assessment of Need has not 

been carried out, but National Audit Office demographic statistics have been consulted. 

The figures for housing and family formation numbers contained in the documents 

supporting the Local Plan have been utilised to provide a realistic baseline for the numbers 

of residential units the parish should provide over the LNP period. 

Where existing approved schemes, or anticipated schemes (based upon informal 

information) have been identified these have been included in the site allocation process. 

The site allocation process has helped to refine the position to be utilised for the village 

boundary (Policy D1), which largely follows the edge of the area considered to be ‘open 

countryside’, and in a number of instances reflects further environmental, or topographic 

constraints, such as SSSI Impact Zone boundaries, flood risk areas and the SAC area. 

Page  149



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

39 
 

39 

Each of the sites has been assessed against a number of criteria to determine suitability, 

availability, and deliverability for development within the period of the plan (see Tables 4 & 

5). The sites include a number previously assessed for the Eden Local Plan Strategic 

Land Availability Assessment, some sites discounted in this document are, nevertheless, 

considered to have development potential since they meet the criteria used for the LNP 

(SHLAA, EDC 2015). In most of these instances they have been discounted in the SHLAA 

because they are considered to be ‘small-scale’, whereas the criteria used in the LNP 

supports provision of Small Developments of 1-5 dwellings. All the sites within the village 

boundary and adjacent to it have been considered for future development. As a result of 

this consideration each site has either been allocated as having potential for development, 

or discounted. The criteria utilised in the consideration have been availability, whether 

‘developable’, accessibility and whether the site connects with existing properties.  

Throughout the LNP sites have been assessed at a capacity of 33 dwellings per hectare 

for the purposes of providing a precise number of units to include in the documents. The 

LNP assumes that a range of 30-50 dph, ‘medium density’ in terms of the Local Plan, will 

be the approved density for new housing developments. National averages were 32 dph in 

2013-14 and 31 dph in 2014-15 (Planning Portal news round-up 07/04/2016). 

In addition to allocating a number of sites for new housing the LNP recognises that windfall 

sites, usually comprising a single dwelling, and including self-build projects, will be an 

important contributor to the overall new housing stock. Rather than seek to identify these 

sites an annual quota of roughly three new dwelling per year has been included in the 

LNP. This number is based upon historical evidence for the last five years.   

Policy H1: Housing Development 
Planning permission will be supported for developments on allocated sites, including 
provision of affordable housing, that contribute to meeting the objectively assessed 
housing needs of the Parish as 

a) Set out in the  Development Plan;  or 
b) As demonstrated through an up-to-date housing needs survey. 

 
The development of up to, and including, five dwellings will also be supported on sites not 
allocated in this plan that are either: 

a) Within the settlement boundary (see Policy D1), or  
b) That meet the conditions set out in Policy B2, or  

Page  150



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

40 
 

40 

c) Are on greenfield sites of no more than 0.2 ha within the village boundary.  
 
In addition, all housing development will be encouraged to comply with a number of 
general principles which meet the objectives of the LNP: 

1) Proposals should be of a nature and scale that reflects and respects the character 
and appearance of the area, with regard to the surrounding landscape and/or 
townscape and the character and appearance of its setting (see Design Guide and 
Policy D2);  

2) Proposals should not result in any significant adverse impact on the amenity of 
any existing neighbours, including businesses; and not otherwise adversely 
impact sensitive environmental or heritage assets. 

In addition to this general policy approach a number of potential development sites have 

been identified for the plan period. These are shown on Figures 11-14 and summarised in 

the following table. 

 
. 

Page  151



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

41 
 

41 

Plan ref-
erence 
Number 

SHLAA 
ref./NGR 
ref. 

Site 
name 

Approx. 
area (ha) 

Current 
Land 
use 

Brown-
field/ 
Green-
field 

Estimated 
capacity 
at 33dph 

Indic-
ative 

Afford-
able 
Units 

Avail-
able 

Access
-ible/ 
Conn-
ectable 

Dev-
elopable 

Comments and additional 
constraints identified to-date       

HS1 LLZ14 
NY545395 

Land 
behind 
the Lilacs 
(Figs 11 
& 13) 

0.292 Grazing Green 5 N/A Yes Yes/ 
yes 

Yes Planning permission agreed – 
16/04/2015 
New proposal 19/09/2017 (EDC 
17/0817). 

HS2 LLZ4 
NY548393 

Scaur 
Lane 
(Figs 11 
& 12) 

1.845 Grazing Green  49  9 Yes Yes/ 
yes 

Yes Option taken on land by Cumbrian 
Homes. Outline planning application  
submitted January 2017 (EDC 
17/0016) for 50 units and approved in 
January 2018 subject to S106 
agreement. Reserved Matters 
application (18/0528) approved for 49 
dwellings subject to conditions. 
Part of site to be set aside for amenity 
use. 
 

HS3 NY549398 The Old 
Piggeries 
(Figs 11 
& 14) 

0.407 Part 
pasture 
part 
ruinous 
structure 

Green/
brown 

13 3 ? Yes/ 
yes 

Yes Brownfield site in village. Consultation 
demonstrated use of brownfield sites 
to be a high priority. Planning 
Application14/0688 for 5 houses was  
withdrawn in August 2014.  Field 
behind is also currently undeveloped 
and could be used for housing. 
Details to be provided on location and 
provision of refuse point, passing 
places and PROW, given the narrow 
footways outside the development site. 
Site access from Fiddler’s Lane 
deemed to be unacceptable, but via 
B6413 possible with appropriate 
design measures, including provision 
for adequate turning and parking.. Any 
development should comply with 
SUDS standards.  Requirement for 
developer to submit a Construction 
Method Statement and Surface Water 
Drainage Plan to mitigate any adverse 
impacts on the River Eden and 
Tributaries SSSI with any future 
applications. 

HS4 LLZ1 
NY547396 

Egg 
Packing 
Plant 

0.123 Former 
ware-
house/ 

Brown 4 N/A Yes Yes/ 
yes 

Yes Brownfield site in centre of village with 
public support for its redevelopment.  
Planning permission for 5 dwellings 
lapsed in January 2016. 

P
age  152



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

42 
 

42 

 

Table 3 The estimated capacity arising from the housing allocation sites, and windfall allowance, totals 107 units. This equates to 8.2 units per 
year over the remaining plan period to 2032. A density of 30-50 dwellings per hectare has been used throughout the plan (to accord with the Eden 
Local Plan), with the numbers in the table calculated on the basis of 33 dwellings per hectare assumed density, except where consent already 
granted. The number of affordable homes will be determined at the time the application is assessed. LLFA is the Lead Local Flood Authority, for 
Lazonby Parish this is Cumbria County Council. SUDS standards are those produced by DEFRA, non-statutory technical standards, March 2015. 

Note that the Meadows Development of 48 dwellings was completed at the end of 2016. In addition, there have been three completions elsewhere 
in Lazonby village. A further six further units are under construction within Lazonby parish, leaving a residual housing target of 49 units against the 
Local Plan target of (at least) 106 dwellings  units through to 2032.  

(Figs 11 
& 13) 

factory 
building 

Asbestos in current building. 
Collapsed wall adjoining LPC land and 
in current dispute. There are narrow 
footways outside the site which will 
need to be linked to any new footways 
as part of any future development. The 
site is within EA Flood Zone 3 (1 in 
1000 risk) requiring a Flood Risk 
Assessment to be submitted with any 
application. The site is developable 
with appropriate mitigation.  
Requirement for developer to submit a 
Construction Method Statement and 
Surface Water Drainage Plan to 
mitigate any adverse impacts on the 
River Eden and Tributaries SSSI with 
any future applications. 

HS5 NY546396 Old 
T/phone 
Ex-
change 
(Figs 11 
& 13) 

0.007 Former 
brick 
building  

Brown 1 N/A Yes Yes/ 
yes 

Yes Part built dwelling on site.  
Requirement for developer to submit a 
Construction Method Statement and 
Surface Water Drainage Plan to 
mitigate any adverse impacts on the 
River Eden and Tributaries SSSI with 
any future applications. 

HS6 various Windfall/ 
Infill Sites 

various various Prob-
ably 
mostly 
brown 

35 N/A Yes Yes 
/yes 

Yes Currently 3 per year have been built 
generally next to existing properties on 
same plot to provide dwelling for family 
member. 
Dependent upon wishes of current 
landowners.  Requirement for 
developer to submit a Construction 
Method Statement and Surface Water 
Drainage Plan to mitigate any adverse 
impacts on the River Eden and 
Tributaries SSSI with any future 
applications. 

P
age  153



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

43 
 

43 

 

 

     Figure 11 Location of housing allocation sites in the village 

 

Page  154



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

44 
 

44 

 

      Figure 12 Scaur Lane site also showing the completed Meadows development 

 

Page  155



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

45 
 

45 

 

       Figure 13 The Lilacs, Old Telephone Exchange and former Egg-packing plant sites 

 

Page  156



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

46 
 

46 

 

      Figure 14 The Piggeries site 

Page  157



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

47 
 

47 

7.2 AFFORDABLE HOUSING 

The provision of additional affordable housing to meet the needs of existing residents in 

the Parish and those who have connections to the area was identified by the community 

as an issue to be addressed through the Plan. Lazonby has a significant amount of social 

housing accounting for 13.5% of the housing stock. Private rentals account for a further 

13% of Lazonby’s housing stock. The Plan encourages developments of affordable 

housing. 

Housing needs studies conducted in the past, have demonstrated a small unmet need in 

the Parish. The 2010 Housing Need Survey identified a need for six additional affordable 

dwellings. 

A significant amount of new affordable housing is being provided through the construction 

of 48 new houses in Lazonby, in Story Homes ‘The Meadows’ development. This includes 

the provision of 12 affordable dwellings. 

Though the threshold for compulsory provision of affordable homes within developments 

has now been lowered, the LNP could specify smaller and therefore cheaper houses. Any 

development of over 5 houses will still have to provide an affordable agreed percentage of 

30%. At this scale, this is likely to involve a shared equity scheme rather than 

management by a social landlord. The number of affordable units at each of the allocated 

sites is shown on Table 3. 

Policy H2: Affordable Housing 
Where planning permission is granted for affordable housing, first and future occupation 
of each affordable dwelling will be controlled by Section 106 agreement. This will ensure 
that occupation is limited in the first instance, and in subsequent sales or lettings, to 
address local needs and, where appropriate, local connections criteria.  Where this cannot 
be achieved a cascade arrangement for first and future sales and lettings shall be set out 
in the planning obligation.  

Page  158



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

48 
 

48 

7.3 SHELTERED HOUSING 

Lazonby has an ageing population. The 2011 Census indicated that 24% of the population 

are aged 60 or over up from 17% in 2001. Elderly people generally wish to remain in 

Lazonby but need accommodation that is suited to their needs. Eden Court provides 8 one 

bedroom and 16 purpose-built studio properties. Eden Court residents are a vital part of 

the village society. A lot of the accommodation needs updating and there is potential to 

extend the building or support new sheltered units adjacent to it or within Lazonby. This 

Plan supports the provision of housing suitable for older residents 

Policy H3: Housing for the elderly and Sheltered Housing 
The LNP would support the extension onto adjacent land or redevelopment of Eden Court 
as a facility for the elderly population. The plan will support new accommodation that 
complies with the other policies in the development plan. 

7.4 DISCOUNTED SITES 

A number of other sites have been considered for allocation for future housing during the 

development of this plan. All the sites within the village boundary and adjacent to it have 

been considered for future development. As a result of this consideration each site has 

either been allocated as having potential for development, or discounted. Where sites with 

the potential for the construction of more than one dwelling have been considered they are 

shown in Table 4. The criteria utilised in the consideration have been availability, whether 

‘developable’, accessibility and whether the site connects with existing properties.  
 

 

Page  159



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

49 
 

49 

 

       Figure 15 Discounted sites around the village 

Page  160



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

50 
 

50 

Plan 
reference 
Number 

SHLAA 
ref. 

Site name Approximate 
area 
(hectares) 

Current Land 
use 

Brownfield/ 
Greenfield 

Estimated 
capacity 
at 33dph 

Available Accessible/ 
Connectable 

Developable Comments       

8  
 

Oings Field  Auction Mart 
Parking 

Green  No Yes/yes No Not for Sale, in open countryside. 

9  
 

Horse 
Pasture 

 Grazing  Green  No No/no No Not for Sale. Adjacent to flood risk 
area. 

10  
 

Vicars Dale  Auction Mart Green  No Yes/yes No Not for Sale. If it becomes available 
will be considered with the Auction 
Mart site. 

11  
LLZ15 

High 
Maltineer 
Land  

 Vacant site with 
areas of hard 
standing 

Green  No No/no No Access via a narrow single width lane 
shared by pedestrian access. The 
railway line, to the east is within 
Conservation Area. 
Discounted in Eden Local Plan. Site in 
multiple ownership and has prominent 
elevated position. Development here 
would lead to additional congestion in 
the centre of the village 

12 LLZ7 
 

Land behind 
Sunray 
Villas 

 Agricultural  Green  No No/yes No Steeply sloping site, elevated above 
most of the village. Inappropriate 
development in the countryside, which 
would not respect the settlement 
pattern of the village. 
Discounted in Eden Local Plan. 
Access to HS3 does not provide any 
separate pedestrian footpath: roadway 
shared with vehicles.  Development 
here would lead to additional 
congestion in the centre of the village 

13 LLZ13 North Bank  Rough grazing 
and arable 

Green  No No/yes No Not for Sale. No direct access. 
Discounted in Eden Local Plan 

14 ‘ ‘Tree-field’  rough grazing Green  No No/yes No Most of the trees covered by TPO, 
only access via North Bank 

15  Mason Acre  Grazing/horse 
pasture 

Green  No Yes/yes  More than 800m from shop, school 
and station. Ribbon development 
contrary to the character of the village 

16  Far 
Scarrows 

 Grazing Green  No Yes/yes  More than 800m from shop, school 
and station. . Ribbon development 
contrary to the character of the village 

17  Old Quarry  Cultivated Land Green  No Yes/yes  More than 800m from shop, school 
and station. . Ribbon development 
contrary to the character of the village 

P
age  161



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

51 
 

51 

Table 4 Discounted sites  

18  Low Rigg  Grazing Green  No Yes/yes  Sloping site 
19  Allotments  Cultivated Land Green  No No/yes  No direct access 
20  

 
Kiln Close/ 
Mounsey 
Close 

 Agricultural Green  No Yes/no  Sloping field crossed by public right of 
way. 

21  
 

Fanny Croft  Agricultural Green  No Yes/no  Field prone to flooding, access along 
narrow track. 

22 LLZ3 
 

Rosebank 
Farm 

0.72 Operational 
Farm and 
buildings and 
adjacent field 

Brown/green 17 (farm 
only) 

No Yes/yes No Field prone to flooding at the west 
end, no current direct access except 
through farm.  

23  Long Croft 
 

 Agricultural Green  No Yes/yes  Inappropriate development in the 
countryside, which would not respect 
the settlement pattern of the village. 

24  Pegdike 
Dale 

 Agricultural Green  No Yes/yes  Inappropriate development in the 
countryside, which would not respect 
the settlement pattern of the village. 
Within the setting of the Conservation 
Area 

25  Riddles  Agricultural Green  No No/no No Within the setting of the Conservation 
Area 

26  Croft Field  Agricultural Green  No No/no No Within the setting of the Conservation 
Area. Access difficult 

27  
LLZ2 

Kirk 
Croft/Auction 
Mart 

 Sheep and 
livestock market 

Brown  No Yes/Yes Yes Currently in use, if the site becomes 
available a mixed-use development 
will be considered. 

28  
LLZ9 

Townfoot 
farmhouse 
and stables 

 Derelict building Brown  No Yes/yes No Grade II Listed building i(No. 
1145315)  area prone to flooding by 
the River Eden, suitable enabling 
development would be considered. 

29 & 30  LLZ11 
 

Threlkeld 
Croft & Little 
Croft 

0.51 Community 
recreation field 

Green 12 No Yes/yes No Discounted in EDLP, in flood risk area, 
camp site and swimming pool. 
Restrictive covenant, recreational use 
only 

31 LLZ12 Playing field 
 

1.68 Parish owned 
sports field 

Green 39 No No/yes No Discounted in EDLP. Restrictive 
covenant, recreational use only 

32  
 

Unamed 
croft 

       No direct access, would need to be 
considered with Croft Field (26) 

33  
 

Townfoot 
Close 

 Grazing Green  No Yes/yes No In flood risk area for River Eden, close 
to SAC area. 
Not for Sale 

P
age  162



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

52 
 

52 

8 RURAL BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 
8.1 NEW BUSINESSES 

Lazonby parish reflects rural communities across the country. Traditional land based 

occupations, though important, no longer dominate the economy. The following are points 

which look at aspects of the changes in rural economic life: 

1. A highly mobile, well educated, largely professional and managerial population, 

willing and able to commute to work from a desirable village location to adjacent 

towns and cities has become a major component of the village and parish 

population. 

2. House prices are higher in the villages and so it is now normal for all adults in a 

family to work full or part time. 

3.  People are attracted to the village on retirement or to care for grandchildren. The 

population in the parish is ageing over time with difficulties this can cause in 

accessing services and facilities. 

4. Unemployment is very low in this area but wages too are low especially in 

catering, childcare, retail etc. This locks some families into severe problems 

where there is no public transport and housing costs can be very high. 

5. Changes especially mechanisation in farming, forestry and manufacturing has 

reduced employment in these areas. For many, self-employment has been the 

route taken when there are few larger employers. 

6. Young people in particular have difficulty accessing opportunities where public 

transport is poor. 

7. Broadband communication is revolutionising the way many businesses work and 

physical location is no longer so important. 

8. The businesses which have survived and thrived through the last 25 years are 

the ones which have adapted, looked for new markets, and invested in facilities 

and training 

Page  163



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

53 
 

53 

The LNP must seek to support opportunity for all the residents in the Parish and will need 

diverse objectives for example:  Whilst supporting economic development, some 

businesses would not be welcome where their impact on the environment or on the 

amenity of residents would be detrimental. 

8.2 OBJECTIVES OF PLANNING FOR EMPLOYMENT AND BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 

The following objectives have been set for planning in regard to business development in 

the parish.  

 To extend the range of employment opportunities in the Parish. 

 To reduce commuting. 

 To allow for and allocate land for the growth of existing small and medium sized 

businesses. 

 To support new, home based businesses where this does not exacerbate existing traffic 

and parking problems. 

 To support farm diversification initiatives. 

 To encourage businesses and services that bring tourists into the parish on a day or 

overnight basis. 

 To support businesses which provide services for children, the elderly, and disabled 

residents. 

8.3 ECONOMIC ACTIVITY OF RESIDENTS 

Lazonby Parish had 1028 residents in 2011, of these 356 worked full time, 154 worked 

part time. The retired population was 202 (19.6%), national average is 13%. Students 

carers, people on long term sick and disabled make up the remainder of the population 

(Table 5).  A comparison of the census figures between 2001 and 2011 shows the 

following changes in employment categories: 
 

 Table 5 Employment in the parish 

Category of employment 2001 2011 Change 

Agriculture and forestry 72 41 Down 

Mining and quarrying 0 3  

Page  164



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

54 
 

54 

Manufacturing 100 72 Down 

Utilities 3 6  

Construction 49 48  

Retail 88 113 Up 

Transport and storage 32 24 Down 

Hotels and catering 33 48 Up 

IT 0 12 Up 

Finance and insurance 18 11 Down 

Professional and scientific  48  

Public administration 50 57 Up 

Education 59 73 Up 

Health and social care 71 83 Up 

Other (arts, recreation etc) 30 29  

Page  165



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

55 
 

55 

8.4 SELF-EMPLOYMENT IN LAZONBY PARISH 

At 18%, this is much higher than national or regional figures (9%). Lazonby has a very 

wide range of small, usually home based, businesses. These include: plumbers, painters, 

designers, roofers, builders, window cleaning, farmers, computer services, kennels, road 

haulage, ceramics, toy making, stone mason, entertainments, driving instruction, bed and 

breakfast, firewood, garage doors, solicitor and internet businesses. 

This degree of enterprise has developed while employment in traditional industry has 

declined. Most have to be highly professional to survive in a competitive environment and 

new businesses are very difficult to establish. Most require a van, an office and /or store. 

 The LNP should make provision where possible for safe parking of commercial vehicles; 

 The plan should support Home-office conversions and new build in principle; 

 Existing garages, stores and workshops in the village should be protected and new sites 

encouraged subject to traffic and design impact assessment. 

8.5 CARERS 

Fourteen percent of people in the parish provide unpaid care to family and friends with 

long term physical or mental health problems, often the elderly (national average 10%). A 

further 21 people are shown as employed in personal care. Support for a growing elderly 

population will require a range of jobs such as transport, mobile medical services, 

cleaning, gardening, hairdressing et cetera as well as personal care. 

 Eden Court does have facilities and could extend its role as a hub for services. 

8.6 FARMING 

The farming industry, hit catastrophically by foot and mouth, has seen large subsequent 

changes. These include the move out of dairying to stock rearing, contract harvesting, 

much smaller workforce, and diversification in to accommodation provision and specialist 

markets. 

There is strong support amongst farmers for the continuation of the Auction Mart in 

Lazonby which links the small farmers with wider markets. 

 The LNP supports appropriate farm diversification (see also Policy B2). 

 

Page  166



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

56 
 

56 

Policy B1: New Business Premises Development 
Proposals for the development of new and existing business premises, or the extension of 
existing businesses in the parish, which will provide local employment opportunities, will 
be encouraged where they are in conformity with the development plan. New premises 
should:  

1) Be of a nature and scale that reflects and respects the character and appearance of the 
area with regard to the surrounding landscape and/or townscape and the character and 
appearance of its setting (see Design Guide). 

2) Proposals should not result in a material adverse impact on the amenity of any existing 
neighbours, including businesses; and 

3) Not otherwise have a material adverse impact on sensitive environmental or heritage 
assets. 
 

Page  167



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

57 
 

57 

8.7 TOURISM 

At present tourism is not one of the main economic drivers in Lazonby and this seems 

unlikely to change over the period the plan is intended to cover. However, it is considered 

that the relative importance of tourism will grow during the plan period and for that reason 

it is supportive of small scale development and conversion of farm buildings in sustainable 

locations where a change to, or partial adoption of tourism as a principal means of 

employment is proposed. 

Based upon 2013 STEAM research figures, Eden District Council estimates that there 

were around 4.26 million visitors to the district that year who contributed around £250m to 

the local economy and supported nearly 4,000 full-time equivalent jobs in the area.  

There are no precise figures for the parish of Lazonby but an estimate can be made based 

upon accommodation and supporting activities. There is one family-run bed and breakfast 

at Seat Hill, within the village, another at Banktop on the main street (2 rooms offered) and 

Bracken Bank Lodge, outside the village, which offers accommodation and a range of 

outdoor activities, but especially shooting. In addition, Lazonby Hall offers four rooms for 

self-catering accommodation. There is also the camp site near the swimming pool and the 

Hesket Park holiday home site in the north-west corner of the parish.   

Besides the jobs associated with accommodation (bookings, catering, cleaning etc.) there 

are some additional support posts associated with activities like shooting, at Brackenbank 

Lodge. 

In total around 20 FTE posts are supported directly through tourism at present 

representing only around 2% of the population of the parish compared with more than 7% 

in Eden District as a whole. 

Unlike many of the parishes in the district, tourism is currently fairly peripheral to the 

economy of Lazonby. There are few visitor attractions which draw people to the parish 

despite its proximity to both the Lakes and the North Pennines and the presence of a 

station on the Settle-Carlisle Line. There is a shortage of footpaths linking the village to 

other parts of the parish and the possibility of re-opening the footpath along the Eden 

Gorge, one of the most spectacular in the country, will be investigated. There is also no 

real provision for cycle-routes in the parish even though a Tour of Britain stage passed 

through Lazonby in September 2015.  

Page  168



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

58 
 

58 

The plan will seek to promote further development of this sector in the future through 

maintaining the natural and historic environment that provides the backdrop to every 

visitors’ experience of the parish, and will seek to permit developments for the 

enhancement of tourism, where this is supported by clear evidence. New development will 

not normally be permitted in the countryside but small-scale applications associated with 

farm diversification will be considered on their merits. The current absence of a café in 

Lazonby village is seen as an important deficiency (noted during the consultation 

exercises), both with regards promoting tourism and community cohesion. The plan will 

support an application for the establishment of a café in suitable premises. This policy 

does not affect existing permitted development rights, where they exist, nor is it intended 

to apply to new, or replacement farm buildings related to farming activities. 

Policy B2: Farm Diversification and Buildings Outside Current Settlement Areas 
New development and extensions to existing buildings, intended to benefit farm 
diversification, for example cottage industries, holiday rentals and principal residences for 
sole occupancy by the owners (see Glossary), will be supported provided that:  

1) they conform to the Design Guide; 
2) the site is accessible by an existing track or road to the public highway; 
3) in the case of new buildings, existing structures for repair or conversion are not present, 

or available for the proposed use. 

Any planning permissions granted with respect to Policy B2 will primarily be associated 

with the conversion of existing barns or other farm structures to bed and breakfast or self-

catering accommodation. Any new buildings will be expected to be constructed in a style 

and using materials that closely match the principal farm buildings. New buildings away 

from existing settlements or farms will not normally be allowed. Permitted development 

rights will be severely curtailed or entirely removed upon the granting of planning 

permission.  

Policy B3: Café or A3 premises. 
The development of a café in the village will be supported provided that: it conforms to the 
Design Guide and it provides suitable parking. 

Page  169



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

59 
 

59 

 
      Fig 16 Former Methodist Chapel, potential location for café 

Any planning permission granted with respect to policy B4 will be associated with the 

conversion of existing barns or other farm structures to bed and breakfast or self-catering 

accommodation. Any new buildings will be expected to be constructed in a style and using 

materials that closely match the principal farm buildings. New buildings will not be 

permitted away from existing settlements or farms. Permitted development rights will be 

severely curtailed or entirely removed upon the granting of planning permission.  

Policy B4: New Tourism Development 
Tourism development proposals intended to support existing, or new amenity- or leisure-
based activities (see Glossary) will be supported where not in conflict with other policies 
in the development plan. 

Page  170



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

60 
 

60 

8.8 HOME WORKING 

Home working and businesses operating out of residential properties are increasingly 

important in the parish. They typically fall into two categories: those businesses which 

involve actual use of the premises, usually computer-intensive/consultancy work; secondly 

there are businesses using residential properties as an address, but the actual activity 

takes place at their clients’ place of business, or work, such as trades-people.  

Where these activities do not adversely impact upon the amenity of others these activities 

will be encouraged in line with policy B1.  

8.9 CONVERSION OF REDUNDANT BUILDINGS 

There are a number of redundant and dis-used buildings throughout the parish which 

would be suitable for refurbishment for business purposes, or for residential use for local 

farm-workers. Where farm-workers are to be housed this policy will be enforced by the use 

of conditions, and reversion to market housing will be limited. Bringing redundant buildings 

back into use will be supported where the above criteria can be met, policy D1 will apply to 

all such proposals. Note that some conversion and modification work will fall under 

permitted development. 

Policy B5: Conversion of Redundant Buildings 
Conversion of redundant buildings (see Glossary) for business purposes will be 
supported where it will lead to an enhancement to the immediate setting. 
Conversion will only be supported where it can be demonstrated that there will be no 
material adverse impacts upon any heritage assets, local biodiversity and habitats, or the 
character of the surrounding area, arising for the development or the activities proposed 
at the site. Planning conditions and/or the removal of permitted development rights may 
be used to secure compliance with the Neighbourhood Plan policies. 
  

Page  171



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

61 
 

61 

9 MICRO-ENERGY SCHEMES 
9.1 MICRO-ENERGY SCHEMES 

Recent changes to the approach to renewable energy projects by the Government is likely 

to require LPAs to allocate areas for wind and solar farms. An application for such an 

installation would need therefore to be on land allocated in the LPAs Local Plan or in a 

Neighbourhood Plan. In the Eden Local Plan the majority of the Neighbourhood Plan Area 

lies within a Wind Energy Suitable Area (see Fig 4).  

It is also worth noting that the Government is planning to withdraw, or reduce, subsidies 

for renewable installations. At this point it is not clear if this will affect only the larger 

installations or if the Government will withdraw existing subsidies to domestic installations. 

This would have a significant effect on new renewable energy projects and therefore limit 

the amount of energy provided from renewables both in EDC and within Lazonby. If the 

LNP supports micro-energy installations this would facilitate their installation. However, the 

removal of subsidies is likely to significantly reduce the number of new installations. 
 

The Plan supports domestic and micro energy generation recognising that low-carbon 

energy generation can help meet local needs whilst addressing wider environmental 

concerns. Domestic scale generation can provide all or a significant proportion of the 

energy needs of the building to which it is attached or associated. The Plan also 

recognises that microgeneration technology can be installed at a scale suitable to provide 

for a community energy scheme. The compliance of energy generating infrastructure and 

its installation with the Microgeneration Certification Scheme, or its replacement, is 

encouraged. 

Policy M1: Small Scale Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Schemes  
Planning permission will be granted for energy generating infrastructure using renewable 
or low carbon energy sources to serve individual properties or groups of properties in 
settlements and countryside locations provided that:  

1) The impact of the energy generating infrastructure either individually or cumulatively with 
existing infrastructure does not conflict with other policies in this Plan;  

2) The energy generating infrastructure is in a suitable location related to, and in proportion 
to the scale of the existing buildings or proposed development it is intended to serve;  

3) The siting, scale and design of the energy generating infrastructure does not compromise 
public safety and allows continued safe use of public rights of way;  

Page  172



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

62 
 

62 

4) Adjoining uses are not adversely impacted in terms of noise, vibration, or 
electromagnetic interference;  

5) The imposition of a planning condition requiring the removal of energy generating 
infrastructure as soon as reasonably practicable once it is no longer used for energy 
generation in order to secure the restoration of the land. 

6) Has regard to the other policies in the LNP. 

  

Page  173



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

63 
 

63 

10 INFRASTRUCTURE CAPACITY 
The Parish has expanded rapidly over the last 25 years but the investment in core 

infrastructure, such as sewerage, water supply and surface water run-off has been more 

limited. Recent extreme weather events, especially extreme episodes of rainfall, which are 

expected to increase in frequency during the plan period, have demonstrated that the core 

infrastructure in the Parish is at, or close to capacity. 

Rainwater run-off down the main road through the village and ponding of water on the 

road near to Will Pool are two particular issues. Flooding of fields and especially close to 

the River Eden occurred during the winter of 2015/16. The objective of the Plan will be to 

prevent the current situation from worsening by ensuring adequate provision of sewerage 

and run-off water drainage for new developments (see Eden Local Plan DEV4). It is 

important this is achieved without overstretching existing systems. Applicants are also 

directed to LNP policy B5 where the conversion of redundant buildings requires the 

provision of new or additional infrastructure. 

Parking within the village is limited by the nature of many of the properties and by the 

character of the road layout.  

Increased ownership of vehicles, paucity of public transport alternatives and the extent of 

commuting to workplaces outside the Parish have all contributed to the large number of 

cars parked in the village, especially after 6pm. 

The volume of traffic passing up and down the main road through the village, while not 

large, in comparison with urban areas, has been raised as an issue of community concern. 

Rather than impose a raft of policies unlikely to have any impact on an already existing 

problem, the plan will seek to reduce the problem over a longer period through a number 

of measures under the aegis of the Parish Council. New schemes will need to 

demonstrate a significant commitment to reducing parking on the main thoroughfares in 

the village. 

1) The Parish Council will engage with other bodies, such as the Highways Agency, Cumbria 

County Council and Eden District Council, to identify schemes and proposals which may 

help to reduce the pressure on parking. 

Page  174



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

64 
 

64 

2) To develop a long term ‘Parking and Traffic Strategy’ setting-out measures to be 

implemented. 

3) Schemes identified in the Parking and Traffic Strategy may be implemented, in part, 

through conditions attached to schemes coming forward. 

4) Parking alleviation schemes will not be suitable if they diminish the character of the village, 

or conflict with the provisions of the Design Guide.  

5) New schemes will demonstrate a commitment to minimising any increase in traffic-flow 

along the main road through the village. This may be through supporting increased public 

transport provision, especially at peak times, or through other measures deemed 

appropriate. 

Policy I1: Parking and traffic 
No development on main thoroughfares (the B6413 and Scaur Lane) will be permitted 
unless off-street parking provision meets the requirements set-out in the most recent 
Cumbria Design Guide, and that it can be demonstrated that the development would not 
have any material adverse impact on highway safety.  

Page  175



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

65 
 

65 

11 PLANNING GAIN: LAZONBY PARISH PROPOSED SPENDING 
The Parish has identified the following priorities for community spending during the period 

of the LNP: 

 Community amenity area with recreation equipment at north end of village (a site on 

Scaur Lane has been identified for this). 

 Public footpath to join Lazonby with Kirkoswald 

 Public Car Park in centre of village and for use during Village Hall events 

 Café/A3 premises as Community Enterprise, one possible location is within the former 

Methodist Chapel building. 

 Cycle routes around the parish and to link with neighbouring parishes. 

 Increased provision for subsidised bus services, for example by increasing the frequency 

of the Fellrunner service. 

 Support for existing community services, for example capital or maintenance investment 

at the Swimming Pool. 

Specific applications for funding will need to be presented to the Lazonby Parish Council 

for consideration and should be supported by a business plan and supporting information 

demonstrating the benefits to the community, together with any associated risks which 

might reasonably be known at the time. The decision of the Lazonby Parish Council shall 

be final.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page  176



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

66 
 

66 

12 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
The Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan has been produced through the effort and collaboration 

of many individuals and organisations. Lazonby Parish Council has been the designated 

body with ultimate responsibility for the production and delivery of the plan, but most of the 

research, analysis, discussion and consultation has been undertaken by the Lazonby 

Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group. Membership of the Steering Group has changed 

during the time the plan has been in the process of formulation, but I would like to thank, 

especially, Roger Campbell, Chris Hill, Elizabeth Howe, Neil Kennedy, Virginia and Peter 

Minihan and Gordon Nicolson, who have all made a major contribution with both their time 

and input to the plan. Particular thanks are also due to Lorraine Smyth, of Action with 

Communities in Cumbria, and to Angela Dixon, of the Eden District Council Planning 

Department. 

Others to whom thanks are due are Sheila Fletcher, John Judson and John Nicol 

(parishioners); John Boardman and Rachael Armstrong (EDC Planning); Catherine 

Loveday and Steve Carnaby (Intelligent Plans and Examinations Ltd); John Slater (John 

Slater Planning Ltd); and Locality UK and Groundwork, who provided grant aid for 

consultation, meetings, support and printing costs; and all those who have answered 

questionnaires, come along to the consultation events, or just contributed through asking 

questions or providing feedback throughout the process. 
 

Gordon Malcolm 

Chair, Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page  177



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

67 
 

67 

13 GLOSSARY 
The definition of terms used in the LNP and the Design Guide are explained in the 

following paragraphs. Where terms are not separately defined, the assumed usage is in 

line with current planning practice in Eden District. 

Affordable housing: 
Social rented, affordable rented and intermediate housing, provided to eligible households 
whose needs are not met by the market. Eligibility is determined with regard to local incomes 
and local house prices. Affordable housing should include provisions to remain at an affordable 
price for future eligible households or for the subsidy to be recycled for alternative affordable 
housing provision. 
Amenity:  
A positive element or elements that contribute to the positive character of an area, such as lack 
of noise and disturbance, openness, landscape, opportunities for recreation etc. 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB): An area with statutory national landscape  
designation, the primary purpose of which is to conserve and enhance natural beauty.  
Lazonby is located to the west of the North Pennines AONB.  
Amenity based activity: 
Any activity which utilises, or takes place within an area of amenity value (see Amenity, above), 
and which requires the conservations, or enhancement of that area. Examples include walking, 
cycling, fishing, sports and recreational activities undertaken for the purposes of leisure or 
enjoyment. Activities which may diminish the enjoyment of others, through noise or other 
disruption, will need to be considered on a case-by-case basis as to whether they constitute an 
amenity activity, or a nuisance. 
Amenity value/green-space: 
Open land, often landscaped, that makes a positive contribution to the appearance of an area or 
improves the quality of the lives of people living or working within the locality. It often provides 
opportunities for activities such as sports, and can serve other purposes such as reducing the 
noise from a busy road or providing shelter from prevailing winds. 
Basic conditions:  
The Localism Act (the Act) sets basic conditions that neighbourhood development plans or 
orders must meet. These are that the plan or order: 

 must have appropriate regard to national policy and advice contained in guidance issued  
by the Secretary of State.  

 must contribute to the achievement of sustainable development  
 must be in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in the development  

plan for the area  
 must not breach, and be otherwise compatible with, EU and Human Rights obligations  

Biodiversity: 
The whole variety of life encompassing all genetics, species and ecosystem variations, including 
plans and animals.  
Climate Change: Long-term changes in temperature, precipitation, wind and all other aspects of 
the Earth's climate. Now accepted as partly attributable to increased carbon dioxide (CO2) 
emissions, such as those resulting from the burning of fossil fuels in vehicles, power stations, 
factories and homes. 
CCC: 
Cumbria County Council. 
 

Page  178



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

68 
 

68 

Development:  
Defined under the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act as "the carrying out of building, 
engineering, mining or other operation in, on, over or under land, or the making of any material 
change in the use of any building or other land." Most forms of development require planning 
permission (see also “permitted development”). 
Development Plan:  
This includes adopted Local Plans and neighbourhood plans and is defined in section 38 of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
EDC: 
Eden District Council, the local planning authority. 
Eyesore: 
In the context of the LNP this is defined as a derelict, ruinous or empty building within the 
village, which has been in that state for at least five years and its immediate setting. The term 
has been used repeatedly by respondents during the consultation process to describe a number 
of potential brownfield sites. 
Habitat: 
An area or type of natural area within which certain species or groupings of species can exist 
naturally. They should not be considered in isolation but instead they are linked, overlapping 
and take many forms.  
Heritage asset:  
A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified as having a degree of 
significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of its heritage interest. 
Heritage asset includes designated heritage assets and assets identified by the local planning 
authority (including local listing). 
Household:  
A person living alone or a group of people living together at the same address and with common 
housekeeping. 
Infrastructure:  
The physical entities (for example roads, railways, sewers, pipes, telecommunications lines) that 
is necessary for communities to function and move around. 
Landscape Character:  
The distinct and recognisable pattern of elements that occur consistently in a particular type of 
landscape. It reflects particular combinations of geology, landform, soils, vegetation, land use 
and human settlement. 
LNP: 
Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan. 
Local green-space: 
Green-space in proximity to a community and which has some special significance of historic, 
recreational or aesthetic value to the local community. 
Local planning authority:  
The public authority whose duty it is to carry out specific planning functions for a particular area, 
primarily the preparation of a Local Plan and the determination of planning applications.  
Local Plan:  
The plan for the future development of the local area, drawn up by the local planning authority in 
consultation with the community. In law, this is described as the development plan and is  
adopted under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  
Low Carbon Energy:  
Energy which requires the burning of fossil fuels (i.e. not renewable) but generated through 
processes and technologies that release less carbon dioxide than conventional means, for 
example combined heat and power plants (CHP), and heat pumps. 
 

Page  179



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

69 
 

69 

LPC: 
Lazonby Parish Council. 
Material considerations: 
A material consideration is a matter that should be taken into account in making a decision on a 
planning application.  
Material considerations can include (but are not limited to): 

 Overlooking/loss of privacy  
 Loss of light or overshadowing  
 Parking  
 Highway safety  
 Traffic  
 Noise  
 Effect on listed building and conservation area  
 Layout and density of building  
 Design, appearance and materials  
 Government policy  
 Disabled persons' access  
 Proposals in the Development Plan  
 Previous planning decisions (including appeal decisions)  
 Nature conservation  

However, issues such as loss of view, or negative effect on the value of properties are not  
material considerations. 
Microgeneration Certification Scheme: 
Internationally recognised quality assurance scheme, supported by the Department of Energy 
and Climate Change. MCS certifies microgeneration technologies used to produce electricity 
and heat from renewable sources. It is mandatory for receiving government financial subsidy 
including the Feed-in Tariff and the Renewable Heat Incentive.  
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF):  
A Government document, published in 2012, that sets out nationally important planning issues. 
It replaces Planning/Mineral Policy Statements and Guidance Notes. 
Neighbourhood plans:  
A plan prepared by a Parish Council or Neighbourhood Forum for a particular neighbourhood 
area (made under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 
Open Space: 
Usually used in relation to built-up areas. Refers to all open areas of public value, which can 
offer opportunities for sport, and recreation, as well as a visual amenity and haven for wildlife. 
Public open space is where public access may or may not be formally established.  
Permitted Development:  
Certain limited or minor forms of development that may proceed without the need to make an 
application for planning permission. 
Planning obligation:  
A legally enforceable obligation entered into under section106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 to mitigate the impacts of a development proposal. 
Previously Developed Land or ‘Brownfield’ Land: 
Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the curtilage of the 
developed land (although it should not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage should be 
developed) and any associated fixed surface infrastructure. This excludes: land that is or has 
been occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings; land that has been developed for minerals 
extraction or waste disposal by landfill purposes where provision for restoration has been made 
through development control procedures; land in built-up areas such as private residential 

Page  180



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

70 
 

70 

gardens, parks, recreation grounds and allotments; and land that was previously-developed but 
where the remains of the permanent structure or fixed surface structure have blended into the  
landscape in the process of time.  
Principal Residence: 
Any house, or dwelling, occupied by the owner and/or their spouse for a minimum of 150 days 
per annum.  
Redundant building: 
Any building which has not been in use for the purposes for which it was intended during the 
last five years but has been used for those purposes within the last 15 years. Barn and 
agricultural buildings intended usage assumed being for the storage or quartering of agricultural 
produce, animals or equipment. 
Renewable Energy: 
Energy produced using renewable sources such wind, water or biomass. Off shore renewable 
energy generation projects such as offshore wind or wave power are dealt with by the Marine 
Management Organisation and the Infrastructure Planning Unit rather than local planning 
authorities.  
Small scale housing development schemes: 
With regard to the LNP, ‘small-scale’ has the meaning of up to five dwellings, when applied to 
housing sites and having a site area of less than 0.5 hectares when applied to non-housing 
sites. Small-scale sites may also be defined in terms of their social sustainability: typically 
having negligible impact in this regard. Where this is not the case, for example a development 
with a small footprint but leading to an increase in noise in the vicinity due to proposed operation 
of activities at the site, then the application will not be considered as being ‘small-scale’. 
Small Developments: 
Housing developments of up to five residential units or having a site area of less than 0.2ha. 
Any development of more than two-storeys, or more than 8m to the eaves in height, cannot be 
considered to be a Small Development. 
Supplementary planning documents:  
Documents which add further detail to the policies in the Local Plan. They can be used to 
provide further guidance for development on specific sites, or on particular issues, such as 
design. Supplementary planning documents are capable of being a material consideration in 
planning decisions but are not part of the development plan. The LNP is accompanied by a 
Design Guide, which is a Supplementary Planning Document. 
Sustainable development:  
International and national bodies have set out broad principles of sustainable development. 
Resolution 42/187 of the United Nations General Assembly defined sustainable development as 
meeting the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet 
their own needs. The UK Sustainable Development Strategy Securing the Future set out five 
‘guiding principles’ of sustainable development: living within the planet’s environment 
al limits; ensuring a strong, healthy and just society; achieving a sustainable economy; 
promoting good governance; and using sound science responsibly. National Planning Policy 
Framework (2012) sets out the government’s expression of what constitutes sustainable 
development. 
Trees and hedges of amenity value: 
For the purposes of this policy: any tree considered ‘veteran’ (see below), or any tree or hedge 
which has been in situ for at least five years and which has worth, or significance to those who 
use, or view it.. Veteran trees are those of great age; relative to others of the same species, 
existing in an ancient stage of life or due to its biological, aesthetic or cultural interest. Size 
alone is a poor indicator of veteran status, as different species may have different rates of 
growth or natural life spans. Management practices such as coppicing may also belittle the true 
age of the coppice stool. For this reason, the species, relative ages, management practice, 

Page  181



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

71 
 

71 

aesthetic, cultural and biological importance should all be taken into account when surveying or 
assessing potential veteran trees (definition from Forestry Commission). 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page  182



Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

72 
 

72 

14 BIBLIOGRAPHY 
Selected volumes and works consulted during the compilation of the LNP. 

British Standard 5837, 2012, Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction 

Building Research Establishment, 2000, Technical Data Sheet: Plumpton Red Lazonby 
Sandstone 

Department for Communities and Local Government, 2012, National Planning Policy 
Framework 

Department for Communities and Local Government, 2016, Planning Practice Guidance 

Eden District Council, 2013, STEAM research data (Scarborough Tourism Economic Activity 
Monitor) 

Eden District Council, 2015, Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 

Eden District Council, 2015, Open Space Study 

Eden District Council, 2015, The Eden Local Plan 2014-2032 

Eden District Council, 2015, Strategic Housing Market Assessment (Parts 1-4) 

Eden District Council, 2015, Strategic Housing Market Assessment (Part 5) 

Eden District Council, 2015-17, Various documents submitted to support the hearings into the 
examination of the Local Plan  

Her Majesty’s Government, 1990, Town and Country Planning Act  

Her Majesty’s Government, 2004, Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act  

Her Majesty’s Government, 2006, Commons Act 

Her Majesty’s Government, 2013, Growth and Infrastructure Act 

Her Majesty’s Government, 2017 Neighbourhood Planning Act 

https://www.planningportal.co.uk/news/, 2016, News round-up for 07/04/2016 

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/protectedsites/sacselection/SAC.asp?EUCode=UK0012643 Department 
for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, 2004, Special Area of Conservation, the River 
Eden (UK0012643) 

https://www.forestry.gov.uk/fr/infd-5w2g5b 

Lazonby Parish Council, 2017, Design Guide 

Lazonby Parish Council, 2017, Consultation Statement 

Lazonby Parish Council, 2017, Basic Conditions Statement 

Lazonby Parish Council, 2005, Village Design Statement 

Office for National Statistics, 2011, Census data for Eden District  

Page  183

https://www.planningportal.co.uk/news/
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/protectedsites/sacselection/SAC.asp?EUCode=UK0012643


Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

73 
 

73 

Office for National Statistics, 2015, Population data for Eden District  

Page  184



  Appendix C 

1 
 

Eden District Council 
 

Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan – Decision Statement 
(published pursuant to Section 38A(9) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 and Regulation 18 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 

(as amended)) 
 
Background  

1. On 18 September 2014, Eden District Council formally designated the area of 
Lazonby Parish as the Lazonby Parish Council Neighbourhood Area.  

2. Following the submission of the Draft Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan to Eden 
District Council, in accordance with Regulation 16 of the Neighbourhood 
Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) the plan was publicised 
and representations were invited. The publicity period ran for a period of six 
weeks between 28 May 2018 and 10 July 2018.  

3. Eden District Council appointed an independent Examiner, John Slater BA 
(Hons), DMS, MRTPI to examine whether the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 
met the ‘basic conditions’ as set out in Schedule 4B to the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, and whether the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan should 
proceed to a referendum. 

4. The final Examiners Report was received by Eden District Council on 12 
December 2018 which recommended a number of modifications to the 
Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan. These are required to ensure the Lazonby 
Neighbourhood Plan complies with the basic conditions and other relevant 
statutory provisions, and so that the draft plan as modified can be submitted 
for referendum. It concludes by stating:  

“I can confirm that my overall conclusions are that the Plan, if amended in line with 
my recommendations, meets all the statutory requirements including the basic 
conditions test and that it is appropriate, if successful at referendum, that the Plan, 
as amended, be made.”  

Recommendations, Decisions and Reasons 

5. Regulation 18 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as 
amended), requires the local planning authority to outline what action needs to 
be taken in response to the recommendations of an examiner made in a 
report under paragraph 10 of Schedule 4a to the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as applied by Section 38A of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004).  

6. Having considered the recommended modifications, as set out in the 
Examiner’s Report and the reasons for them, Eden District Council has 
agreed to accept these modifications and for them to be made to the Lazonby 
Neighbourhood Plan in accordance with paragraph 12(6) of Schedule 4B to 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. The Council confirms that subject 
to the Examiner’s proposed specific modifications, the Lazonby 
Neighbourhood Plan will proceed to referendum for the following reasons. The 
Neighbourhood Plan:  

Page  185



  Appendix C 

2 
 

 will be compatible with the European Convention of Human Rights;  
 will not breach, and is otherwise compatible with, European Union 

obligations;  
 is not likely to have significant effect on a European designated site or 

a European Offshore Marine site either alone or in combination with 
other plans or projects;  

 taken as a whole has regard to national policies and advice contained 
in guidance issued by the Secretary of State and would contribute to 
the achievement of sustainable development;  

 is in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in the 
Development Plan for the area;  

 meets the basic conditions; and  
 has undergone consultation in accordance with the requirements of the 

Regulations.  
 

The Council also agrees with the Examiner’s recommendation that the 
referendum of the Neighbourhood Plan should be based on the 
designated Neighbourhood Area approved by the Council on 18 
September 2014.  

7. To meet the requirements of the Localism Act 2011, a referendum which 
poses the question, ‘Do you want Eden District to use the Lazonby 
Neighbourhood Development Plan to help it decide planning applications in 
the neighbourhood area?’ will be held in the area formally designated as the 
Lazonby Neighbourhood Area.  

8. The date on which the referendum will take place is [date TBC].  
 
This Decision Statement, the Examiner’s Report, including the proposed 
modifications and the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan can be viewed on Eden District 
Council’s website (www.eden.gov.uk/ planning-and-building/planning-
policy/neighbourhood-planning). The documents are also available for inspection at 
the following locations:  

 Eden District Council offices 
i. Penrith Town Hall, Corney Square, Penrith, Cumbria CA11 7QF 
ii. Mansion House, Friargate, Penrith, CA11 7YG;  

 Lazonby Library Link, Co-operative store, Lazonby, Penrith CA10 1BG 
 Penrith Library, St Andrew’s Churchyard, Penrith, CA11 7YA 

 
For more information please contact the Planning Policy Team on 01768 817817 or 
e-mail neighbourhoodplanning@eden.gov.uk.

Page  186



  Appendix C 

3 
 

Schedule of Modifications 

 
The changes below are expressed either in the conventional form of strikethrough for deletions and underlining for additions of text, 
or by specifying the change in words in italics.  
The page numbers and policy numbering below refer to the submission neighbourhood plan, and do not take account of the 
deletion or addition of text. 
 
Policy Page 

no. 
Proposed modification Examiner’s justification Decision 

Policy D1: 
General 
Development 
Principles 

21 New development proposals within the 
Neighbourhood Area will be expected to conform to 
the policies set out in this plan and to demonstrate a 
sustainable approach to the economic, social and 
environmental development of the parish in the long 
term. 

The policy requires development to 
comply with other policies in the plan. 
That is unnecessary as under planning 
law, under Section 38(1) of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, all 
planning applications must be 
determined in accordance with the 
development plan, unless material 
circumstances indicate otherwise. 

The second part of the policy does not 
provide the necessary clarity as to what 
an applicant is expected to demonstrate. 
The Planning Practice Guidance states 
that a policy should be “….clear and 
unambiguous. 

The policy should be deleted, allowing 
decision-makers to rely upon Policy 
DEV1 of the Eden Local Plan 2014-
2032. 

Modification 
made 

P
age  187



  Appendix C 

4 
 

Policy D2: 
Greenfield 
Sites 

25 Policy number changes to D1. 

Retitle policy Greenfield and Brownfield Sites  

Proposals involving the redevelopment of previously 
developed land on all sites within the plan area, will 
be approved, subject to compliance with other 
policies in the development plan. 

Proposals for the development of greenfield sites, 
other than as permitted by policies in this plan or the 
Eden Local Plan, will not be approved. 

The plan supports Eden District Council’s sequential 
approach to land use development. 

Applicants coming forward with proposals involving 
development on brownfield sites will be encouraged. 
However, proposals for the development of 
greenfield sites, which have not been allocated within 
this plan, will need to demonstrate that exceptional 
circumstances exist, to the satisfaction of the Parish 
Council (and this Policy will carry significant weight in 
any decision that the Council may take) and that 
there is an absence of any alternative suitable sites. 

All the sites within the village boundary (see Figure 
3), and adjacent to it, have been assessed for their 
suitability for future development. A number of these 
sites have been allocated for future development. 
There are, in addition, a number of smaller, potential, 
‘windfall’ sites within the village boundary suitable for 
up to three dwellings. With the exception of the site 

There are elements of the policy that are 
not worded so as to be capable of being 
used to determine planning applications. 
The policy should be worded in a 
positive manner stating that “planning 
applications will be approved…” 

It is not appropriate or accurate to 
consider all other land apart from 
Hesket Park and The Princes (Eden 
Valley Mineral) Water Company sites as 
greenfield sites. The policy should be 
rationalised so as to presume against 
the development of greenfield sites 
which are not covered by other policies 
in the plan. 

Modification 
made 

P
age  188



  Appendix C 

5 
 

at Hesket Park, the Princes (Eden Valley mineral) 
Water Company site, and in relation to Policy B2, all 
other sites within the parish are considered to be 
greenfield sites. 

Any new developments within the Neighbourhood 
Plan Area which meet the policy requirements 
outlined within the Neighbourhood Plan, the 
Development Plan, including the Eden Local Plan, 
and National Policy, will be permitted. 

Policy D3: 
Design of 
New 
Development 

27 Policy number changes to D2. 

New development will be expected to follow the 
provisions set-out in the Design Guide. 

For new developments where the Design Guide is 
not followed, justification of exceptional 
circumstances will be required to support the 
application. High quality and innovative design will be 
encouraged. 

For existing properties where extensions or 
alterations are planned, the materials and design will 
be expected to follow the Design Guide and/or match 
the existing building. 

The threshold for departing from the 
requirements of the design guide should 
not be “justification of exceptional 
circumstances”. If the applicant does not 
choose to follow that guidance, then it is 
a matter for the decision make to assess 
as to whether that departure is justified. 

Modification 
made 

Policy D5: 
Trees 

28 Policy number changes to D4. 

Existing mature trees (see Glossary) and hedges of 
amenity value that contribute to the amenity of the 
area should be retained on any development site. 
Any planning application for development that could 

A neighbourhood plan policy cannot 
require a planning application to be 
accompanied by any particular 
document. However, the aspirations of 
the policy can be achieved by rewording 
of the policy to require proposal to 

Modification 
made 

P
age  189



  Appendix C 

6 
 

affect any such trees or hedges will be expected to 
demonstrate how the trees, hedges and their roots 
will be protected during the construction and how the 
developer will integrate these trees and/or hedges 
into the scheme, including incorporating appropriate 
new planting. affecting mature, or semi-mature trees 
and/or hedges, or applications affecting one or more 
new dwellings, should be supported by an 
Arboriculture Statement. This should provide a 
sufficiently detailed assessment showing how the 
trees and/or hedges are to be protected and how the 
developer will include new planting in a way that will 
ensure long term integration of the new with the old. 

demonstrate the existing trees and 
hedges can be protected. 

The definition of mature trees in the 
glossary refers to “any tree that has 
reached one third of its expected 
height”. It is more important that the 
policy should only relate to those trees 
that positively impact on the amenity of 
the plan area, rather the policy providing 
blanket protection to every tree in the 
parish. 

Policy D6: 
Protection 
and Provision 
of Open 
Space, Land, 
of Amenity 
Value and 
Local Green 
Space 

32 Policy number changes to D5. 

Retitle policy Protection and Provision of Open 
Space, Land, of Amenity Value and Local Green 
Space  

The following areas are designated as Local Green 
Space as shown on Map 8:- 

 Will Pool 
 Old Post Office/Old School/Croglin Toys and 

Designs Land 
 Land adjacent to the Parish Church 
 Brooklyn Green Area 
 Sports Field 
 Bateman’s Lane 
 Riverside, Car Park and Picnic Site 
 Coronation Gardens 

The policy is not prescriptive enough as 
to which areas were to be designated as 
local green space. It is the purpose of 
the neighbourhood plan policy to 
actually designate areas of local green 
space. To ensure that the policy is in 
line with Secretary of State advice, the 
protection against development on 
these sites should be qualified, to “other 
than in very special circumstances”. 

Site 7 (Riverside, Car Park and Picnic 
Site), referred to as ‘proposed green 
space’ in figure 8, does already meet 
the requirements for Local Green Space 
and does not need to be differentiated 
from other existing local green spaces. 

Modification 
made 

P
age  190



  Appendix C 

7 
 

 Community Park 
 Swimming Pool 
 Scaur Close Green 

Development on these sites will not be permitted 
other than in very special circumstances. 

i. Local Green Spaces, such as Will Pool and its 
setting (inside the village boundary adjacent to 
the B6413, Fig 8, 1), and the Sports Field (to 
the rear of Lazonby Church of England 
School, Fig 8, 5) will be protected from 
development. 

ii. New areas of amenity value and public open 
space will be encouraged in development 
proposals and existing areas will be protected 
from development or other uses which may 
reduce their amenity value. Developments of 
10, or more, dwellings, or of sites of 0.5 ha, or 
greater, will be expected to provide an area of 
public open space in line with the indicative 
quantity standards (hectares per 1000 
population) set out in relation to Policy COM3 
of the Eden Local Plan (Oct 2015), with details 
to be agreed to the satisfaction of the Parish 
Council, as a part of any proposals that are 
submitted. The space need not be within the 
proposal site boundary, but should be in 
proximity to it. 

It would be clearer to differentiate the 
protection of existing open spaces from 
the policy covering open space etc. in 
new development. 

P
age  191



  Appendix C 

8 
 

Amend Figure 8 by removing Proposed Green Space 
and colour it as Local Green Space. 

Remove Local Green Space and Proposed Green 
Space from Figure 7. 

Replace Table 1 with the amended Table 1 from the 
LPC response to my Initial Comments but with the 
columns entitled “Acts of Maintenance” and 
“Structures on land and / or leased” removed. 

Policy D7: 
New 
Recreation 
and Play 
Areas 

34 Policy number changes to D6. 

New recreation, amenity and play areas for the 
whole community will be encouraged in any new 
development proposals (see Policy D6 for existing 
green spaces). Developments of 10, or more, 
dwellings, or of sites of 0.5 ha, or greater, will be 
expected to provide an area of public open space in 
line with the indicative quantity standards (hectares 
per 1000 population) set out in relation to Policy 
COM3 of the Eden Local Plan, with details to be 
agreed to the satisfaction of the Parish Council, as a 
part of any proposals that are submitted. The space 
need not be within the proposal site boundary, but 
should be in proximity to it. As a part of this policy the 
following proposals have been incorporated within 
the plan. 

1) Improvements to the current Sports Field (Fig 8, 5) 
area to include a hard surface area for netball, 

The changes to this policy proposed by 
Lazonby Parish Council will amalgamate 
the second part of Policy D6 (removed 
to differentiate the protection of existing 
open spaces from the policy covering 
open space etc. in new development) 
and the proposed Policy D7. 

Modification 
made 

P
age  192



  Appendix C 

9 
 

basketball and tennis as well as all-weather pitches 
to allow football and cricket to take place. 

2) A new recreation area at the top of the village to 
be part of a potential further housing development on 
Scaur Lane (see Fig 8). 

New recreation, amenity and play areas for the 
whole community will be encouraged in any new 
development proposals (see Policy D6). As a part of 
this policy the following proposals have been 
incorporated within the plan. 

1) Improvements to the current Sports Field (Fig 8, 5) 
area to include a hard surface area for netball, 
basketball and tennis as well as all-weather pitches 
to allow football and cricket to take place. 

2) A new recreation area at the top of the village to 
be part of a potential further housing development on 
Scaur Lane (see Fig 8 and also Policy D6). 

Policy D8: 
Footpaths 

35 Policy number changes to D7. 

The LNP will seek to ensure the retention of all 
existing public footpaths, adopted footpaths and 
Public Rights of Way. Applicants should identify all 
existing Public Rights of Way both within and 
adjacent to any part of an application site. 

Where Public Rights of Way are present, the 
application should demonstrate that the proposed 

This policy strays into areas that do not 
relate to the matters that can be covered 
by a neighbourhood plan but are 
covered by their own separate 
legislation, which is not administered by 
the Local Planning Authority, but rather 
by the County Councils as Highway 
Authority. 

It is recommended that the “historic 
footpaths” are removed as they have no 

Modification 
made 

P
age  193



  Appendix C 

10 
 

development will preserve, or enhance, the existing 
Public Right of Way. 

Delete Tables 3 and 4 from the plan. 

Remove from Figure 7, the two Historic Footpaths 
shown as 10 and 6. 

status in the development plan and their 
inclusion causes uncertainty to 
landowners and their tenants and 
potentially to future users of the 
neighbourhood plan, who may assume 
the route has a status, that is not 
established in law. 

Policy D9: 
Cycleways 

37 Policy number changes to D8. 

Any proposed residential development, which will be 
in close proximity to any future cycle network will be 
expected to connect to that network and where 
appropriate, will be expected to contribute to the 
improvements to the cycle network and safe cycling 
provision. 

The LNP will seek to ensure the retention of any 
established cycleways and support improvements to 
a wider cycle network. The Lazonby Cycleway 
proposals are supported by the LNP. Where new 
developments are proposed, the LNP will require 
them to be legible with the existing cycle network and 
to seek improvements for new and enhanced cycling 
routes linking into the network, and safe cycle 
parking provision. 

Figure 7 describes the proposed 
Lazonby Cycleway which is a route that 
appears to be entirely on roads. As such 
the designation is not likely to fall within 
the remit of a planning application. 

if there are any developments that can 
connect with a cycle network then the 
opportunity should be taken, in line with 
national advice. 

Modification 
made 

Policy H1: 
Housing 
Development 

40 Planning permission will be supported for 
developments on allocated sites, including provision 
of affordable housing, that contribute to meeting the 
objectively assessed housing needs of the Parish as 

If a proposal meets the requirements set 
out in the development plan, then it is 
not necessary for the development 
proposals to be “supplemented as 

Modification 
made 

P
age  194



  Appendix C 

11 
 

a) Set out in the statutory Development Plan; and or 

b) Supplemented as necessary As demonstrated 
through an up-to-date housing needs surveys. 

The development of single up to 5 dwellings will also 
be supported on sites not allocated in this plan that 
are either: 

a) within the settlement boundary (see Policy 
D2), or 

b) that meet the conditions set out in Policy B2, 
or  

c) are on greenfield sites of no more than 0.2 ha 
within the village boundary. 

In addition, all housing development will be 
encouraged to comply with a number of general 
principles which meet the objectives of the LNP: 

1) Proposals should be of a nature and scale that 
reflects and respects the character and appearance 
of the area, with regard to the surrounding landscape 
and/or townscape and the character and appearance 
of its setting (see Design Guide and Policy D3); 

2) Proposals should not result in any significant 
adverse impact on the amenity of any existing 
neighbours, including businesses; and not otherwise 

necessary through up-to-date housing 
need surveys”. 

There should be a general presumption 
in favour of residential development 
within the settlement boundary, rather 
than just on the allocated sites and 
windfalls of single dwellings.  

The threshold for considering the 
adverse impact on existing neighbours 
is set too low. This would allow any 
small adverse impact to be the basis for 
preventing the building of new homes. 

The allocation of 25 houses to the 
Hesket Park site (Site HS1) would not 
be providing for the needs for Lazonby 
because the site would be closer to the 
Key Hub of Hesket. The allocation 
would not help to sustain the viability of 
services in Lazonby, as aspired to in 
Policy LS1 of the Local Plan as 
residents would be unlikely to use the 
Lazonby School or using the local shop 
in Lazonby or recreational facilities. 

The Meadows (Site HS2) has not only 
received planning permission but that 
the site has been completed and 
occupied for two years. The numbers 
will count against the target of 106 for 
the village set out in the Local Plan and 

P
age  195



  Appendix C 

12 
 

adversely impact sensitive environmental or heritage 
assets. 

In the Site Allocation Table remove Sites HS1 and 
HS2 and amend subsequent plans.  

Insert in the Comments and Constraints column 
against each remaining allocations a reference to the 
need for the developer to submit a Construction 
Method Statement and Surface Water Drainage Plan 
to mitigate any adverse impacts on the River Eden 
and Tributaries SSSI. 

the figure for completions in the table 
attached to Policy RUR 1 already 
recognises the 48 houses that have 
been completed as part of this 
development. To include it again would 
be double counting. 

Policy H2: 
Affordable 
Housing 

51 Where planning permission is granted for affordable 
housing, first and future occupation of each 
affordable dwelling will be controlled by conditions 
attached to the planning permission, or a separate 
Section 106 agreement. This will ensure that 
occupation is limited in the first instance, and in 
subsequent sales or lettings, to address local needs 
and, where appropriate, local connections criteria. 
Where this cannot be achieved a cascade 
arrangement for first and future sales and lettings 
shall be set out in the planning obligation. This can 
also be secured through a planning condition. 

Planning Practice Guidance refers to 
affordable housing being provided by 
planning obligations, in terms of 
contributions or thresholds for delivery. 
Therefore, to avoid confusion, reference 
to control being exercised by planning 
conditions should be removed. 

Modification 
made 

Policy H3: 
Housing for 
the Elderly 
and 
Sheltered 
Housing 

52 The LNP would support the extension onto adjacent 
land or redevelopment of Eden Court as a facility for 
the elderly population. The plan will support new 
accommodation that complies with the other policies 
in this the development plan. 

It is important that all proposals also 
have regard to policies in the local plan 
where it is relevant and that cover other 
matters not addressed in the 
neighbourhood plan. 

Modification 
made 

P
age  196



  Appendix C 

13 
 

Policy B1: 
New 
Business 
Premises 
Development 

61 Proposals for the development of new and existing 
business premises, or the extension of existing 
businesses in the parish, which will provide local 
employment opportunities, will be encouraged where 
they are in conformity with this the development plan. 
New premises should: 

1) Be of a nature and scale that reflects and respects 
the character and appearance of the area with 
regard to the surrounding landscape and/or 
townscape and the character and appearance of its 
setting (see Design Guide). 

2) Proposals should not result in a material adverse 
impact on the amenity of any existing neighbours, 
including businesses; and  

3) Not otherwise have a material adverse impact on 
sensitive environmental or heritage assets. 

It is important that all proposals also 
have regard to policies in the local plan 
where it is relevant and that cover other 
matters not addressed in the 
neighbourhood plan. 

Modification 
made 

Policy B2: 
Farm 
Diversification 
and Buildings 
Outside 
Current 
Settlement 
Areas 

63 New development and extensions to existing 
buildings, intended to benefit farm diversification, for 
example cottage industries, holiday rentals and 
principal residences for sole occupancy by the 
owners (see Glossary), will be supported provided 
that: 

1) they conform to the Design Guide; 

2) the site is accessible by an existing track or road 
to the public highway; 

The objectives of the third proviso is not 
sufficiently clear as to what the policy is 
requiring. This evidence is not 
necessary as the plan acknowledges 
that there is limited tourism activity in 
the plan area. 

Modification 
made 

P
age  197



  Appendix C 

14 
 

3) if the buildings are for tourism purposes, clear 
evidence for the use can be provided; 

4) in the case of new buildings, existing structures for 
repair or conversion are not present, or available for 
the proposed use. 

Policy B4: 
New Tourism 
Development 

64 Tourism development proposals intended to support 
existing, or new amenity- or leisure-based activities 
(see Glossary) will be supported where not in conflict 
with other policies in the development plan. 

It is important that all proposals also 
have regard to policies in the local plan 
where it is relevant and that cover other 
matters not addressed in the 
neighbourhood plan. 

Modification 
made 

Policy B5: 
Conversion of 
Redundant 
Buildings 

65 Conversion of redundant buildings (see Glossary) for 
business purposes will be supported where it will 
lead to an enhancement to the immediate setting the 
proposals are in accordance with other policies in 
this plan. Conversion, or renovation of redundant 
buildings for use as residential units will be 
supported where occupation will be by local farm-
workers and will be maintained through planning 
conditions. Conversion of redundant buildings for 
residential use where occupation by local farm-
workers is not intended will only be permitted in 
sustainable locations where compliance with the 
other policies in this plan can be demonstrated, 
especially policies D1-D5 and B4. 

Conversion will only be supported where it can be 
demonstrated that there will be no material adverse 
impacts upon any heritage assets, local biodiversity 
and habitats, or the character of the surrounding 
area, arising for the development or the activities 

The Secretary of State’s policy is clearly 
that the conversion of redundant 
buildings to residential use is not 
required to be restricted to a particular 
occupation. Equally national policy is not 
to restrict the conversion of buildings to 
sustainable locations, as the policy 
recognises that these can be isolated 
houses in locations where such 
buildings already stand. This policy as 
proposed, does not meet the basic 
conditions as it conflicts with the 
Secretary of State’s policy. As 
submitted, it could allow redundant 
buildings to stand empty, which is not a 
sustainable policy. It should also be 
noted that farms enjoy permitted 
development rights for the conversion of 
buildings for up to 5 small houses. This 

Modification 
made 

P
age  198



  Appendix C 

15 
 

proposed at the site. Planning conditions and/or the 
removal of permitted development rights may be 
used to secure compliance with the Neighbourhood 
Plan policies. 

policy is also more restrictive than 
allowed by Policy RUR 3 of the Eden 
Local Plan. 

Policy M1: 
Small-scale 
Renewable 
and Low 
Carbon 
Energy 
Schemes 

66 Planning permission will be granted for energy 
generating infrastructure using renewable or low 
carbon energy sources to serve individual properties 
or groups of properties in settlements and 
countryside locations provided that: 

1) The impact of the energy generating infrastructure 
either individually or cumulatively with existing 
infrastructure does not conflict with other policies in 
this Plan; 

2) The energy generating infrastructure is in a 
suitable location related to, and in proportion to the 
scale of the existing buildings or proposed 
development it is intended to serve; 

3) The siting, scale and design of the energy 
generating infrastructure does not compromise public 
safety and allows continued safe use of public rights 
of way; 

4) Adjoining uses are not adversely impacted in 
terms of noise, vibration, or electromagnetic 
interference; 

5) Where appropriate, the energy generating 
infrastructure and its installation complies with the 

Proviso 5: There is no evidence that 
justifies the requirement that “energy 
generating infrastructure and its 
installation complies with 
microgeneration certification scheme” – 
it would not be grounds for refusing a 
planning application.  

 

Proviso 6: The criterion should require 
the imposition of a planning condition 
which requires the removal of the 
equipment rather than seeking an 
unreasonable expectation that “a 
scheme is agreed with EDC to remove 
the equipment, once no longer used, as 
soon as practical”. 

Modification 
made 

P
age  199



  Appendix C 

16 
 

Microgeneration Certification Scheme, or its 
replacement; and 

6) A scheme is agreed with EDC to remove the The 
imposition of a planning condition requiring the 
removal of energy generating infrastructure as soon 
as reasonably practicable, once it is no longer used 
for energy generation, in order to secure the 
restoration of the land. 

7) Has regard to the other policies in the LNP. 

Policy I1: 
Infrastructure 
Capacity 

68 Applicants will need to demonstrate that there is 
sufficient capacity with existing infrastructure network 
to meet the demands of the development. Where this 
cannot be demonstrated, permission for new 
development will only be granted where additional 

capacity can be released through better 
management of existing infrastructure, or through 
provision of new infrastructure. 

This could include, although is not limited to, the 
following types of infrastructure: 

• Highways and Transport (including walking and 
cycling) interventions 

• Education provision (including school transport 
provision) 

• Surface water management (to ensure that the 
development does not create, or increase, flood risk 

It is over onerous to require all 
applicants to “demonstrate that there is 
sufficient capacity with existing 
infrastructure network to meet the 
demands of the development” 
irrespective of the size or type of 
proposed development. This can only 
be a matter that needs to be addressed 
in respect of the major developments. 
This policy has not been supported by 
specific evidence of inadequate 
infrastructure capacity in Lazonby. The 
recently adopted Local Plan Policy 
DEV4 – Infrastructure and 
Implementation, makes it clear that 
where development is dependent upon 
sufficient capacity being available in the 
existing infrastructure network to meet 
the needs of the new development, then 

Modification 
made 

P
age  200



  Appendix C 

17 
 

to the site and/or surrounding sites and 
infrastructure) 

• Sewerage systems 

• Flood alleviation schemes 

• Extra Care Housing as part of the affordable 
housing requirement on applicable developments 

this should be provided by the 
developer. 

 
 

P
age  201



  Appendix D 

1 
 

Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) screening opinion following the 
Publication of the Examiner’s Report – June 2019 

1. Introduction  

1.1. This report should be read alongside the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 
Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report (June 2017). 

1.2. This report reviews the modified policies following the submission of the 
Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan to the examiner and the receipt of the 
examiner’s report for the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan that was received in 
December 2018. The examiner’s report into the Lazonby Neighbourhood 
Plan made a number of recommendations to planning policies contained 
within the submission version of the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan. 

1.3. The purpose of this report is to:  

 ensure that the requirements and legislative procedure, as provided by the 
Conservation and Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, has been met as part 
of the plan making process following the outcomes of the Lazonby 
neighbourhood Plan examination process; and  

 ensure that the requirements of the European Directive 2001/42/EC and 
associated Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 
2004 (known as Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Regulations from 
hereon), has been met as part of the plan making process following the outcomes 
of the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan examination process.  

2. Previous screening outcome  

2.1. The HRA screening undertaken for the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 
submission version in June 2017 concluded that a full HRA was not required 
but required the conclusions to be reviewed if the Lazonby Neighbourhood 
Plan were materially altered. 

2.2. Screening outcome of the HRA Screening Report (June 2017): 

In light of the District Council’s findings, and the responses received from 
the statutory consultees, it is concluded that the draft Lazonby 
Neighbourhood Plan would not cause a likely significant effect to the 
River Eden SAC, either alone or in combination with other plans. As 
such, a full HRA (that is, the appropriate assessment stage that 
ascertains the effect on integrity of the European site) of the Lazonby 

Page  202



  Appendix D 

2 
 

Neighbourhood Plan is not required. However, if the Neighbourhood Plan 
is materially altered, this Screening Report may have to be revised.  

This conclusion should be revisited at future stages, as EDC must decide 
whether the neighbourhood plan proposal is compatible with EU 
obligations when it takes the decision on whether the neighbourhood 
plan should proceed to referendum; and when it takes the decision on 
whether or not to make the neighbourhood plan.  

3. Review of the modifications proposed within the Examiner’s report 

3.1. In order to comply with the screening outcome of the original HRA the 
Council have reviewed the modifications proposed within the Examiner’s 
Report to assess whether Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan is materially altered 
to the extent that the revision original HRA Screening Report is necessary.  

3.2. Table 1 below sets out the original assessment of the Lazonby 
Neighbourhood Plan policies and provides comments as to whether the 
modifications alter the previous conclusions of the HRA screening 
assessment.  

3.3. Table 2 reviews the sites allocations proposed within the Lazonby 
Neighbourhood Plan.

Page  203



  Appendix D 

3 
 

Table 1: HRA screening assessment of policies within the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

Policy 
Number 

Screened in Potential Impact Identified Comments on proposed modifications 

D1 General Development 
Principles 

No impact. Policy is designed to ensure proposals 
demonstrate a sustainable approach to development. 

No impact - Policy deleted. 

D2 Greenfield Sites Increased population – potential to increase vehicle 
emissions through scattered development pattern, 
surface water run-off and increase predation from 
domestic animals. Potential for increased recreational 
pressures. However potential for development under 
this policy is tightly controlled. 

Stance on BF and GF sites is the same. 
The policy no longer specifies that there 
are only 2 BF sites outside the village 
boundary so this could mean more sites 
could be developed under this policy. 
However, as BF sites are already 
developed the re-development of such 
sites is unlikely to lead to increased vehicle 
emissions and surface water run-off and 
would not further impact on a scattered 
development pattern. Therefore it is 
considered that the modification is not 
material and the changes do not alter the 
previous conclusion. 

D3 Design of New 
Development 

No impact. Policy is designed to support high quality 
and innovative design.  

Changes do not alter previous conclusion. 

D4 Landscaping of New 
Development 

No impact. Policy seeks to secure high quality 
landscaping which is sensitive to the surrounding 
topography and architecture.  

No modification to policy. 

P
age  204



  Appendix D 

4 
 

D5 Trees No impact. Policy is designed to protect and 
incorporate trees and hedges into development 
schemes. 

Changes do not alter previous conclusion. 

D6 Protection of Local 
Green Space 

No impact. Policy is designed to retain existing areas 
of public open space and encourage the creation of 
new areas of amenity value.   

Changes do not alter previous conclusion 
although the part regarding ‘the creation of 
new areas of amenity value is no longer 
relevant’. 

D7 New Recreation and 
Play Areas 

Potential to lead to increased vehicular movements in 
respect of new recreation and play areas being 
provided. Potential for increased surface water run-off. 

Changes do not alter previous conclusion. 
The additions to this policy will have no 
impact as they are designed to encourage 
the creation of new areas of amenity value. 

D8 Footpaths No impact. Policy seeks to safeguard existing 
footpaths, adopted footpaths and public rights of way. 

Changes do not alter previous conclusion. 

D9 Cycle-ways Potential for increased surface water run-off. Changes do not alter previous conclusion. 

H1 Housing 
Development 

Increased population – potential to increase vehicle 
emissions, surface water run-off and increase 
predation from domestic animals. Potential for 
increased recreational pressures. However potential 
for development under this policy is tightly controlled 
and is unlikely to exceed that proposed through the 
emerging Eden Local Plan. 

Changes do not alter previous conclusion. 
Although the modification to this policy 
increases the threshold for dwellings on 
non-allocated sites this still does not 
exceed that proposed through the 
emerging Eden Local Plan. 

H2 Affordable Housing No impact. Policy is designed to control the occupation 
of affordable housing. 

Changes do not alter previous conclusion. 

P
age  205



  Appendix D 

5 
 

H3 Sheltered Housing Potential to lead to increased vehicular movements, 
vehicle emissions, surface water run-off and predation 
from domestic animals. These factors can largely be 
mitigated for and controlled through the planning 
application process. 

Changes do not alter previous conclusion. 

B1 New Business 
Premises 
Development 

Increased vehicular movements, surface water run-off 
and potential for contamination issues. However, these 
factors can be mitigated for and controlled through the 
planning application process. The potential level of 
employment development is unlikely to exceed that 
identified in the emerging Local Plan. 

Changes do not alter previous conclusion. 

B2 Farm Diversification 
and Buildings Outside 
Current Settlement 
Areas 

Increased population - potential to increase vehicle 
emissions through scattered development pattern, 
surface water run-off and increase predation from 
domestic animals. Potential for increased recreational 
pressures. These factors can largely be mitigated for 
and controlled through the planning application 
process. 

Changes do not alter previous conclusion. 

B3 Café or A3 Premises Potential for increased vehicular movement, vehicular 
emissions and surface water run-off, the latter of which 
can be controlled through the planning application 
process.   

No modification to policy. 

B4 New Tourism 
Development 

Increased population - potential to increase vehicle 
emissions through scattered development pattern, 
surface water run-off and increase predation from 

Changes do not alter previous conclusion. 

P
age  206



  Appendix D 

6 
 

domestic animals. Potential for increased recreational 
pressures. These factors can largely be mitigated for 
and controlled through the planning application 
process. 

B5 Conversion of 
Redundant Buildings 

Potential for increased vehicular movement and 
vehicular emissions.   

Changes do not alter previous conclusion. 

M1 Small Scale 
Renewable and Low 
Carbon Energy 
Schemes 

Potential for increased vehicular movement and 
vehicular emissions.   

Changes do not alter previous conclusion. 

I1 Infrastructure 
Capacity 

No impact – policy is designed to ensure adequate 
infrastructure is provided in association with new 
development proposals.  

No impact - Policy deleted. 

I2 Parking and Traffic Potential for increased surface water run-off  No modification to policy. 

 

  

P
age  207



  Appendix D 

7 
 

Table 2 HRA screening assessment of site allocations within the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan 

Site 
Reference 

Possible use 
and Site 
Character 

Summary of Potential Effects on European sites Due to Location Comments on proposed 
modifications 

Hesket Park Housing The closest European site is the River Eden which is approximately 
3km away to the east of the site. With the inclusion of appropriate 
construction working practices and surface water drainage systems to 
ensure controls are in place to prevent any adverse impacts, it is 
considered that the development of this modest site would not be 
likely to have any adverse impacts on the SAC. Any proposed use is 
unlikely to materially increase potential LSE when balanced with the 
site’s existing use. 

Site deleted. 

The 
Meadows 

Housing The closest European site is the River Eden which is approximately 
675m away to the east of the site. Planning permission was granted 
in 2013 for the residential development of the site and development 
completed in late 2016. 

Site deleted. 

Land behind 
The Lilacs 

Housing The closest European site is the River Eden which is approximately 
650m away to the northeast of the site. With the inclusion of 
appropriate construction working practices and surface water 
drainage systems to ensure controls are in place to prevent any 
adverse impacts, it is considered that the development of this modest 
site would not be likely to have any adverse impacts on the SAC.  

No change to site size or 
capacity. 

Scaur Lane Housing The closest European site is the River Eden which is approximately 
675m away to the northeast of the site. With the inclusion of 
appropriate construction working practices and surface water 
drainage systems to ensure controls are in place to prevent any 

Application 18/0528 reserved 
matters granted permission for 
49 dwellings subject to 
conditions. Requirement for 
developer to submit a 

P
age  208



  Appendix D 

8 
 

adverse impacts, it is considered that the development of this modest 
site would not be likely to have any adverse impacts on the SAC.  

Construction Method 
Statement and Surface Water 
Drainage Plan to mitigate any 
adverse impacts on the River 
Eden and Tributaries SSSI 
with any future applications. 

The Old 
Piggeries 

Housing The closest European site is the River Eden which is approximately 
200m away to the northeast of the site. With the inclusion of 
appropriate construction working practices and surface water 
drainage systems to ensure controls are in place to prevent any 
adverse impacts, it is considered that the development of this modest 
site would not be likely to have any adverse impacts on the SAC.  

No change to site size or 
capacity. 

Egg 
Packing 
Plant 

Housing The closest European site is the River Eden which is approximately 
550m away to the northeast of the site. With the inclusion of 
appropriate construction working practices and surface water 
drainage systems to ensure controls are in place to prevent any 
adverse impacts, it is considered that the development of this modest 
site would not be likely to have any adverse impacts on the SAC. Any 
proposed use is unlikely to materially increase potential LSE when 
balanced with the site’s previous use. 

No change to site size or 
capacity. 

Old 
Telephone 
Exchange 

Housing The closest European site is the River Eden which is approximately 
600m away to the northeast of the site. With the inclusion of 
appropriate construction working practices and surface water 
drainage systems to ensure controls are in place to prevent any 
adverse impacts, it is considered that the development of this modest 
site would not be likely to have any adverse impacts on the SAC. Any 

No change to site size or 
capacity. 

P
age  209



  Appendix D 

9 
 

proposed use is unlikely to materially increase potential LSE when 
balanced with the site’s previous use. 

 

P
age  210



  Appendix D 

10 
 

Conclusion 

In summary, the changes proposed by the examiner to the existing planning policies 
within the Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan are not considered to alter the conclusions 
of the previous HRA screening assessment, which stated that the Lazonby 
Neighbourhood Plan would not result in a ‘likely significant effect’ on the Natura 2000 
sites identified.  

Page  211



This page is intentionally left blank



Report No:  PP9/19
Eden District Council

Executive
2 July 2019

A66 Non-Statutory Consultation Response
Portfolio: Executive

Report from: Assistant Director Planning and Economic Development 

Wards: All Wards

OPEN PUBLIC ITEM

1 Purpose
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Executive with an overview of the 

proposed response to Highways England non-statutory consultation in relation 
to the A66 Northern Transpennine upgrade.

2 Recommendation
2.1 It is recommended that the Executive approve the response to be submitted to 

Highways England on behalf of Eden District Council.

3 Report Details
3.1 In 2014, Government indicated that it intended to examine the case for 

dualling one of the routes across the Pennines in the north of England. In 
2017 it was announced that the A66 had presented the strongest case for an 
upgrade and that plans for full dualling between the Junction 40 of the M6 and 
the A1(M) at Scotch Corner would be developed for the next Road Investment 
Strategy.

3.2 Highways England are proposing to invest around one billion pounds to dual 
the remaining single carriageway sections of the A66 to improve journeys, 
safety and connectivity.

3.3 Currently Highways England are undertaking a non-statutory public 
consultation on their options for the project, the results of which will help to 
inform the decision about which option to take forward. In 2003 a consultation 
took place with similar proposals put forward but at the time Highways 
England were unable to progress the project. However, the feedback received 
from the last consultation has been used to help inform and develop the 
current proposals.

3.4 The A66 Northern Trans-Pennine Project Public Consultation brochure 
explains the proposals and provides maps with further information. This 
information has been used, alongside attendance at Public Consultation 
events in order to form the feedback provided in the consultation response 
form attached at Appendix 1. It will also be useful to feed into the initial 
consultation that the A66 provides a key route for horse drawn vehicles due to 
the Appleby Fair which will need to be taken account of during the 
construction phase and when the route is completed.

Page  213

Agenda Item 9



3.5 The project will evidently take a number of years to develop and be delivered 
and it is considered useful for the Council to provide a response on 
consultation when we have the opportunity to do so. In addition, bringing a 
report before Members enables information to be shared within their relevant 
constituencies.

3.6 Members options are:

 To approve the response proposed by officers; or

 To amend/provide additions to the response proposed by officers.
3.7 The deadline for responding to the consultation is 11 July 2019.
3.8 A statutory consultation process will take place in the future once the 

preferred route option has been announced.

4 Policy Framework
4.1 The Council has four corporate priorities which are:

 Decent Homes for All;
 Strong Economy, Rich Environment;
 Thriving Communities; and
 Quality Council

4.2 This report meets Strong Economy, Rich Environment corporate priority as 
the dualling of the A66 should attract inward investment and boost the Eden 
economy.

5 Consultation
5.1 Ward members for whom the proposed upgrade takes place in their ward 

were invited to add comments to the response. Where received, comments 
have been added to the response.

5.2 At this stage the A66 consultation is non statutory and there will be further 
opportunities for Councillors to input into the statutory consultation in the 
future.

6 Implications
6.1 Financial and Resources
6.1.1 Any decision to reduce or increase resources or alternatively increase income 

must be made within the context of the Council’s stated priorities, as set out in 
its Council Plan 2015-19 as agreed at Council on 17 September 2015.

6.1.2  There are no proposals in this report that would reduce or increase resources.
6.2 Legal
6.2.1 There are no legal implications arising from the report.
6.3 Human Resources
6.3.1 There are no human resource implications arising from this consultation 

response.

Page  214



6.4 Statutory Considerations

Consideration: Details of any implications and proposed 
measures to address:

Equality and Diversity There are no equality and diversity implications 
arising from this report. 

Health, Social 
Environmental and 
Economic Impact

The dualling of the A66 should bring positive 
implications in terms of economic impact, road 
safety and increased walking and cycling 
provision. 

Crime and Disorder There are no crime and disorder implications 
arising from this report.

Children and 
Safeguarding

There are no children and safeguarding 
implications arising from this report.

6.5 Risk Management

Risk Consequence Controls Required
Public not given 
adequate opportunity to 
input into consultation.

Views of community not 
taken into account.

This report will further 
bring the consultation to 
the focus of the public.

7 Other Options Considered
7.1 The alternative option was not to submit a response at this non-statutory 

stage. However, the non-statutory consultation stage will influence route 
option choice and it was therefore felt that an indication of preferred options 
should be provided where relevant.

8 Reasons for the Decision/Recommendation
8.1 It is recommended that the Council submit a response as part of Highways 

England non-statutory consultation in order to provide early feedback into the 
route options and design and set out the desire for the Council to be engaged 
with the process.

Tracking Information

Governance Check Date Considered
Chief Finance Officer (or Deputy) 20 June 2019

Monitoring Officer (or Deputy) 18 June 2019

Relevant Director 17 June 2019

Background Papers: A66 Northern Trans-Pennine Project Public Consultation 
brochure

Appendices: Appendix A – Proposed Consultation Response
Contact Officer: Oliver Shimell, Assistant Director Planning and Economic 

Development

Page  215



Appendix A – EDC Proposed Consultation Response

Response: Option A

The Council considered both visual amenity and the impact on air quality to be important 
for this section of the A66 improvements. The design should support and contribute 
towards the Air Quality Objective Levels for pollutants taking into account the existing  local 
air quality . 

Taking into account the landscape and the character of the area the option of an overpass 
would have considerable harm especially given the close location to an area of outstanding 
natural beauty. There will be direct effects on the visual amenity and the quality of the area.

From a tourism perspective an underpass would be the preferable option as it would detract 
less from the area visually. Appropriate and well placed advance and on junction signage to 
direct visitors who do not know the area into Penrith to benefit from its local services, 
facilities and attractions is essential. This should be in the form of Brown Tourism signs in 
addition to normal directional signage. 

Consideration should be given to the movement of non-motorised users and incorporate 
facilities for the safe movement of cycle traffic crossing the strategic road network. 
Specifically to link cycle routes for the Lakes into Penrith Town Centre, as we are keen to see 
improved and safer cycling routes in and out of Penrith from the surrounding area. The 
design should consider planning sufficient land to create the space to accommodate cycling 
provision and allow for any growth in cycling which may result.

Page  216



Eden District Council own a parcel of land which is allocated as employment land adjacent 
to the A66 between Kemplay Bank and J40. A new access is required to the site to facilitate 
this as employment land. Consideration in relation to an upgraded access to the Skirsgill 
Depot site would be welcomed, given that both options will create free flowing traffic 
through the Kemplay Bank roundabout, likely increasing speeds on the A66 between 
Kemplay Bank and M6 Junction 40 Roundabout as vehicles will not need to slow down, 
making this exsisting access even more unsuitable than at present. Alternatively, further 
conversations around the potential to create a substitute access from the A6 would be 
welcomed, especially as Highways England will already be looking at altering this section of 
road to create an access to the police and fire stations once the underpass is removed. 
Discussions relating to this issue have already taken place and we welcome ongoing 
conversations as the project progresses. 

Ward Member comments:

All Ward Members consulted preferred Option A, the underpass, over Option B. The main 
concerns regarding Option B were from a visual, noise and pollution perspective as well as 
the loss of the local recreation grounds associated with this option. 

Two Ward Members put forward the view that neither of the options were necessary.

Concerns were raised about the present Kemplay Bank roundabout in relation to the 
current roadmarkings and the traffic lights causing long tailbacks and blocking up of the 
roads.

Furthermore, there was a query about what the plans are to avoid disruption around 
Kemplay roundabout during installation of the new road as there is limited space for 
temporary adjacent roads.

Page  217



Response:

Centre Parcs is a major employer for Eden and also creates a high level of traffic movement. 
The proposal to introduce an all movement junction here and facilitate cars joining the main 
highway in both directions is welcomed. 

In order that the impact of air quality and noise on residential receptors is minimised, 
Option C is the preferred route for this section of the A66.  

Page  218



Response:

The Council would welcome a bypass for Kirkby Thore to improve both safety and quality of 
the environment for the residents in the village. Option E, the Northern by-pass, has a 
number of added benefits. These are the removal of British Gypsum traffic from the village 
and the opportunity for new development to the north of the village should planning 
policies change in the future. The northern bypass would also be the preferred option from 
an air quality and noise perspective. 

Ward Member comments:

The Ward Member has a preference for Option F as the road will be less expensive and take 
less agricultural land, but believes that both options will have a negative visual effect on the 
village. Concerns were raised about Option E due to the proximity of the road to Kirkby 
Thore Primary School from a safeguarding, noise and pollution perspective. 

Response:

Option H takes the proposed highway along the route of the Roman road. Consideration 
should be given as to whether supporting non-motorised users and encouraging cycling 
would be a more beneficial use and reduce impact on the old road.

From an air quality/noise impact perspective, there is little to choose between these 
options; depending upon whether the new road is in a cutting or at ground level, noise from 
Option G is likely to be greater than Option H.

Page  219



Ward Member response:

Option H is the preferred option, the main reason being noise and visual. The Ward Member 
raised concerns on behalf of Roger Head farm who are concerned by either route due to 
loss of land, visual, noise impact and farm access, but prefer Option H and a preference to 
use the centre of the Roman road as the centre of the new road to prevent parcels of land 
being on either side of the new road for the safety of the horses on the farm. 

Response:

The inclusion of the options which have been considered and discounted is useful to see 
why only one option has been presented for this stretch of road. The Council welcome the 
considerations taken in account of the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and the decision 
to avoid utilising the Eden Valley Railway due to the impact from a tourism and heritage 
perspective. 

Ward Member comments:

The Warcop ward Member is content with the plans for this section.

The Brough Ward Member suggests that in order to achieve sustainability objectives and 
improve the experience for pedestrians, cyclists and horseriders, the old A66 should be 
extended at either end to the Appleby slip road and Brough exit as part of the plans. There 
was also a request to provide single carriageway underpasses at Flitholme and Langrigg to 
support these communities which will only have westbound access in the current plans. 

Q6 Bowes Bypass

It is proposed not to submit a response to this question as this area is outside of Eden 
District. 

Q7 Cross Lanes to Rokeby:

It is proposed not to submit a response to this question as this area is outside of Eden 
District. 

Page  220



Q8 Stephen Bank to Carkin Moor:

It is proposed not to submit a response to this question as this area is outside of Eden 
District. 

Response:

In general the dualling of the A66 is welcomed by the Council to improve strategic, regional 
and national connectivity, supporting economic growth and enabling safer and improved 
journey times for residents, businesses and visitors to the area. 

It is important that the up-grading of the A66 is designed to bring additional local benefits to 
the District and not just a decrease to journey times. This could be by the up-grade and 
opening up areas of land for potential future development or by improving the non-
motorised user element to provide new cycle infrastructure. 

It is also an opportunity to improve access to the local culture and heritage by good junction 
design and signage. Consideration should be given to the Route 66 Cultural project 
particularly in relation to access to towns and villages along the route. 

Appropriate and well placed advance and on junction signage to direct visitors who do not 
know the area into Appleby, Brough and Kirkby Stephen to benefit from their local services, 
facilities and attractions is essential. This should be in the form of Brown Tourism signs in 
addition to normal directional signage.  In addition,  suitable signage to access towns etc. 
needs to be in place to minmise disruption to local businesses during the works. 

Page  221



Consideration will also need to be taken of the large numbers of horse drawn vehicles that 
us the route in the run upto, during and after the Appleby Horse Fair.

The Council would welcome ongoing discussion in relation to any of the points raised in this 
consultation response and regular future engagement throughout the project duration. 

M6 Junction 40 

Response: 

Eden District Council welcome the proposed upgrade to M6 Junction 40 Roundabout. The 
two junctions of Kemplay Bank and J40 are so close that the overpass/underpass option 
creating free flowing traffic will undoubtedly impact J40. We welcome the chance to 
comment further on the detailed proposals for this junction once these have been drawn 
up. In drawing up these proposals Eden District Council wishes Highways England to take 
into account:

 Future development and growth in Penrith
 Provision for non-motorised users and pedestrians to link to both sides of the M6
 Ensure that traffic modelling includes Friday afternoons where increased traffic due 

to weekend journeys plus the effect of Centre Parcs changeover has a noticeable 
impact on Kemplay Bank and Junction 40 Roundabouts and the stretch of the A66 
between these two junctions. 

Ward Member comments:

The Ward Members consulted were interested in the more detailed proposals for Junction 
40 once these have been drawn up and have requested to have the opportunity to 
comment on these once these are available. 

A query was raised by one Ward Member as to whether the connection to the M6 would 
still be controlled by traffic lights and whether this could be looked at as part of the 
roundabout upgrade to avoid traffic getting backed up.

Scotch Corner

It is proposed not to submit a response to this question as this area is outside of Eden 
District. 

Page  222



1 

Report No. F31/19 

Eden District Council 
Executive 

2 July 2019 
Council 

11 July 2019 
Scrutiny Co-ordinating Board 

18   

  
July 2019

Revenue and Capital Out-turn 2018/19
Portfolio: Resources  

Report from: Director of Corporate Services 

Wards: All Wards 

OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

1 Purpose 
1.1 This report presents the out-turn for 2018/19 on capital and revenue, including the 

prudential indicators.  It also seeks to identify any variances that might have an 
ongoing impact on the Council’s budgets. 

2 Recommendations: 
 It is recommended that Executive: 

1. Note the revenue and capital out-turn. 
2. Recommend to Council the revised capital programme and prudential indicators. 

 It is recommended that Council: 
1. Note the revenue and capital out-turn. 
2. Approve the revised capital programme and prudential indicators. 

 It is recommended that Scrutiny Coordinating Board: 
1. Note the revenue and capital out-turn, including the revised capital programme 

and prudential indicators. 

3 Report Details 
 Revenue Out-turn 
3.1. The draft accounts for 2018/19 were published on the Council’s website on 31 May 

2019. These showed a net total underspend of £14k. £764k was drawn from the 
General Fund against the overall revised budget to draw down £778k. A detailed 
analysis of the variances by Service is presented at Appendix 1.  

Page  223

Agenda Item 10



2 

3.2. A summary is presented below: 
 

 

Budget 
£000 

Actual  
£000 

Variance 
(-/+) 

£000 

Commentary 

Cost of Services 9,491 9,356 -135 Broadly equates to actual carry forwards of 
£136k. 

Treasury income -377 -396 -18 Consistent with rate rise in year and slightly 
higher cash balances than projected due to 
profile of spend on capital programme. 

Investment Property -957 -964 -7 Reasonable, less than 1% of budget. 

Contingency for underspend -220 0 220 This is a corporate item to allow for general 
underspend, including an allowance for vacant 
posts. 

Other Corporate items 628 632 4 Reasonable, less than 1% of budget. 

Second Homes Agreement -227 -227 0 

Government Grant and Council Tax -7,560 -7,637 -77 Slightly increased level of retained rates, based 
on actual performance in 2018/19 

Total 778 764 -14   

 

3.3. These budgets are shown excluding the impact of accounting presentation 
adjustments (capital charges, recharges, International Accounting Standard 19 
pension charges) and after contributions to/from earmarked reserves have been 
actioned. Contributions to/from earmarked reserves are used to draw down funds 
received in a prior year for specific projects, such as the Community Housing Fund, or 
Penrith Vision schemes, or to contribute specific funds into reserves to be spent in a 
future year, for example, for the Energy Efficiency scheme, or the Signature fund. Full 
details are presented in Appendix 2. 

3.4. Overall, this shows that the underspend in year was £14k, with a draw down on the 
General Reserve of £764k vs the approved revised budget of £778k. Carry forwards 
were approved by Council in April of £175k. As part of out-turn, budgets are checked 
to ensure that there is enough remaining in the relevant cost centres to cover the carry 
forward request. This resulted in actual carry forwards being reduced down to £136k. 
In addition, there were two one-off reductions to income actioned as part of the 
accounting process at the year end. These related to: 

 a back dated correction to the 2014/15 NNDR cost of collection allowance which 
reduced income by £127k; and  

 the introduction of International Financial Reporting Standard 15 (IFRS 15) income 
from contracts with customers. IFRS 15 resulted in a change to how building 
control and planning income is recognised, resulting in a one-off reduction to 
income of £218k. 

Taken together, an adjusted underlying position for 2018/19 is as follows: 
£000 

Overall variance in year -14 
Actual carry forwards to fund 136 
Less backdated NNDR cost of collection -127 
Less one-off impact of IFRS 15 -218 
Underlying variance -223 

Page  224



3 

Capital Out-turn 

3.5. Total spend on capital items for the year was £1.74m, against the revised budget of 
£3.2m. A detailed analysis of the capital expenditure against budget is presented in 
Appendix 3. 

3.6. The main variances to note are as follows: 

 £450k in relation to Disabled Facilities Grant income. These are demand-led, but 
their use is restricted to capital schemes within the scope of the Disabled Facilities 
Grant scheme, or other eligible social care capital schemes. 

 £240k of loan finance will be deferred to finance the Heart of Cumbria Limited; this 
was approved to support the acquisition of assets by the Company; completion 
and acquisition of a further 6 units and draw down of this element of the loan is due 
in the first quarter of 2019/20, but is dependent on delivery of completed units by 
the developer.  

 The other significant item relates to uptake of the final tranche of Housing 
Innovation Fund loans; £358k was set aside for this purpose, but is subject to 
demand from partners. 

3.7. Capital schemes by their nature are less easy to predict in terms of timing of spend. 
They normally relate to one-off projects where the funds are dedicated to acquiring a 
particular asset or enhancement. Unlike revenue underspends where a specific carry 
forward process exists, capital funds are presumed to roll forward where the project is 
ongoing. As such, a revised capital programme is presented at Appendix 4. 

3.8. A summary of the revised programme funding is presented below: 

 

 

Opening 
balance Income Expenditure Closing 

balance 
£000 £000 £000 £000 

Reserves 2,663 1,140 1,868 1,935 
Revenue Contributions 0 167 167 0 
Grants 662 1,912 2,011 563 
Capital Receipts 1,296 24 1,018 302 
Borrowing 0 4,376 4,376 0 
Total 4,621 7,619 9,440 2,800 

3.9. As part of the Council’s ability to borrow, it complies with the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code. This includes setting 
indicators and limits to help monitor and control the level of borrowing. An analysis of 
the out-turn on the prudential indicators and revisions to the approved 2019/20 
indicators is presented at Appendix 5. No new external loans were taken on in the 
year and all activity was within approved limits. 

3.10. The out-turn position on the Treasury Management and Investment balances was 
presented to the Scrutiny Co-ordinating Board on 30 May 2019. This confirmed that all 
investment activity had been within the approved investment limits for 2018/19. Full 
details of where the investments were placed as at 31 March 2019 are included on the 
public agenda for that report.  

Page  225



4 

4 Policy Framework 
4.1 The Council has four corporate priorities which are: 

 Decent Homes for All; 
 Strong Economy, Rich Environment; 
 Thriving Communities; and 
 Quality Council. 

4.2 This report meets the ‘Quality Council’ corporate priority. 
4.3 The budget forms a key part of the policy and budgetary framework. 

5 Consultation 
5.1 The report was presented as part of the draft agenda at the Executive Draft Agenda 

Conference on 17 June 2019. 

6 Implications 
6.1 Financial and Resources 
6.1.1 Any decision to reduce or increase resources or alternatively increase income must be 

made within the context of the Council’s stated priorities, as set out in its Council Plan 
2015-19, as agreed at Council on 17 September 2015. 

6.1.2 Review of the out-turn has indicated a number of areas where budgets should be 
reviewed to assess their impact on the ongoing base budget. These will be looked at 
in detail as part of the 2020/21 estimate cycle. 

6.2 Legal 
6.2.1 There are no implications. 
6.3 Human Resources 
 There are no Human Resources implications arising out of this report. 
6.4 Statutory Considerations 

Consideration: Details of any implications 
and proposed measures to 
address: 

Equality and Diversity There are no implications 

Health, Social Environmental and Economic Impact There are no implications 

Crime and Disorder There are no implications 

Children and Safeguarding There are no implications 
  

Page  226



5 

6.5 Risk Management 

Risk Consequence Controls Required 

Budgets not accurately 
compiled and poor 
financial control and 
management. 

If the budget is overstated, 
any future budget 
reductions made may be 
higher than needed. 

The 2018/19 out-turn will 
be taken account of in the 
2020/21 budget cycle.  
Regular budget monitoring 
reports presented to 
Management and 
Members. 

7 Other Options Considered 
7.1 No other options are recommended. 

8 Reasons for the Decision/Recommendation 
8.1 To allow Members to review the Council’s financial results for the preceding financial 

year. 

Tracking Information 

Governance Check Date Considered 

Chief Finance Officer (or Deputy) 21 June 2019 

Monitoring Officer (or Deputy) 18 June 2019 

Relevant Director 18 June 2019 

Background Papers: 2019/20 Budget Book 
Appendices: Appendix 1 – Revenue out turn detail 2018/19 
 Appendix 2 – Contributions to/from earmarked reserves 
 Appendix 3 – Capital out turn detail 2018/19 
 Appendix 4 – Revised capital programme 2019/20-2023/24 
 Appendix 5 – Updated Prudential Indicators 
Contact Officer: Peter Notley, Assistant Director Finance, 01768 212209 
  

Page  227



6 

Intentionally Blank  

Page  228



Appendix 1

The purpose of this appendix is to set out the detail of the main service variances.

Service
Budget (less 

notional items)

Actual (less 

notional items)
Variance (-/+) Commentary on major variances +/- £10k

Carry forward 

requested

Carry forward 

applied

Communities

Community Development 189,540 176,286 -13,254 Mainly relates to £10k roll forwards plus other small underspends 9,592 9,592

Leisure centres 173,260 153,250 -20,010
£15k roll forward relating to Leisure centre maintenance and 

equipment plus other small underspends 
23,012 13,107

Other services with variances <£10k 114,400 104,939 -9,461 0 0

477,200 434,475 -42,725 0 32,604 22,699

Commercial Services

Economic Promotion 246,850 183,925 -62,925 Mainly relates to roll forward on employment sites 94,000 74,151

Other services with variances <£10k 443,940 429,790 -14,150 0 0

690,790 613,715 -77,075 0 94,000 74,151

Eden Development

Development Control & Enforcement -441,430 -365,823 75,607 IFRS 15 impact reduced income by £83k due to accounting change. 0

Planning Policy 153,640 189,362 35,722
Grant income received and moved to reserve - no budget provision 

for the amount going to Reserve.
0

Planning Services 659,330 640,099 -19,231 Staff Vacancies 0

0 371,540 463,638 92,098 0 0 0

Services

Building Control Services 27,190 168,205 141,015
Impact of introduction of IFRS 15 as a one off reduction to income 

due to accounting changes.
0

Footway lighting 142,860 130,638 -12,222 Less than budgeted expenditure on electricity and maintenance 0

Vehicle parking -152,360 -180,658 -28,298

£10k relating to lower direct costs than budgeted eg winter gritting 

and software maintenance, £18k due to income higher than 

budgeted levels.

0

Commissioning & Technical Services 692,580 653,841 -38,739
Staff time recharged to other projects including community 

development and Commuity Safety Partnership.
0

Public Conveniences 175,160 159,443 -15,717
Made up of a number of smaller underspends on running costs, 

maintenance and contributions.
0

Other services with variances <£10k 1,637,005 1,612,133 -24,872 0 0

2,522,435 2,543,602 21,167 0 0 0

Housing and Health

Community Services 969,540 946,016 -23,524 Mainly relates to vacant posts 0

Other Housing 54,110 81,217 27,107
Independent Living/Handy man moved from Capital following 

review of treatment of DFG grant and confirmation from MHCLG.
0

Other services with variances <£10k 227,770 209,882 -17,888

1,251,420 1,237,116 -14,304 0 0 0

P
age  229



Service
Budget (less 

notional items)

Actual (less 

notional items)
Variance (-/+) Commentary on major variances +/- £10k

Carry forward 

requested

Carry forward 

applied

Leader

Chief Executive 204,580 193,522 -11,058 Approved roll forward on professional fees 20,000 10,525

Director of Finance / Secretary 174,450 228,353 53,903
Mainly relates to exit package, see full details in statement of 

accounts 2018/19
0

Emergency Planning 34,630 11,337 -23,293
Mainly relates to £18k of additional grant funding received to 

support BREXIT planning.
0

Heart Of Cumbria 0 19,404 19,404

Recharge income based on actual officer time spent was £14k vs 

£33k budget, should even out over subsequent years as grant will 

not be payable but recharges for staff time should continue.

0

Other services with variances <£10k 359,250 341,762 -17,488 4,456 4,440

772,910 794,377 21,467 24,456 14,965

Resources

Admin Buildings (Offices) 281,620 260,340 -21,280
Numerous small underspends on building costs including gas £7k 

and elec testing £8k
0

Benefits -124,670 -142,383 -17,713
Mainly relates to additional recoverable charges on HB 

overpayments.
0

Central Services 140,210 101,393 -38,817
Underspends on corporate budgets for Telephones £ 10k, Postages 

£6k, Occupational Health £6k, Health & Safety £8k Printing £3k.
0

Corporate Costs (DDI) 300,982 281,642 -19,340 Mainly relates to the DDI project, £21k underspend in year. 0

Transformation and Customer Services 415,270 430,050 14,780
Staffing overspend less £15k for roll forward of software 

maintenance budget
15,000 15,000

IT services 535,240 509,714 -25,526 Underspends on maintenance, consumables and equipment 0

Land charges -99,770 -76,635 23,135
income lower than budget £43k, grant received of £13k, 

underspend on professional fees of £8k
0

Land Management 49,265 22,897 -26,368
Mainly relates to maintenance spend at Old london Road depot re-

classified as capital as part of year end review.
0

Legal Services 585,580 563,862 -21,718
Salaries underspend £14k due to vacant posts, additional income 

for legal costs recovered £6k
0

Local Taxation -116,052 -32,058 83,994

Mainly relates to one off correction to NNDR cost of collection 

allowance which was overclaimed in 2014/15 (£127k), less a greater 

level of court costs recovered than budgeted £25k

0

Electoral Registration 80,980 60,157 -20,823
Underspend on software £ 10k, various smaller underspends 

totalling £10k, roll forward of £2.5
2,579 2,538

Revenues and Benefits Service 833,750 814,378 -19,372 small underspends across a range of expenditure types 0

Other services with variances <£10k 522,040 475,428 -46,612 6,730 6,699

3,404,445 3,268,785 -135,660 24,309 24,237

Total Services 9,490,740 9,355,709 -135,031 0 175,369 136,052

Corporate items

P
age  230



Service
Budget (less 

notional items)

Actual (less 

notional items)
Variance (-/+) Commentary on major variances +/- £10k

Carry forward 

requested

Carry forward 

applied

Investment Properties -957,300 -964,332 -7,032 Reasonable, less than 1% of budget

Treasury Management Income

-377,210 -395,689

-18,479
Consistent with rate rise in year and slightly higher cash balances 

than projected due to profile of spend on capital programme.

Minimum Revenue Provision 9,500 11,810 2,310 Slight variance based on actual Capital Financing Requirement

Contributions to Reserves 619,500 620,361 861 Reasonable  

General Provision for underspend -220,205 0 220,205
Corporate item included in budget to cover expected level of 

underspend and vacany factor on salaries.

Parish Precepts 1,027,962 1,027,962 0 Reasonable  

Rural Services Delivery Grant -615,546 -615,547 -1 Reasonable  

New Homes Bonus -677,638 -677,638 0 Reasonable  

RSG -87,296 -87,296 0 Reasonable  

Second Homes income share -226,750 -226,755 -5 Reasonable  

Council Tax -4,944,708 -4,937,045 7,663
Slight variantion between estimate and actual share of prior year 

surplus/deficit

Retained Business Rates -2,262,899 -2,347,720 -84,821 Higher than anticipated retained rates and pool income.

Total General Fund 778,150 763,820 -14,330 175,369 136,052

Agreed to Revised Budget

P
age  231



10 

Intentionally Blank  

Page  232



11 

Appendix 2 

Contributions to/from earmarked reserves 

The following shows the contributions to and from earmarked reserves made during 2018/19: 
 

31-Mar-18 Transfer 
Out 

Transfer 
In 

31-Mar-19 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Renewals Fund 879 -64 194 1,009 
IT Renewals Fund 70 -114 125 81 
Capital Funding Reserve 403 0 0 403 
Homelessness 58 0 53 111 
Repossession Prevention Fund 30 0 0 30 
Building Regulations Surplus/Deficit 85 0 36 121 
Community Fund 108 -4 10 114 
Affordable Housing Fund 1,981 -1,003 192 1,170 
BRRS Reserve 843 -750 0 93 
Community Housing Fund 935 -96 0 839 
Penrith Vision 100 -27 0 73 
Appleby HAZ 84 -70 0 14 
Custom, Brown Field, Neighbourhood Plans 61 -7 25 79 
Transformation Reserve 0 0 500 500 
Place Shaping Reserve 0 0 250 250 
Energy Efficiency Reserve 0 0 100 100 
Heat Networks Reserve 0 0 136 136 
Signature Fund 0 0 290 290 
Other earmarked reserves less than £20,000 29 0 0 29  

5,666 -2,135 1,911 5,442 
  

Page  233



12 

Intentionally Blank  

Page  234



13 

Appendix 3 
Capital Out-turn 

Description 
   

 

 Budget 
£000

Exp. 
£000

Var. 
£000

Carry 
forward 

£000

Comments

Discretionary 
renovation 
grant 

50 0 50 0 No discretionary grants awarded; budget 
no longer judged necessary. 

Disabled 
Facility Grants 

751 298 453 0 Anticipated that the 2019/20 in-year 
allocation will be sufficient to cover 
demand. Options to be assessed about 
the best use of unallocated amounts. 

Old London 
Road Depot 
site 

134 118 16 16 New depot and site clearance nearly fully 
complete, budget to cover final elements 
of site works. 

Footway 
Lighting 

25 23 2 2 
 

Housing 
Innovation 
Fund 

358 0 358 358 Set aside for an Eden Housing 
Association scheme; may be reviewed 
subject to draw down by EHA. 

Digital 
Innovation 
Project 

143 64 79 79 Required for ongoing costs relating to the 
design and implementation of the new 
CRM system. 

IT Renewals 163 114 49 49 IT hardware life extended beyond budget 
expectation, draw down not required in 
2018/19. Budget still required although 
programme may be elongated at next 
review. 

Heart of 
Cumbria Equity 

1,000 1,000 0 0 
 

 

Heart of 
Cumbria Loan 

290 50 240 240 The 6 flats which this is to finance, is due 
for completion in June 2019. 

Cash 
Receipting 

36 0 36 36 The cash receipting project is due for 
completion during quarter 2, 2019/20. 
Performance milestones in the contract 
meant no payments were due in 2018/19. 

Bolton Play 
area 

65 72 -7 0 Additional third party funding was 
obtained to cover the additional cost. 

Penrith Leisure 
Centre 

22 22 22 Programme of works exists for Leisure 
assets. Spend is subject to agreement of 
priorities with Leisure provider. Leisure 

Renewals 
150 0 150 150 

Single Site 15  

  

15 15 To form part of the larger single site 
budget in the 2019/20 capital programme. 
Progress with the scheme is subject to 
One Eden and wider considerations 
around one public estate. 

3,202 1,739 1,463 967 
  

Page  235



14 

Intentionally Blank 

Page  236



15 

Appendix 4 

Revised Capital Programme 
  

2019-20 Change 2019-20 
Revised 

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 Total 
2019-2023 

Portfolio Scheme £’000 £’000 £’000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Services Footway Lighting 746 2 748 0 0 0 748 
Commercial Services Eden Business Park - Phase 1 59 0 59 0 0 0 59 
Housing and Health Mandatory Renovation Grants 440 38 478 478 478 478 1,912 
Housing and Health Discretionary Renovation Grants 160 0 160 0 0 0 160 
Housing and Health Newton Road Affordable Housing 288 0 288 0 0 0 288 
Housing and Health Affordable Housing Innovation Fund 0 358 358 0 0 0 358 
Communities Penrith Leisure Centre 0 22 22 0 0 0 22 
Communities Castle Park Improvement 20 0 20 0 0 0 20 
Communities Castle Park Vision Plan 167 0 167 0 0 0 167 
Resources Depot Refurbishment 0 16 16 0 0 0 16 
Resources Kitchen and Toilets at Mansion House 35 0 35 0 0 0 35 
Resources Single Site Accommodation 2,285 15 2,300 0 0 0 2,300 
Leader Heart of Cumbria – Loan 295 240 535 870 550 220 2,175 
Total 

 
4,495 691 5,186 1,348 1,028 698 8,260 

Resources IT Renewals 52 49 101 70 70 57 298 
Resources Renewals DDI 0 79 79 0 0 0 79 
Resources Cash Receipting 0 36 36 0 0 0 36 
Resources Renewals Leisure 177 150 327 438 2 0 767 
Total Capital 

 
4,724 1,005* 5,729 1,856 1,100 755 9,440 

*£967k, as per capital carry forwards in Appendix 3, plus £38k to uplift DFG budget from £440k assumed in the approved budget to £478k per 
actual 2019/20 award. 

P
age  237



16 

Intentionally Blank 

P
age  238



17 

Appendix 5 

Revised and Actual  

 
 

Prudential Indicators

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR - need to borrow) compared to actual external 
borrowing

2018-2019 2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 
Estimate Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate 

£’000 £'000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
CFR Closing 671 375 3,089 3,882 4,326 
Gross Borrowing 83 28 1,368 1,803 2,078 
Under/over borrowed (-/+) -588 -347 -1,721 -2,079 -2,248 

Gross borrowing remained within the CFR for the year demonstrating no borrowing was 
undertaken to fund revenue. 

Capital Expenditure 

 

 

2018-2019 2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 
Estimate Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate 

£’000 £'000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Capital Expenditure 3,202 1,739 5,729 1,856 1,100 

Spend on the capital programme was lower than budgeted; the unspent budget has largely 
been re-profiled into future years. 

Ratio of net financing costs to net revenue stream 

2018-2019 2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 
Estimate Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate 

% £'000 % % % 
Ratio of Financing Costs to Net 
Revenue Stream -2.9% -3.8% -4.8% -4.8% -4.6% 

The actual net financing cost was lower than budgeted due to lower levels of borrowing for 
the capital programme than anticipated. Net interest payable is negative, indicating that the 
Council received more interest on investments than was paid out on borrowing. 

Authorised limit and operational boundary for External Debt 

Limits for External Debt 2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate 
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Operational Boundary 83 1,368 1,803 2,078 
Authorised limit 5,671 8,089 8,882 9,326 
Actual at 31 March 2019 28    

Actual borrowing was within the limits set by Council for 2018/19 throughout the year.  

Page  239



18 

Maturity Structure for Fixed Rate Borrowing 

Maturity Structure of Fixed 
Rate Borrowing 

Lower Limit 
for 2018/19 

Upper Limit 
for 2018/10 

Actual for 
2018-2019 

% % % 
Under 12 months 0 100 100 
12 months and within 24 months 0 100 0 
24 months and within 5 years 0 100 0 
5 years and within 10 years 0 100 0 
10 years and above 0 100 0 

As at 31 March 2019 the Council had a single PWLB loan of £28k due to mature during 
2019/20. This does not present a liquidity risk to the Council. 

Investments >365 days (excluding capital items) 
 

2018-2019 2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 
Limit Actual Limit Limit Limit 
£’000 £'000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Upper Limit for total principal 
sums invested over 365 days 10,000 4,356 7,000 4,000 4,000 

Actual long term investments (excluding those funded through capital) were within the limit 
set by Council. The Council also has a number of long term loans and equity in the Heart of 
Cumbria limited funded through capital resources. The details of these can found in the 
Treasury Management Annual report for 2018/19 presented to Scrutiny Coordinating Board 
on 30 May 2019. 

Page  240



1

Report No: F38/19
Eden District Council

Executive
2 July 2019

Heart of Cumbria Limited SMART Targets
Portfolio: Leader Portfolio

Report from: Director of Corporate Services

Wards: All Wards

OPEN PUBLIC ITEM

1 Purpose
1.1 To provide the proposed Heart of Cumbria Limited SMART targets 2019/20 for 

approval by the Executive.

2 Recommendations
2.1 That the SMART targets set out at 3.2 below be approved for 2019/20.
2.2 The out-turn against the 2018/19 targets be noted.

3 Report Details
3.1 Heart of Cumbria Limited (the Company) is the Council’s wholly-owned Private Limited 

Company. Five recommendations were made by the External Auditor (Grant Thornton 
UK LLP) around arrangements in place for the Company in the 2017/18 Audit Findings 
Report (see Accounts and Governance Committee agenda, 26 July 2018, report 
F54/18). A key recommendation in terms of ensuring monitoring and accountability 
was the agreement of annual SMART targets by the Council. These are indicators that 
aim to cover the key risks of the Company’s operations. Reporting against these by 
the Company will allow progress to be monitored by the Council and provide 
assurance that the Council’s investment is being properly managed.

3.2 SMART targets for 2019/20 were agreed by the Heart of Cumbria Board on 30 May 
2019. These are set out below along with the comparators and out-turn for 2018/19:

Target 2018/19 out-turn Target 2019/20
Acquire at least 7 affordable units during the 
year. - Met

Acquire at least 6 further affordable units 
during the year (to bring total stock up to 13).

Have each property tenanted for at least 26 
rental weeks during 2018-19. Average for 
2018/19 was 25.9, substantially met – no 
change to figures reported to Executive in 
February.

To have properties tenanted for 95% of the 
potential rentable period, on average, from 
the point of becoming operational. 

Based on the assumed rents in the business 
case, to generate at least £20,500 gross rental 
income by 31 March 2019. Met - £22k of 
income per the draft accounts.

To generate at least £62,000 in rental income 
by 31 March 2020.

Operate without a revenue deficit up to 31 
March 2019.- Met, £0 (no revenue 
deficit/surplus); overall worth of Company 
increased by £26k due to increases in 
property values.

To operate without a revenue deficit up to 31 
March 2020.

Page  241

Agenda Item 11



2Page  242



3

3.3 These targets are based on assumptions around the delivery of properties by the 
developer. 6 flats are in the process of being completed; the income figures assume 
that these are fully let from the start of August 2019. There are a further 7 properties in 
the development schedule due for delivery in 2019/20. Given the pattern of delivery to 
date, the targets reflect the Company’s view that it is unlikely that these will be 
acquired and operational during 2019/20.

4 Policy Framework
4.1 The Council has four corporate priorities which are:

 Decent Homes for All;
 Strong Economy, Rich Environment;
 Thriving Communities; and
 Quality Council.

4.2 The proposals set out in this report are relevant to the Quality Council corporate 
priority in terms of ensuring appropriate governance arrangement are in place the 
Company. It is also relevant to the Decent Homes for All as through the Company, the 
Council is delivering affordable housing to rent.

5 Consultation
5.1 The Board members of Heart of Cumbria Limited have been consulted on the items 

discussed within this report.

6 Implications
6.1 Financial and Resources
6.1.1 Any decision to reduce or increase resources or alternatively increase income must be 

made within the context of the Council’s stated priorities, as set out in its Council Plan 
2015-2019, as agreed at Council on 17 September 2015.

6.1.2 The report presents no options that would directly impact on the Council’s budget. 
Lengthening of the delivery profile of the properties would also lengthen the period 
over which loans will be granted to the company and interest earned by the Council. 
This will be reviewed as part of the Medium Term Financial Plan process.

6.2 Legal
6.2.1 The report has no direct legal implications. 
6.3 Human Resources
6.3.1 There are no Human Resources implications.
6.4 Statutory Considerations

Consideration: Details of any implications and 
proposed measures to address:

Equality and Diversity There are no implications

Health, Social, Environmental and Economic 
Impact

There are no direct implications of 
this report; the provision of 
affordable housing to rent has a 
positive social and economic 
impact on the district.

Crime and Disorder There are no implications

Children and Safeguarding There are no implications

Page  243



4

6.5 Risk Management

Risk Consequence Controls Required
The Council does not have 
appropriate arrangements 
in place to gain assurance 
over its investment in the 
Company.

Potential risks to the 
Company and Council are 
not appropriately managed.

Put in place arrangements 
to identify and manage the 
risks and reporting of 
progress.

7 Other Options Considered
7.1 No other options are suggested.

8 Reasons for the Decision/Recommendation
8.1 The report presents an update on SMART targets, an agreed mechanism to help the 

Council monitor the Company.

Tracking Information

Governance Check Date Considered
Chief Finance Officer (or Deputy) 6 June 2019

Monitoring Officer (or Deputy) 18 June 2019

Relevant Director 18 June 2019

Background Papers: Audit Findings Report 2017/18 on the Accounts and 
Governance Committee agenda, 26 July 2018

Contact Officers: Peter Notley, Assistant Director Finance, 01768 212209

Page  244



5

Intentionally Blank

Page  245



6

Appendix A
The text below is an extract of a paper considered by the Heart of Cumbria Board on 29 
October 2018.

“Sensitivity analysis on business case
As part of the 2017-2018 Audit Letter, one recommendation was for a sensitivity 
analysis to be carried out on the business plan to illustrate where the main risks were. 
The key variables in the model have been flexed to illustrate the impact on the 
payback period that variances against the budgeted figures would have.
The table below shows the payback period when the base model is flexed by the 
percentages below for each of the factors set out. The payback period in the base 
model is 47 years.

Sensitivity Analysis
Adverse variance of:

1% 5% 10% 20% 30%
Gross Rent (total £) 48 51 57 73 111
Void cost lost income 47 47 47 48 49
Maintenance cost 47 48 49 52 54
Management fee 47 48 50 53 55
Discount rate 47 48 48 50 52
Service charge 47 47 48 49 50
Annual contribution to refurbishment costs/property 47 48 49 51 54
Base model discounted payback (years) 47
Voids were raised as a particular issue by the external auditors. In addition to the 
figures above, if the void rate was twice the figure assumed in the business plan (10% 
rather than 5%, or 8 properties at any one time either vacant or not paying), the 
payback period is 55 years. The non-collection of rent reported by Eden Housing 
Association for 2017-2018 was 2.52%. The model’s assumption of 5% seems 
reasonable on that basis, albeit with a small housing stock, fluctuations in the 
management of individual properties may have a larger impact.
Overall, the most sensitive figure is the rental income. This is as expected, being the 
largest single amount in absolute terms. It emphasises the importance of ensuring 
rents are reviewed regularly and benchmarked against the market levels. Mitigating 
this risk is the evidence that the demand for the properties has been greater than the 
current supply, at the current rental levels (80% of the local market rates).
Other key variables in the plan, such as the interest rates and the property purchase 
price, have been fixed through the contract with Persimmon and the finance package 
agreed with the Council.
The Board are asked to note that sensitivity analysis on the business plan was 
requested by the Eden District Council external auditors as an important illustration of 
the risks within the business model. This analysis is to be presented in an update report 
to Eden District Council in January, along with the SMART targets and other relevant 
updates.”

Page  246



7

Intentionally Blank

Page  247



8

Appendix B
Extract from the Corporate Risk Register

Risk Assessment: Risk F9 – Heart of Cumbria Limited
Description of risk: This is a new delivery model for the Council involving a significant level of investment. 

Robust arrangements are required to ensure the Council protects its investment. This 
means having arrangements to gain sufficient assurance that the company is operating 
effectively.

Responsible Officers: Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive, Director of Finance.

I Risk Rating Without Controls

Potential negative outcome: Significant financial and reputational loss for the Council; negative impact on the 
supply of affordable housing in the district.

Outcome Rating A Slight   1 ☐ Moderate   2 ☐ Serious   3 ☐ Major   4 ☑ Catastrophic   5 ☐

What is the likelihood of risk 
occurring?

Significant work has been done by the Company and the Council to ensure that the 
operation is successful. Factors that mitigate the operational risks to the business 
case for 81 affordable dwellings include:
 the need for affordable housing in Penrith. Evidence was gathered in the 

business planning and has been evidenced through the level of demand for the 
first 7 units, all of which are let;

 the finance package with the Council and the deal with Persimmon although 
committing the company to the acquisition of 81 properties has fixed two of the 
main variables, namely the cost of finance and the cost of the properties; and

 the investment, although significant, is phased over a number of years allowing 
time to refine arrangements.

This is a new delivery model for the Council involving a significant level of 
investment. The Company is still in an early stage operationally; External Audit 
have recommended that further work needs to be completed around:
 arrangements for management of risk,
 how the Board members interact with the Council;
 management of the properties long term; and
 illustrating the main assumptions within the business plan and the impact on the 

overall performance should the actual figures differ from those in the model.
Likelihood Rating 
B without controls

Unlikely   1 ☐ Possible   2 ☑ Likely   3 ☐ Probable   4 ☐ Imminent   5 ☐

Unacceptable 12 ☐ 15 ☐ 16 ☐ 20 ☐ 25 ☐
Above Acceptable 6 ☐ 8 ☑ 9 ☐ 10 ☐

Resultant Risk Rating 
without controls: (A x B)

Acceptable 1 ☐ 2 ☐ 3 ☐ 4 ☐ 5 ☐
II Risk Rating With Existing Controls

Existing

Controls: There are a number of controls over the operation of the Company and the Council’s investment, including:
 a formally constituted Board with regular minuted meetings,
 financial monitoring and risk registers reported to the Board;
 Company updates reported to Council and Committees 
 equity to the Company is to be fully paid from reserves; there will be ongoing MRP attached to the loan 

finance, but this will only start as the loans are granted. The ‘paid for’ equity is around 20% of the total 
acquisition cost of the properties, so provides a significant buffer in terms of financial exposure.

 the loans are secured on the houses through a fixed charge. The houses will be revalued annually so it 
will be clear how their value relates to the level of EDC investment. 

 the level of investment, although significant, is judged to be proportionate to the size of the Council.
 external legal and accountancy advice has been used to ensure compliance with company reporting and 

tax legislation.
 professional lettings agents are being employed to manage the advertising, letting and rent collection.
 The scope of Central Government housing policy will be monitored.

Page  248



9 Page  249



10

Likelihood Rating C
with existing 
controls

Unlikely   1 ☐ Possible   2 ☑ Likely   3 ☐ Probable   4 ☐ Imminent   5 ☐

Unacceptable 12 ☐ 15 ☐ 16 ☐ 20 ☐ 25 ☐
Above 
Acceptable 6 ☐ 8 ☑ 9 ☐ 10 ☐

Resultant risk rating with existing 
controls in place
(A x C):

Acceptable 1 ☐ 2 ☐ 3 ☐ 4 ☐ 5 ☐
Controls Adequate? Yes ☐ No ☑

III Risk Rating Following Action Plan

Risk Assessment Action Plan

Action Required: External Audit raised the following recommendations to improve the arrangements 
around the Company:

 The Council needs to ensure that appropriate tenancy management 
arrangements are put in place for the affordable homes scheme.

 SMART targets to allow the Council to monitor the performance of Heart of 
Cumbria Limited should be finalised and approved.

 The financial model should include more sensitivity analysis on the key 
assumptions.

 Safeguards should be maintained where Members are also on the Board of 
Heart of Cumbria Limited.

 Produce a robust risk register and monitor and present to Members on a 
regular basis.

By Whom? Management Team

Target Date: These will be followed up by external audit through 2018-2019. Progress has been 
made against these and an update report is planned to be taken to Council in 
January 2019.

Likelihood Rating D
with controls in place Unlikely   1 ☑ Possible   2 ☐ Likely   3 ☐

Probable   4 
☐ Imminent   5 ☐

Unacceptable 12 ☐ 15 ☐ 16 ☐ 20 ☐ 25 ☐
Above 
Acceptable 6 ☐ 8 ☐ 9 ☐ 10 ☐

Resultant Risk Rating with Action 
Plan in place (A x D):

Acceptable 1 ☐ 2 ☐ 3 ☐ 4 ☑ 5 ☐
Controls Adequate? Yes ☑ No ☐

Page  250



11

Appendix C

Risk Factors around Right-to-Buy

Right to Buy was flagged a specific risk by external audit. The stock is considered to be 
immune from Right to Buy under the current law. Should statutory changes be made such 
that it did apply, there is a risk that the stock of affordable houses to let could reduce as a 
result. In terms of the financial impact, it is difficult to quantify.  There are a number of factors 
which would influence the level of impact which are set out below.

Cost floor

Under Right to Buy, eligible tenants may receive a discount on the market value if they wish 
to purchase their home. There is a cost floor provision that applies. It has the effect that a 
landlord does not have to sell the property for less than they have spent building, acquiring, 
repairing or maintaining it over the 15 years prior to the Right to Buy application (where 
acquired after April 2012). This is based on the actual amounts spent and is not indexed. 
This would offer some protection over the level of receipt.

Use of capital receipts

There are restrictions around the use of receipts from Right to Buy sales. Central 
Government is currently consulting on the rules around this, including the percentage of 
receipt applicable for any replacement units. Depending on the outcome of the consultation, 
freedoms around retention and use of the receipts may be increased. Should restrictions 
remain in force, it is possible that not all of the receipt would be available to either repay the 
debt or invest in a new unit.

Taxation and funding

Local Authorities with housing that is subject to Right to Buy face the challenges of reduced 
stock, discounted receipts and restrictions over the use of those receipts, as set out above. 
They also benefit from other factors. These include the ability to reclaim VAT, no corporation 
tax liabilities and the potential to access other sources of central government funding. It may 
be that any amendment to the scope of the Right to Buy policy would also bring some of 
these benefits.

Page  251



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Process and Timetable for the Council Plan 2019-2023 - Leader
	7 Penrith Masterplan Engagement - Eden Development Portfolio
	Penrith Masterplan Engagement
	1 Purpose
	2 Recommendation
	3 Report Details
	4 Policy Framework
	5 Consultation
	6 Implications
	6.1 Financial and Resources
	6.2 Legal
	6.3 Human Resources
	6.4 Statutory Considerations
	6.5 Risk Management

	7 Other Options Considered
	8 Reasons for the Decision/Recommendation
	Tracking Information
	AppendixA_AnalysisandInsightReportforEDC.pdf
	Penrith Strategic Masterplan
	1 Purpose
	2 Recommendation
	3 Report Details
	4 Policy Framework
	5 Consultation
	6 Implications
	6.1 Financial and Resources
	6.2 Legal
	6.3 Human Resources
	6.4 Statutory Considerations
	6.5 Risk Management

	7 Other Options Considered
	8 Reasons for the Decision/Recommendation
	Tracking Information






	8 Lazonby Neighbourhood Development Plan - Communities Portfolio
	Lazonby Neighbourhood Development Plan
	1 Purpose
	2 Recommendation
	3 Report Details
	4 Policy Framework
	5 Consultation
	6 Implications
	6.1 Financial and Resources
	6.2 Legal
	6.3 Human Resources
	6.4 Statutory Considerations
	6.5 Risk Management

	7. Other Options Considered
	8 Reasons for the Decision/Recommendation
	Tracking Information
	AppendixB1_LazonbyNeighbourhoodPlan.pdf
	1 Introduction
	1.1 Lazonby and its setting

	2 The Plan Development
	1
	2
	2.1 Initial Community Engagement
	2.2 Pre-Submission Stage
	2.1
	2.3 Sustainability Issues
	2.2
	2.4 The Submission Plan for Independent Examination
	2.3
	2.5 Monitoring and Review
	2.4

	3 a Vision for The Lazonby Neighbourhood Plan
	3.1 Introduction

	4 Objectives for the Plan
	4.1 Introduction

	5 Management of development and growth in Lazonby
	5.1 General Development Principles
	5.2 Greenfield Sites

	6 Design and Conservation
	6.1 Design of New Development
	6.2 Landscaping and New Development
	6.3 Protection and Provision of LOCAL GREEN SPACE
	6.4 Recreation and Play Areas
	6.5 Footpaths and Cycleways

	7 Housing Development
	7.1 Housing Scale and Location
	7.2 Affordable Housing
	7.3 Sheltered Housing
	7.4 Discounted sites

	8 Rural Business Development
	8.1 New Businesses
	8.2 Objectives of planning for employment and business development
	8.3 Economic activity of residents
	8.4 Self-employment in Lazonby Parish
	8.5 Carers
	8.6 Farming
	8.7 Tourism
	8.8 Home Working
	8.9 Conversion of Redundant Buildings

	9 Micro-Energy Schemes
	9.1 Micro-Energy Schemes

	10 Infrastructure Capacity
	11 Planning Gain: Lazonby Parish proposed spending
	12 Acknowledgements
	13 Glossary
	14 Bibliography




	9 Dualling of A66 Consultation - Leader
	10 Outturn 2018/19 - Resources Portfolio
	Executive
	2 July 2019
	Scrutiny Co-ordinating Board
	18 July 2019
	Revenue and Capital Out-turn 2018/19
	1 Purpose
	2 Recommendations:
	3 Report Details
	Revenue Out-turn
	Capital Out-turn

	4 Policy Framework
	5 Consultation
	6 Implications
	6.1 Financial and Resources
	6.2 Legal
	6.3 Human Resources
	6.4 Statutory Considerations
	6.5 Risk Management

	7 Other Options Considered
	8 Reasons for the Decision/Recommendation
	Contributions to/from earmarked reserves
	Capital Out-turn
	Revised Capital Programme
	Revised and Actual Prudential Indicators
	Capital Financing Requirement (CFR - need to borrow) compared to actual external borrowing
	Capital Expenditure
	Ratio of net financing costs to net revenue stream
	Authorised limit and operational boundary for External Debt
	Maturity Structure for Fixed Rate Borrowing
	Investments >365 days (excluding capital items)



	11 Heart of Cumbria Limited SMART targets - Leader



